

# UNIVERSITÀ DI PISA Scuola di Dottorato "Galileo Galilei"

DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA "L. TONELLI" DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN MATEMATICA - ANNO 2003 CODICE SETTORE SCIENTIFICO DISCIPLINARE MAT/05

## Ph. D. Thesis Smoothing - Strichartz Estimates for Dispersive Equations Perturbed by a First Order Differential Operator

Mirko Tarulli Di Giallonardo

Advisor Prof. Vladimir Georgiev **Candidate** Mirko Tarulli Di Giallonardo

## Contents

Contents	ii
Introduction	1
1. Background of Mathematical Physics	1
1.1. General Setting	1
1.2. Problem Setting	2
2. A-Priori Estimates	3
2.1. Resolvent Estimates	3
2.2. Dispersive Estimates	4
2.3. Smoothing Estimates	5
3. Plan of the Thesis	6
4. Acknowledgements	6
Chapter 1. Functional Analysis Background	9
1. Operator and Spectral Theory	9
2. Linear operators in Banach spaces	9
3. Symmetric strictly monotone operators on Hilbert space	14
4. Spectral Families	19
5. Integration with Respect to a Spectral Family	21
6. Some facts about holomorphic functions	24
7. Spectral Theorem for Self-Adjoint Operators	27
8. Some Interpolation Results	35
8.1. Interpolation for sequences with values in Banach spaces	37
9. Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev Inequality	37
10. $TT^*$ Method	38
11. Paley-Littlewood Partition of Unity	39
Chapter 2. Resolvent Estimates	45
1. The Limiting Absorption Principle	45
1.1. The Free Case	45
1.2. The Perturbed Case	49
2. The Resonances	52
3. The Resolvent Estimates	52
4. Resolvent estimate for $ abla R_0^{\pm} \left( \lambda^2 \right)$	56
Chapter 3. Applications to a Class of Dispersive Equations	59

Contents
----------

1.	The Setup	59
2.	Free Resolvent Estimates for $n = 3$ .	63
3.	Perturbed Resolvent Estimates	68
4	Weighted Space-Time Estimates	73
5.	Appendix	74
Char	oter 4. Scale invariant energy smoothing estimates for the Schrödinger Equation and	
1	applications	77
1.	Introduction	77
2.	Weighted Sobolev space estimates for the free Schrödinger equation and proof of	
	Theorem 4.2	81
3.	Proof of Theorem 4.1	83
4.	Estimate of the Operator $Q_k  D ^{-s} Q_m  D ^s$ .	85
5.	Discrete Estimate	88
6.	Space localization	91
7.	Phase localization	94
8.	Proof of the Smoothing Estimate (4.1.5)	97
9.	Application to semilinear Schrödinger equations	99
Char	oter 5. Dispersive Estimate	103
1.	General Strichartz Estimates	103
1.	1. Main Theorem	104
1.2	2. The Non-Endpoint Homogeneous Case	105
1.3	3. The Endpoint Homogeneous Case	106
2.	Strichartz Estimates for Free Wave and Schrödinger Equations	107
2.3	1. The Linear Case	108
Char	oter 6. Strong endpoint Strichartz Estimates for the Schrödinger Equation with small	
-	Magnetic Potential	111
1.	Introduction and statement of results	111
2.	Preliminaries	114
2.1	1. Fourier transform and Littlewood-Paley projections	114
2.2	2. Besov space versions of the "local smoothing space"	116
3.	Estimates for the bilinear form $Q(F,G)$	117
3.1	1. Estimates in the local smoothing space	118
3.2	2. Proof of Theorem 6.2: Bilinear smoothing-Strichartz estimate	119
3.3	3. Proof of Theorem 6.3: bilinear energy – smoothing estimate	120
4.	Proof of Theorem 6.1	121
4.3	1. (6.4.46) implies Theorem 6.1.	121
4.	1.1. Proof of (6.4.49).	122
4.	1.2. Proof of (6.4.48)	122
4.2	2. Proof of (6.4.46)	123
5.	On the Spectrum of $\Delta_A$	124

Contents

References	127
Bibliography	127

### Introduction

#### 1. Background of Mathematical Physics

**1.1. General Setting.** Our main purpose is to represent in the following some new ideas for the study of semilinear dispersive equations, with particular attention on partial differential equations of hyperbolic type. Among the most important dispersive equations of mathematical physics we shall focus our attention to the **Schrödinger equation** 

$$uu_t(t,x) + \Delta u(t,x) = F(t,x) , \ t \ge 0 , \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (0.1.1a)

$$u(0,x) = u_0(x)$$
, (0.1.1b)

and the Wave equation

$$\Box u(t,x) = F(t,x) , \quad t \ge 0 , \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
(0.1.2a)

$$u(0,x) = u_0(x) , \ \partial_t u(0,x) = u_1(x) .$$
 (0.1.2b)

Both the equations (0.1.1a) and (0.1.2a) play a crucial role in Quantum Mechanics (we refer to the books of Reed and Simon [160], [157], [159], [158], and also to [56], [139] for further information). Indeed, let  $H_0$  denote an **Hamiltonian**, defined by

$$H_0(x,p) = \frac{p^2}{2m} , \qquad (0.1.3)$$

where p is the **momentum** and m is the **mass** of the particle. Up to replacing the physical observables with operators, we can consider  $H_0$  as a self-adjoint operator acting on some suitable Hilbert space, usually  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  or  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Namely,  $p = (p_1, \ldots, p_n)$  where each  $p_j$  corresponds to the operator  $\frac{\hbar}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$ , where  $\hbar$  is the Plank constant, in such a way that  $H_0 = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta$ . Therefore, the homogeneous versions of (0.1.1a) and (0.1.2a) (F = 0) are nothing but the rescaled versions of

$$\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \varphi(t, x) = H_0 \varphi(t, x) , \qquad \qquad \hbar^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} \varphi(t, x) = -H_0 \varphi(t, x) .$$

Therefore, from Stone's Theorem we get

$$\varphi(t,x) = e^{-i\frac{H_0t}{\hbar}}\varphi_0(x) , \qquad \Phi(t,x) = e^{iM_0t}\Phi_0(x) ,$$

where  $\Phi_0 = (\varphi_0, \varphi_1)$  and  $M_0$  is the matrix defined by

$$M_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0} & -i\mathbf{1} \\ i\frac{H_0}{\hbar^2} & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix}$$

in such a way that we reduce the wave equation to a first order evolution problem.

Another important hyperbolic problem is the Dirac equation

$$i\gamma_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi = 0. \tag{0.1.4}$$

Introduction

Here  $\psi(t,x)$  is a function defined in the Minkowski space  $\mathbb{R}^{1+3}$  with values in  $\mathbb{C}^4$ . Usually,  $\psi$  is called a spinor. Moreover,  $\gamma_{\mu}$  are the Dirac matrices defined as follows

$$\gamma_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $\gamma_k = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_k \\ -\sigma_k & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $k = 1, 2, 3.$ 

The Pauli matrices  $\sigma_k$  are determined by

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$

The initial data are determined by

$$\psi(0, x) = f(x)$$

The Dirac matrices satisfy the relations

$$\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{\ni} + \gamma^{\ni}\gamma^{\mu} = -2\eta^{\mu\ni} \tag{0.1.5}$$

A simple reduction of the Dirac equation to the wave equation can be done by applying the operator  $i\gamma_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$  to the Dirac equation in (0.1.4). We use the relations (0.1.5) and find

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\psi = 0.$$

Several either physical and mathematical problems arise quite naturally in the study of such partial differential equations. One of the most developed topic is the investigation of the effects of perturbations of the original operators. Namely we shall consider **perturbed operators**, denoted by  $H_V$ , defined as

$$H_V = H_0 + V , (0.1.6)$$

where V is a suitable potential operator (see [113], [127], [150]).

#### **1.2.** Problem Setting. Many questions may arise, some of which we itemize below.

- Local or global well-posedness of the associated problems. It is of interest to find suitable spaces for the initial data in such a way to have either local or global existence and continuous dependence of the evolution operator on the initial data. The main argument here is the use of the contraction principle, together with some a-priori estimates, which are usually given either by some conserved quantities (for instance the mass or the energy), or by some space embedding (for instance among Sobolev spaces).
- Smoothing effect for a class of hyperbolic equation. It is possible for time evolution partial differential equations which are reversible and conservative to smooth locally the initial data? For the linear wave equation, for instance, the answer is no. The study of partial differential equation in order to describe general smoothing property for dispersive equation: the solution of the initial data value problem is, locally, smoother (higher regularity) than the initial datum (see [42]).
- Blow-up and the control of life-span. In the case of local existence results we may investigate whether the solution may blow up in some finite time, as well as study the behavior of such life-span with respect to the parameters involved (smallness of the initial data, regularity of the initial data, ...). The main technique in this case is the reduction to ordinary differential equations of special form (see [105] and [174]).

- Asymptotic behavior of the solutions. A special interest is devoted to the study of the decay properties of the solutions, and more generally its regularity. The main arguments here can be either the use of some explicit representation of the solution (for instance via spectral theory), or the use of some special properties such as symmetries and invariance.
- Scattering theory. We want to compare the behavior of the perturbed problem checking the existence of the following two limits, called **wave operators**

$$W_{\pm}f = \lim_{t \to \pm\infty} \mathrm{e}^{itH_V} \mathrm{e}^{-itH_0}f$$

for any initial data f (up to some projection operator). We refer to [127] and [150] for a deeper analysis. Indeed the compositions of these two operators (their inverse or their adjoint), as the scattering operator  $S = W_+^*W_-$ , as well as the completeness play a crucial role in this field (see [92]). An important tool in this field is represented by the decay of the local energy.

• Associated nonlinear problems. It is very important the case of a nonlinear source term F = F(u) (for instance  $F_s(u) = u |u|^{s-1}$  with s > 1). All the questions raised in the linear case may be extended to the nonlinear one. The main argument here is again the use of contraction principle. More precisely for a more general hyperbolic equation, if we are able to find suitable Banach spaces  $X_T$ ,  $Y_T$ ,  $Z_0$  such that the solution to the problem u satisfies

$$|u||_{X_T} \le C_1(T) \left( ||F||_{Y_T} + ||u_0||_{Z_0} \right) ,$$

for some time  $T \in (0, \infty]$  and the nonlinear term F satisfies

$$\|F(u) - F(v)\|_{Y_T} \le C_2(T)C_3\left(\|u_0\|_{X_T}\right) \|u - v\|_{X_T},$$

with  $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} C_2(T) = 0$ , and  $C_3(||u_0||_{X_T})$  increasing monotone function with respect to the time T, then a contraction argument guarantees the local well-posedness in  $Z_0$ .

The items just listed show the essential importance of the a-priori estimates for the operators  $H_0$  and  $H_V$  in this field. Next Section will deal with the specific a-priori estimates we are going to face in the sequel.

#### 2. A-Priori Estimates

We shall deal with three different types of a-priori estimates.

**2.1. Resolvent Estimates.** The first a-priori estimates we are interested in are the so-called **resolvent estimates**, which deal with the resolvent operators,  $R_0(z) = (z - H_0)^{-1}$  in the free case, or  $R_V(z) = (z - H_V)^{-1}$  in the perturbed case (we refer to Chapter 2). If  $\sigma(H_0)$  denotes the **spectrum** of the self-adjoint operator  $H_0$ , the mapping

$$R_{0}: \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma\left(H_{0}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), H^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right)$$

where  $\mathcal{B}(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n), H^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is the set of all bounded operators from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is analytic with respect to the complex variable z.

We first need to extend this regularity properties in serval directions. On one side we need to approach the spectrum (which lies on the real axis), taking into account  $z = \lambda \pm i\varepsilon$  (for  $\varepsilon > 0$ ), and

looking for the existence of the upper and lower limit operators

$$R_0^{\pm} = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} R_0(\lambda \pm \imath \varepsilon)$$

in some suitable weighted Sobolev space. This technique is called limiting absorption principle, and it is very well studied (see [5], [94], [166], [167] and [198]). It turns out that this can be done introducing the following weighted Hilbert space  $H_s^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$\|u\|_{H^m_s}^2 = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \|\langle x \rangle^s D^\alpha u\|_{L^2}^2 , \quad \forall m \in \mathbb{N} , \ s \in \mathbb{R} ,$$

where the weight  $\langle x \rangle$  is given by the smoothed norm  $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1 + |x|^2}$ . Under suitable condition on the exponent s it can be shown the existence of  $R_0^{\pm}$  as operators

$$R_{0}^{\pm}: \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma_{p}\left(H_{0}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L_{s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), H_{-s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right)$$

where  $L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n) = H_{-s}^0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\sigma_p(H_0)$  denotes the **point spectrum** associated to the operator  $H_0$ (see [**113**] for further details of the decomposition of the spectrum into point and continuous part). Next we shall look for some classes of real valued operators  $V = V(x, D) = \sum_{|j| \le 2} a_j(x)D^j$ , for which the **Schrödinger operator**  $H_V$  admits a similar construction. Namely, the existence of the operators

$$R_{V}^{\pm}: \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma_{p}\left(H_{V}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L_{s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), H_{-s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right)$$

may be done under the same condition on s for any operator with coefficients  $a_i$  such that

$$a_j = O\left(|x|^{-1-\delta}\right)$$
, as  $|x| \to +\infty$ ,

for some  $\delta > 0$ . Such operator are called **Short Range** potentials (see the works [17], [91], [96], [119], [123, 124, 125] [145] for a deeper analysis).

**2.2. Dispersive Estimates.** The second type of a-priori estimates we are interested involving hyperbolic equations are the so-called **dispersive estimates** (we refer to Chapter 5). They are meant to denote estimates of the form

$$\|\varphi\|_{B_1} \lesssim |t|^{-\sigma} \|\varphi_0\|_{B_0}, \ t > 0$$
 (0.2.7)

for some  $\sigma > 0$ , and suitable Banach spaces  $B_0$  and  $B_1$ , for  $\varphi$  solution to some hyperbolic equation with initial data  $\varphi_0$ . These kind of behavior do actually hold for the equation we are dealing with, for instance we have

$$\begin{split} \sigma &= \frac{n-1}{2} \ , \qquad B_0 = L^{\infty} \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \ , \quad B_1 = \dot{W}^{\frac{1}{2},1} \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \qquad & \text{(Wave Equation in odd dim. } n) \ , \\ \sigma &= \frac{n-1}{2} \ , \qquad B_0 = L^{\infty} \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \ , \quad B_1 = B_{1,1}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \qquad & \text{(Wave Equation in even dim. } n \geq 3) \ , \\ \sigma &= \frac{n}{2} \ , \qquad B_0 = L^{\infty} \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \ , \quad B_1 = L^1 \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \qquad & \text{(Schrödinger Equation in any dim.)} \ , \end{split}$$

where  $\dot{W}^{\frac{1}{2},1}$  and  $B_{1,1}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denote the homogeneous Sobolev spaces and the Besov spaces, respectively (see [174], [193, 195]).

The main tools in the proof of such estimates is the use of the **Stationary Phase Method**, which allow the control of oscillating integrals. Indeed, such type of integrals appears in the representation of the solutions via the Fourier analysis. The important remark of that method is to

underline the influence of the geometric structure of the equation. Namely, the decay rate  $\sigma$  depends on the rank of Hessian matrix on stationary points of the phase function.

The dispersive estimates are the heart of the **Strichartz Type Estimates** (see [192, 194], [74, 75], [115]). Indeed, interpolating the dispersive estimates with the energy estimates, and using some harmonic analysis results (such as Paley-Littlewood theory and  $TT^*$  method) it is possible to obtain mixed norm estimates, which distinguish space and time variables. We restrict our attention to a linear wave  $\Box u = F$  in dimension  $n \ge 2$ , with initial data  $(u_0, u_1)$  (a similar result holds for the Schrödinger equation). In this case we have

$$\|u\|_{L^{q}([0,T];L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \lesssim \|u_{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + \|u_{1}\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma-1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + \|F\|_{L^{\tilde{q}}([0,T];L^{\tilde{r}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} , \qquad (0.2.8)$$

under the dimensional condition

$$\frac{1}{q} + \frac{n}{r} = \frac{n}{2} - \gamma = \frac{1}{\tilde{q}} + \frac{n}{\tilde{r}} - 2$$

and the assumption that the pairs  $\left(\frac{1}{q}, \frac{1}{r}\right)$ ,  $\left(\frac{1}{\bar{q}}, \frac{1}{\bar{r}}\right)$  satisfy the following admissibility relation ([193]).

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{\sigma}{q} \le \frac{\sigma}{2}, \quad \frac{1}{\tilde{p}} + \frac{1}{\tilde{q}} \le \frac{\sigma}{2}, \quad (p,q) \ne (2,\infty), \quad (\tilde{p},\tilde{q}) \ne (2,\infty), \quad \sigma = \frac{n-1}{2}.$$

$$(0.2.9)$$

The Strichartz estimates are one of the main tools in the study of local and global existence, both for linear and nonlinear equation, because they fit the assumptions required by the contraction argument (see for instance [109, 110, 111], [131, 132], [133], [115], [199]). The relation between the regularity of the initial data, and the power of the nonlinear term turns out to be crucial in this field, and many problems may arise (minimal regularity, smallness of the initial data, ...).

**2.3. Smoothing Estimates.** Finally, the third a-priori estimates we are interested involving dispersive equations are the so-called **smoothing estimates** (we refer to Chapter 4). Smoothing properties were given, for Schrödinger equations for example, by estimates of the form

$$\|Au\|_{L^{2}_{4}(\mathbb{R};L^{2}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \leq C \|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}_{a}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$
(0.2.10)

where A is the form

(1)  $A = \langle x \rangle^{-s} |D|^{1/2}$ , s > 1/2, (2)  $A = \langle x \rangle^{-s} |D|^{1/2}$ ,  $s \ge 1/2$ , (s > 1/2 if n = 2), (3)  $A = |x|^{\alpha - 1} |D|^{\alpha}$ ,  $1 - n/2 < \alpha < 1/2$ .

In order to treat more general equation, the following dispersive equation were considered

$$u_t(t,x) + P(D)u(t,x) = F, \ t \ge 0, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
  
(0.2.11)

$$u(0,x) = u_0(x) ,$$

to obtain smoothing properties requiring some regularity in the symbol  $P(\xi)$ .

u(0, m) = u(m)

Roughly speaking smoothing effect is a gain of regularity of the solution with respect homogeneous equation and non-homogeneous one. There is a vast literature on such kind of problem. We refer principally to the work of Kenig, Ponce, Vega [**207**, **116**, **117**] for the Schrödinger equation and [**118**] for problem (0.2.10). The type (1) was given by Ben-Arzi and Klainerman [**18**], (n > 3), Chihara [**40**]  $n \ge 2$ . The type (2)  $(n \ge 3)$  and the type (3)  $(n \ge 3, 0 \le \alpha < 1/2)$ , or  $(n = 2, 0 < \alpha < 1/2)$ , was

given by Kato and Yajima [114], just to name a few. Usually, the proof of such estimates carried out by proving one of the following estimates (or their variants):

$$\left\|\widehat{A^*f}_{|\rho S^{n-1}}\right\|_{L^2(\rho S^{n-1})} \le C\sqrt{\rho} \left\|f\right\|_{L^2} \qquad (\text{Restriction Theorem}), \tag{0.2.12}$$

where,  $\rho S^{n-1} = \{ |\xi| = \rho \}, \rho > 0$ 

Im

$$\sup_{I \le m} \sup_{z > 0} |(R_A(z)A^*, A^*f)| \le C \, \|f\|_{L^2}$$
 (Resolvent Estimate), (0.2.13)

The smoothing estimates are one of the tools in the study the stability, both for the linear and the nonlinear equation.

#### 3. Plan of the Thesis

The plan of the Thesis is organized as follows.

In Chapter 1 we present some useful basic tools about Spectral Theory, Interpolation Theory and Harmonic Analysis which will play an important role in the following development.

Chapter 2 is devoted to the study of resolvent estimates. Some literature is presented, about the estimates for the resolvent operators in the free case, as well as the perturbed one. A selfcontained proof for the estimate of the "gradient of the resolvent operator" is given.

In **Chapter 3** we present resolvent estimates both in free and perturbed case in dimension n = 3. Applications to to the wave equation, Dirac equation and Schrödinger equation will be done. New space-time estimates for such kind of equations are presented. The whole Chapter is based on our results found in the work [200].

In **Chapter 4** our purpose is to derive new generalized scale invariant smoothing estimates for the case of magnetic potential imposing scale invariant smallness assumptions on the magnetic potential using suitable resolvent estimates and a new equivalence norm result. We follow the work of the author (joint with V. Georgiev) [69].

Chapter 5 is focused on the dispersive estimates. A general setting of Strichartz type estimates for the free and the perturbed case is presented following the work of [115].

We end up with **Chapter 6**, where we present new Strichartz-smoothing estimate necessary to show the stability for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation perturbed by a small magnetic potential. We state also a result concerning the spectrum of Schrödinger operators perturbed by a class of differential operator of order one. These mixed estimates are obtained jointly with V. Georgiev and A. Stefanov in the work [67].

Clearly, the matter of this subject cannot be contained in the preliminary chapters, so we recall, as we need, the tool of advanced functional analysis, harmonic analysis and theory of partial differential equation. So, in the each Chapter where we present new result, we will give a brief introduction to facility the reader to well understand the core of the arguments.

#### 4. Acknowledgements

The author has been supported by the Ph. D. Programme of the Department of Mathematics of the University of Pisa.

The author is also grateful to the Department of Mathematics L. Tonelli of the University of Pisa, because of the hospitality shown all over his activities. He found in both interesting and stimulating groups of research. Namely, the group leaded by prof. Vladimir Georgiev in Pisa, where a particular mention is due to Nicola Visciglia for suggestion and improvement in the work done and Stefano Zappacosta for the deep technical collaboration with the author.

The author is also *very and sincerely grateful* to his advisor, prof. Vladimir Georgiev, for his guide and introduction to the heart of most recent techniques and studies. During this years passed in Pisa i learned fruitful tools and wonderful many ideas to deeply understand advanced analysis. The author is deeply grateful to prof. Atanas Stefanov of the University of Kansas and to prof. Michael Reissig, of the TU Bergakademie Freiberg.

#### CHAPTER 1

### **Functional Analysis Background**

#### 1. Operator and Spectral Theory

In this chapter we shall make a review of some basic facts from functional analysis and we shall focus our attention to two main points.

On one hand, we shall give suitable sufficient conditions that assure that a symmetric strictly monotone operator in a Hilbert space is self-adjoint. More precisely, we consider Friedrich's extention of a symmetric strictly monotone operator. The criterion to assure that its closure is self-adjoint operator is of the type: weak solution  $\Rightarrow$  strong solution. We shall apply this criterion in the next chapters.

On the other hand, we represent some of the basic interpolation theorems for the Lebesgue spaces  $L^p$ .

To get a complete information on the subject one can use [63], [160], [157], [225].

#### 2. Linear operators in Banach spaces

Given any couple A, B of Banach spaces we denote their corresponding norms by

$$||a||_A$$
,  $||b||_B$ 

for  $a \in A, b \in B$ . A linear operator

$$F:A\to B$$

is called bounded (or continuous) if there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$||Fa||_B \le C ||a||_B.$$

The space  $\mathcal{B}(A, B)$  is the set of bounded linear operators

$$F: A \to B$$

with norm

$$||F|| = \sup_{||a||_A = 1} ||Fa||_B.$$

In case A = B we shall denote by  $\mathcal{B}(A)$  the corresponding linear space of bounded linear operators from A in A. It is easy to see that  $\mathcal{B}(A, B)$  equiped with the above norm is a Banach space.

If *B* is the field  $\mathbb{C}$  of complex numbers, then the elements in  $\mathcal{B}(A, \mathbb{C})$  are called functionals and  $\mathcal{B}(A, \mathbb{C})$  itself is called dual space of *A*.

The dual space can be defined in a more general situation of a topological vector space. Recall that a linear vector space V is topological vector space if the topology on V is such that the addition

of vectors and multiplication by constants are continuous operations. For any  $v' \in V'$  we denote by

< v', v >

the action of the linear functional v' on v.

For the typical case of Hilbert space H with inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_H$  for any element  $h' \in H'$  there exists an element  $h_0 \in H$  so that

$$< h', h >= (h_0, h)_H$$

for any  $h \in H$ . This is the classical Riesz representation theorem. On the basis of this theorem there is an isometry

$$h' \in H' \to h_0 \in H.$$

We shall denote this isometry by

$$H' \sim_{(,)_H} H.$$

It is clear that the isometry depends on the choice of the product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_{H}$ .

Sometimes it is possible to define the linear operator only on a dense domain  $D \subset A$  so that

$$F: D \to B.$$

Then D = D(F) is called the domain for *F*. The range of the operator *F* is

$$R(F) = \{b : b = F(a), a \in D(F)\}$$

A linear operator

$$F: D(F) \to B$$

is an extention of the operator

$$G: D(G) \to B$$

if  $D(G) \subset D(F)$  and Ga = Fa for  $a \in D(G)$ . The operator  $G : D(G) \to B$  is called closed if the conditions

$$a_n \to a , a_n \in D(G), G(a_n) \to b$$

imply  $a \in D(G)$  and b = Ga. Let

$$F: D(F) \to B$$

be a linear operator with dense domain D(F). On the product

 $A \times B$ 

one can define a norm by

$$||a||_A + ||b||_B$$

for  $a \in A, b \in B$ . Then *F* is a closed operator if and only if its graph

$$\Gamma(F) = \{(a, F(a)); a \in D(F)\}$$

is a closed subset in  $A \times B$ .

THEOREM 1.1. (Closed graph theorem) If  $F : D(F) \to B$  is a closed operator and D(F) is a closed subspace of A, then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||Fa||_B \le C ||a||_A$$

for  $a \in D(F)$ .

If *F* has a dense domain  $D(F) \subset A$ 

$$F: D(F) \to B,$$

then the dual operator F' is an operator between B' and A' and this operator has the domain D(F') defined as follows:  $b' \in D(F')$  if and only if there exists an element  $a' \in A'$  so that

$$< b', Fa > = < a', a >$$
 (1.2.1)

for any  $a \in D(F)$ . We put F'(b') = a'.

Let  $b' \in D(F')$ . Then there is a unique  $a' \in A'$ , satisfying (1.2.1).

Given any Banach space A we call

$$T: A \to \mathbf{C}$$

a conjugate linear functional if

$$T(\alpha_1 a_1 + \alpha_2 a_2) = \overline{\alpha_1} T(a_1) + \overline{\alpha_2} T(a_2)$$

and if T is bounded, i.e. there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|T(a)| \le C ||a||_A$$

for any  $a \in D(F)$ .

We denote by  $A^*$  the vector space of linear conjugate functionals on A.

Then  $A^*$  is a Banach space.

For any  $v^* \in V^*$  we denote by

$$< v^*, v >$$

the action of the linear functional  $v^*$  on v.

Let *F* be an operator with a dense domain  $D(F) \subset A$  and

 $F: D(F) \to B.$ 

The conjugate operator  $F^*$  is an operator between  $B^*$  and  $A^*$  and has a domain  $D(F^*)$  defined as follows:  $b^* \in D(F^*)$  if and only if there exists an element  $a^* \in A^*$  so that

$$\langle b^*, Fa \rangle = \langle a^*, a \rangle$$
 (1.2.2)

for any  $a \in D(F)$ .

Let  $b^* \in D(F^*)$ . Then there is a unique  $a^* \in A^*$ , satisfying (1.2.2).

By definition  $F^*(b^*) = a^*$ , where the element  $a^*$  is defined according to the previous problem.

The operator  $F^*$  with dense domain  $D(F^*)$  is a closed operator.

Further, we turn again to the situation of a Hilbert space H. An operator F with dense domain  $D(F) \subset H$  is called symmetric if

$$(Fh,g)_H = (h,Fg)_H$$

for any  $h, g \in D(F)$ . Using the definition of the adjoint operator  $F^*$  we see that  $F^*$  is an extention of the operator F, when F is symmetric.

We shall say that *F* is self-adjoint if

 $F = F^*$ .

The following criterion for self-adjointness plays an important role.

THEOREM 1.2. (see [157], [162]) Suppose that F is symmetric operator on a Hilbert space H with dense domain D(F) and

$$R(F - \lambda) = R(F - \bar{\lambda}) = H$$
(1.2.3)

for some number  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Then F is self-adjoint.

The condition (1.2.3) with  $\lambda = i$  is equivalent to

$$Ker(F^* - i) = Ker(F^* + i) = 0.$$

Let *F* be a symmetric operator with a dense domain  $D(F) \subset H$ .

A natural way to extend this operator to a closed operator is to take the closure  $\overline{\Gamma(F)}$  of the graph

$$\Gamma(F) = \{(h, Fh); h \in D(F)\}$$

in  $H \times H$ .

If F is a symmetric operator with a dense domain D(F) in H, then there exists an operator  $\bar{F}$  such that

$$\overline{\Gamma(F)} = \Gamma(\overline{F}).$$

We call  $\overline{F}$  a closure of *F*.

The importance of self-adjoint operators is connected with the possibility to use the spectral theorem. (see [160])

THEOREM 1.3. (Spectral theorem - functional calculus) Let F be a self-adjoint operator in a Hilbert space H. Then there is a unique map  $\hat{\phi}$  from the bounded Borel functions on R into L(H) so that

a)  $\hat{\phi}$  is an algebraic \*- homomorphism, i.e.

$$\hat{\phi}(fg) = \hat{\phi}(f)\hat{\phi}(g) , \hat{\phi}(\lambda f) = \lambda\hat{\phi}(f) , \ \hat{\phi}(1) = I , \ \hat{\phi}(\bar{f}) = (\hat{\phi}(f))^*.$$

b)  $\|\hat{\phi}(f)\|_{L(H)} \le \|f\|_{L^{\infty}};$ 

c) let  $h_n(x)$  be a sequence of bounded Borel functions with

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} h_n(x) = x$$

for each x and  $|h_n(x)| \leq |x|$  for all x and n, then for any  $\psi \in D(F)$  we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \hat{\phi}(h_n) \psi = F \psi;$$

d) if  $h_n(x) \to h(x)$  pointwise and if the sequence  $||h_n||_{L^{\infty}}$  is bounded, then

$$\hat{\phi}(h_n) \to \hat{\phi}(h)$$

strongly;

e) if  $F\psi = \lambda \psi$ , then

$$\hat{\phi}(h)\psi = h(\lambda)\psi;$$

f) if  $h \ge 0$ , then  $\hat{\phi}(h) \ge 0$ .

This spectral theorem gives us a possibility to define the function of the operator F by means of the identity

$$f(F) = \hat{\phi}(f)$$

for any measurable function f on  $\mathbf{R}$ .

The above spectral theorem can be rewritten in projection valued measure form (see [160]).

Given any Borel set  $\Omega \subset \mathbf{R}$ , we denote by  $\chi_{\Omega}$  the corresponding characteristic function for the set  $\Omega$ . Then the functional calculus for the self-adjoint operator F enables one to consider the projection:

$$P_{\Omega} = \chi_{\Omega}(F).$$

The family  $\{P_{\Omega}\}$  satisfies the properties:

a)  $P_{\Omega}$  is an orthogonal projection,

b)  $P_{\emptyset} = 0$ ,  $P_{(-\infty,\infty)} = I$ ,

c) If  $\Omega$  is a countable disjoint union of Borel sets  $\Omega_m, m = 1, 2, ...,$  then for any  $h \in H$  we have

$$P_{\Omega}h = \lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{m=1}^{N} P_{\Omega_n}h$$

d)  $P_{\Omega_1}P_{\Omega_2} = P_{\Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2}$ . Given any  $h \in H$ , we see that

$$\mu(\Omega) = (h, P_{\Omega}h)_H$$

is a measure. By  $d(h, P_{\lambda}h)$  we shall denote the corresponding volume element needed for integration with respect to this measure so we have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \chi_{\Omega}(\lambda) d(h, P_{\lambda}h) = (h, P_{\Omega}h)_{H}$$

Now for any (eventually unbounded) Borel function g on  $(-\infty,\infty)$  we consider the domain

$$D_g = \{h \in H; \int_{\mathbf{R}} |g(\lambda)|^2 d(h, P_{\lambda}h) < \infty\}$$

and then we define the operator (eventually unbounded)  $h \in D_g \to g(F)h$  by means of the identity

$$(h, g(F)h)_H = \int_{\mathbf{R}} g(\lambda) d(h, P_{\lambda}h).$$

Then we have the following assertion.

THEOREM 1.4. For any Borel function  $g(\lambda)$  defined on  $(-\infty,\infty)$  the operator g(F) with dense domain  $D_q$  is self-adjoint.

The functional calculus enables one to define the exponential  $U(t) = e^{itF}$ .

THEOREM 1.5. (see [160]) If F is a self-adjoint operator in the Hilbert space H, then  $U(t) = e^{itF}$  satisfies the properties:

a) U(t) is a bounded unitary operator for any  $t \in \mathbf{R}$ , b) U(t)U(s) = U(t+s) for any real numbers t, s, c)  $\lim_{t\to 0} U(t)h = h$  for any  $h \in H$ , d)  $h \in D(F)$  if and only if U(t)h - h

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{U(t)h - h}{t}$$

exists in H.

Remark A. The property a) in the above theorem means that

$$||U(t)h||_H = ||h||_H$$

**Remark B.** An operator-valued function U(t) satisfying the above properties a),b) and c) is called a strongly continuous one-parameter unitary group.

THEOREM 1.6. (Stone's theorem, see [157]) If U(t) is a strongly continuous one-parameter unitary group, then we can define its generator G so that  $h \in D(G)$  if and only if the limit

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{U(t)h - h}{t}$$

exists. The above limit shall be denoted Gh for  $h \in D(G)$ . One has

G = iF,

where F is a self-adjoint operator in H.

#### 3. Symmetric strictly monotone operators on Hilbert space

In this section we shall consider the special case when a symmetric operator B is defined on a dense domain  $D(B) \subset H$ , where H is a real Hilbert space. For simplicity we take Hilbert space over **R**, but the results are valid also for Hilbert spaces over **C**. We shall denote by

 $(\cdot, \cdot)_H$ ,  $\|\cdot\|_H$ 

the inner product and the norm in H respectively.

Our main assumption is that B is strictly monotone, i.e. there exists a constant C > 0, so that

$$(Bu, u) \ge C \|u\|_{H}^{2} \tag{1.3.1}$$

for  $u \in D(B)$ .

First we consider the case, when the range R(B) is dense in H.

LEMMA 1.1. If B is a symmetric strictly monotone operator with dense range R(B), then the closure  $\overline{B}$  is a self-adjoint operator.

**Proof.** The operator  $\overline{B}$  is also symmetric and strictly monotone. Then the inequality

$$\|\bar{B}u\|_{H}^{2} \ge C \|u\|_{H}^{2}$$

shows that  $R(\bar{B})$  is closed. Since  $R(B) \subset R(\bar{B})$  and R(B) is dense in H, we see that  $R(\bar{B}) = H$ . Applying Theorem 1.2, we see that  $\bar{B}$  is self-adjoint.  $\Box$ 

The next step is to introduce the corresponding "energetic" space (see [225]). For this purpose for any  $u, v \in D(B)$  we define the corresponding energy inner product

$$(u, v)_E = (Bu, v)_H.$$
 (1.3.2)

The corresponding norm is

$$\|u\|_E = \sqrt{(u,u)_E}$$

DEFINITION 1.1. The space  $H_E$  consists of all  $u \in H$  such that there exists a sequence  $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  with the properties:

a)  $u_n \in D(B)$ ,

b)  $u_n \rightarrow u$  in H,

c)  $u_n$  is a Cauchy sequence for the norm  $\|\cdot\|_E$ , i.e. for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists an integer  $N \ge 1$ , such that

$$\|u_n - u_m\|_E \le \varepsilon$$

for  $n, m \geq N$ .

We shall call the sequence  $\{u_n\}$ , satisfying the above properties, admissible for u. Given any  $u \in H_E$ , we can define its norm by

$$\|u\|_{E} = \lim \|u_{n}\|_{E}. \tag{1.3.3}$$

Our first step is to show that this definition is independent of the concrete choice of admissible sequences  $\{u_n\}$ .

LEMMA 1.2. Suppose  $\{u_n\}$  is an admissible zero sequence. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u_n\|_E = 0$$

**Proof.** Assume that the assertion of lemma is not true. Choosing a subsequences we can reduce the proof of a contradiction to the case

$$a < \|u_n\|_E < a^{-1} \tag{1.3.4}$$

with some a > 0. Given any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we can choose N depending on  $\varepsilon > 0$  according to property c) of Definition 1.1. Then for any  $n \ge N$  we have the inequalities

$$||u_n||_E^2 \le |(u_n, u_N)_E| + |(u_n, u_n - u_N)_E| \le |(u_n, u_N)_E| + a^{-1}\varepsilon.$$

On the other hand, we have the identity

$$(u_n, u_N)_E = (u_n, Bu_N)_H,$$

according to our definition of the inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)_E$  on D(B). Since  $\{u_n\}$  is admissible zero sequence, we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||u_n||_H = 0$ . Therefore, we can find  $n \ge N$  so large that

$$(u_n, u_N)_E | \le \varepsilon.$$

Thus, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  we can find n so that

$$\|u_n\|_E^2 \le \varepsilon (1+a^{-1})$$

It is clear that this inequality is in contradiction with the left inequality in (1.3.4), when  $\varepsilon > 0$  is sufficiently small.

Therefore we have a contradiction and this completes the proof of the lemma.

The above lemma enables one to introduce a norm in  $H_E$  as follows:

$$\|u\|_{E} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \|u_{n}\|_{E}, \tag{1.3.5}$$

where  $\{u_n\}$  is an admissible sequence for  $u \in H_E$ .

Also it is easy to define the inner product in  $H_E$ . For  $u_n, v_n \in D(B)$  such that  $\{u_n\}, \{v_n\}$  are admissible sequences for  $u, v \in H_E$  we have the polarization identity

$$(u_n, v_n)_E = \frac{1}{4}(\|u_n + v_n\|_E^2) - \frac{1}{4}(\|u_n - v_n\|_E^2).$$

Then from (1.3.5) we see that the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (u_n, v_n)_E$$

exists and it is independent of the concrete choice of admissible sequences. For this we can introduce the inner product in  $H_E$  as follows

$$(u,v)_E = \lim_{n \to \infty} (u_n, v_n)_E.$$

The next step is of special importance to verify the fact that the space  $H_E$  is a Hilbert space.

LEMMA 1.3. If  $\{u_n\}$  is an admissible sequence for  $u \in H_E$ , then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u_n - u\|_E = 0. \tag{1.3.6}$$

**Proof.** For any integer  $m \ge 1$  the sequence

$$u_n - u_m$$

is admissible for  $u - u_m$ . The fact that  $\{u_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $H_E$  means that for any positive number  $\varepsilon$  there exists an integer  $N \ge 1$ , so that

$$\|u_n - u_m\|_E \le \varepsilon$$

for  $n, m \ge N$ . Then definition (1.3.5) shows that

$$\|u - u_m\|_E \le \varepsilon$$

for  $m \ge N$ . This completes the proof.

It is clear that the definition (1.3.5) guarantees that

$$|u||_{E}^{2} \ge C||u||_{H}^{2}.$$
(1.3.7)

This estimate shows that  $(u, u)_E = 0$  implies u = 0, so  $H_E$  is a pre - Hilbert space. Also it is a trivial fact that D(B) is a dense subset in  $H_E$ , since any element u in  $H_E$  by the definition of  $H_E$  is such that there exists an admissible sequence  $\{u_n\}$  with  $u_n \in D(B)$ .

Our next step is to study the space  $H_E$ .

THEOREM 1.7. The space  $H_E$  is a Hilbert space.

**Proof.** Let  $\{u_n\}$  be a Cauchy sequence in  $H_E$ . Since D(B) is dense in  $H_E$ , for any integer  $n \ge 1$  one can find  $v_n \in D(B)$ , so that

$$\|v_n - u_n\|_E \le \frac{1}{n}.$$
(1.3.8)

Then the estimate  $||v_n||_E^2 \ge C ||v_n||_H^2$  shows that  $\{v_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in H so there exists  $u \in H$ , so that

$$v_n \to u \text{ in } H.$$

Applying Lemma 1.3, we conclude that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u - v_n\|_E = 0,$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u - u_n\|_E = 0.$$

and from (1.3.8) we get

This completes the proof.

Further, we turn to the dual space  $H_E^*$ . As usual for any linear continuous functional  $f \in H_E^*$ and any  $g \in H_E$  we denote by

the action of the functional f on g. The inclusion  $H \subset H^*_E$  is such that

$$\langle f, g \rangle = (f, g)_H$$

for  $f \in H, g \in H_E$ . The norm in  $H_E^*$  is

$$||f||_{H_E^*} = \sup_{g \in H_E, ||g||_E = 1} < f, g > .$$

Then  $H_E^*$  is clearly a Banach space. Later on we shall introduce on  $H_E^*$  a structure of a Hilbert space. The main preparation for this is the following

LEMMA 1.4. The symmetric strictly monotone operator  $B : D(B) \rightarrow H$  can be extended to an invertible isometry

$$B_E: H_E \to H_E^*,$$

*i.e. we have the properties* 

a)  $B_E u = Bu$  for  $u \in D(B)$ ,

b)  $B_E$  maps  $H_E$  onto  $H_E^*$ ,

c)  $||B_E u||_{H_E^*} = ||u||_{H_E}$ .

**Proof.** For any  $u \in H_E$  we take an admissible sequence  $\{u_n\}$ , such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u_n - u\|_E = 0$$

On the other hand, we have the relation

$$\|Bu\|_{H_E^*} = \|u\|_E \tag{1.3.9}$$

for  $u \in D(B)$ . Indeed, for  $u \in D(B), v \in H_E$  we have

$$|\langle Bu, v \rangle| = |(Bu, v)_H| = |(u, v)_E| \le ||u||_E ||v||_E.$$
(1.3.10)

Hence,

$$||Bu||_{H^*_E} \le ||u||_E$$

17

To establish the inequality in the opposite direction we choose v = u in (1.3.10) and get

$$||u||_E^2 \le ||Bu||_{H_E^*} ||u||_E.$$

Once, the relation (1.3.9) is established, we can conclude that  $\{Bu_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $H_E^*$  so it is convergent in  $H_E^*$  to an element  $v \in H_E^*$ , so by definition

$$B_E u = i$$

It is clear that the element v is independent of the concrete choice of the admissible sequence  $\{u_n\}$  for u. Also (1.3.9) can be extended to  $u \in H_E$ .

Therefore, it remains to show that  $B_E$  maps the energetic space  $H_E$  onto its dual  $H_E^*$ . To do this take  $v \in H_E^*$  and consider the linear continuos functional

$$h \in H_E \to \langle v, h \rangle \in \mathbf{R}$$

According to Riesz representation theorem, there exists  $u \in H_E$  so that

$$\langle v, h \rangle = (u, h)_E.$$

Taking an admissible sequence for u we can see that

$$(u_n, h)_E = (Bu_n, h)_H \to < B_E u, h >$$

Hence,  $\langle B_E u, h \rangle = \langle v, h \rangle$ , so  $B_E u = v$ . This completes the proof.

Using the fact that  $B_E : H_E \to H_E^*$  is an invertible isometry, we can define via the polarization identity an inner product on  $H_E^*$  and conclude that this is a Hilbert space.

In fact starting with the relations

$$||Bu||_{H_{\pi}^*}^2 = ||u||_E^2 = (Bu, u)_H$$

for  $u \in D(B)$  and using the previous lemma, we see that we can introduce the inner product in  $H_E^*$  by means of

$$(B_E u, B_E v)_{H_E^*} = (u, v)_E = (B_E u, v)_H.$$

The above relations show that  $B_E$  is a symmetric operator. It is easy to see that  $B_E$  is a strictly monotone operator on  $H_E^*$  with dense domain  $H_E$ . Applying the first lemma of this section, we conclude that

LEMMA 1.5. The operator  $B_E$  is self-adjoint.

Our main result in this section is the following.

THEOREM 1.8. (see [225]) If B is a symmetric strictly monotone operator, then the operator A with dense domain

$$D(A) = \{ u \in H_E, B_E u \in H \}$$

defined by  $Au = B_E u$  for  $u \in D(A)$  is a self-adjoint extention of B.

Given any  $f \in H$ , we can find  $u \in H_E$  so that  $f = B_E u$ . It is not difficult to see that the operator

$$F: f \in H \to u = F(f) \in H_E$$

is well - defined bounded, symmetric and

$$F(Bh) = h, h \in D(B).$$

In fact *F* is a restriction of the isometry

$$B_E^{-1}: H_E^* \to H_E$$

to *H*. Moreover, *F* is a symmetric bounded operator from *H* into *H*. Then the symmetric bounded operator *F* is self-adjoint. Applying the spectral theorem in the norm of Theorem 1.4 with  $g(\lambda) = 1/\lambda$ , we see that the operator  $A = F^{-1}$  with dense domain D(A) is selfadjoint.

It is an open problem if the closure of the graph of B is the graph of A. For this we introduce the following.

DEFINITION 1.2. Given any  $f \in H$ , we shall say that  $u \in D(B)$  is a weak solution of the equation Bu = f, if

$$(Bu, v)_H = (f, v)_H$$

for any  $v \in H_E$ .

On the other hand, we have

**DEFINITION 1.3.** Given any  $f \in H$ , we shall say that  $u \in D(B)$  is a strong solution of Au = f, if there exists a sequence  $\{u_k\}$  such that

a)  $u_k \in D(B)$ , b)  $u_k \rightarrow u$  in  $H_E$ , c)  $Bu_k$  tends to f in H.

For the applications of special importance is the following result.

THEOREM 1.9. Suppose in addition to assumptions of Theorem 1.8 that any weak solution of Bu = f for  $f \in H$  is also a strong solution. Then the closure of the operator B is self-adjoint.

**Proof.** The result follows from Theorem 1.8.

#### 4. Spectral Families

We consider a family of functions  $\{E(t)\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  defined by

$$E:\mathbb{R}\longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(H)\;,$$

where H is a Hilbert space. We shall follow the approach given by Section 7.2 of [**221**] (see also Section VI.5 of [**113**] for a deeper analysis), and present the following definition.

DEFINITION 1.4. We say that  $\{E(t)\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  defined above is a spectral family (see also theorem 1.3) if it satisfies the following properties:

- (i) E(t) is a projection operator on H for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (ii) for any  $f \in H$  and for any  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$ , such that  $s \leq t$ , we have:

$$(E(s)f, f) \le (E(t)f, f);$$

(iii) for any  $f \in H$  and for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  the following identity holds:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} E(t+\varepsilon)f = E(t)f;$$

(iv) for any  $f \in H$  we have:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(t)f = f , \qquad \qquad \lim_{t \to -\infty} E(t)f = 0 .$$

We observe that the right continuity in (iii) is guaranteed by the monotonicity property (ii). It is also possible to show using the monotonicity that if E(t) is a spectral family, then the following limits exist and are projection operators

$$E(\lambda^{\pm}) = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} E(\lambda \pm \varepsilon)$$

for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ; clearly we have that  $E(\lambda^+) = E(\lambda)$ .

We give below an important example of a spectral family in the case of H represented by the Lebesgue space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

EXAMPLE 1.1. Let  $M : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a measurable function. We associate to M the following subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ :

$$M_t = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n | M(x) \le t \} ,$$

for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and let  $\chi_{M_t}$  denote the characteristic function of the set  $M_t$ .

It turns out that the family of linear operators

$$E^M(t): L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$$
,

defined by

$$E^{M}(t)f(x) = \chi_{M_{t}}(x)f(x) , \quad \forall f \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) , \forall t \in \mathbb{R} ,$$

for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a spectral family on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Indeed properties (i) and (ii) are satisfied. If we fix  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and a sequence  $\varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$ , then

$$\left\| \left[ E^M \left( t + \varepsilon_k \right) - E^M (t) \right] f \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \chi_{M_{t+\varepsilon_k}} \left( x \right) - \chi_{M_t}(x) \right] \left| f(x) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x$$

Since  $0 \le \chi_{M_{t+\varepsilon_k}}(x) - \chi_{M(t)}(x) \le 1$  and  $\chi_{M_{t+\varepsilon_k}}(x) - \chi_{M(t)}(x) \downarrow 0$  as  $k \to \infty$  the property (iii) follows by Lebesgue's Theorem. Similarly we obtain the property (iv) observing that

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} E(t) = \mathbf{1} \;, \qquad \qquad \lim_{t\to-\infty} E(t) = \mathbf{0} \;.$$

The importance of the Example 1.1 relies on the strict connection between M seen as a multiplicative operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and its associated spectral family  $E^M(t)$ . Namely the following operator identity holds:

$$M = \int_{\mathbb{R}} t \; \mathrm{d} E^M(t)$$

Indeed it is of great interest to investigate the relations between all the possible spectral families  $E^A$  associated to any operator A on H, and the operator associated to them via that functional integral.

#### 5. Integration with Respect to a Spectral Family

In this section we shall show how a given spectral family E(t) may be used to introduce an operator, denoted on an Hilbert space H via integration with respect to the t variable. Namely we have the following.

THEOREM 1.10. For any given spectral family E(t) on H it is well defined a map  $\hat{E}$  associating to any Borel function  $F : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  an normal operator  $\hat{E}(F)$  defined by

$$\hat{E}(F): D(\hat{E}(F)) \subseteq H \longrightarrow H$$
, (1.5.11)

such that

$$\hat{E}(F) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t) \,. \tag{1.5.12}$$

**Proof.** Let *I* be a real interval. Let the numbers  $-\infty \le a \le b \le \infty$  be given, then using the notation given in (1.5.11) we define

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(a,b)}(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t) = E(b^{-}) - E(a) , \qquad \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{[a,b]}(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t) = E(b) - E(a^{-});$$
  
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{(a,b]}(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t) = E(b) - E(a) , \qquad \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{[a,b]}(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t) = E(b^{-}) - E(a^{-});$$

where as usual  $\chi_A$  denotes the characteristic function of the set *A*.

By a linearity argument we can define  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) dE(t)$  for **step functions**, that is, for functions of the form

$$F(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j \chi_{J_j}(t) \, .$$

where  $c_j \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $J_j$  are disjoint intervals as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j E(J_j) \,. \tag{1.5.13}$$

In order to let  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} v(t) dE(t)$  make sense for a general Borel function  $v : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , we introduce the following family of non-decreasing functions

$$\rho_h^E(t) = (h, E(t)h)_H = ||E(t)h||_H^2 , \qquad (1.5.14)$$

where  $h \in H$ . We define the domain of the operator  $\mathcal{D}\left(\hat{E}(F)\right)$  as follows:

$$D\left(\hat{E}(F)\right) = \left\{h \in H \mid F \in L^2\left(\mathbb{R}, \, \mathrm{d}\rho_h^E\right)\right\} \;.$$

We observe that for the step function  $F = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j \chi_{J_j}$  we have

$$\left\| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j \chi_{J_j} \, \mathrm{d}E(t) \right) h \right\|_{H}^{2} = \left\| \left( \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j E(J_j) \right) h \right\|_{H}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j^2 \left\| E(J_j) h \right\|_{H}^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j^2 \rho_h^E(t) ,$$

by the definition and the orthogonality of the projection operators  $E(J_j)$ . On the other hand

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| c_j \chi_{J_j} \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\rho_h^E(t) = \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{J_j} c_j^2 \, \mathrm{d}\rho_h^E(t) = \sum_{j=1}^n c_j^2 \rho_h^E(t)$$

hence the following relation

$$\left\|\hat{E}(F)h\right\|_{H}^{2} = \left\|\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t)\right)h\right\|_{H}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left|F(t)\right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\rho_{h}^{E}(t) , \qquad (1.5.15)$$

holds for any  $h \in D(\hat{E}(F))$ . Relation (1.5.15) may be extended to any  $F \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, d\rho_h^E)$  where  $h \in D(\hat{E}(F))$  by a density argument.

If  $F : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  is a bounded function ( $\rho_h^E$ -measurable for any  $h \in H$ ), and all  $f, g \in H$  according to the polarization identity, we can define

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \,\mathrm{d}\left(g, E(t)f\right) = \frac{1}{4} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \,\mathrm{d}\rho_{g+f}^{E}(t) - \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \,\mathrm{d}\rho_{g-f}^{E}(t) + i \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \,\mathrm{d}\rho_{g-if}^{E}(t) - i \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \,\mathrm{d}\rho_{g+if}^{E}(t) \right] \,\mathrm{d}\rho_{g+if}^{E}(t) \,\mathrm{d}\rho_{g+if}^{E}(t)$$

With this definition we obtain that for any couple F and G as above

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} G(t)^* F(t) \, \mathrm{d}\left(g, E(t)f\right) = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} G(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t)g, \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}E(t)f\right)$$

The next proposition describes the most important properties of the map  $\hat{E}$  associated to a spectral family E(t) build in the proof of Theorem 1.10.

**PROPOSITION 1.1.** Let E(t) be a spectral family on the Hilbert space H. Let  $F, G : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  be two Borel functions, and  $\hat{E}(F), \hat{E}(G)$  the corresponding operators defined by Theorem 1.10 and let

$$\varphi_k(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |F(t)| \le k \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}, \qquad \qquad \psi_k(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |G(t)| \le k \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then the following properties hold true.

(i) For all  $f \in D(\hat{E}(F))$  and  $g \in D(\hat{E}(G))$  we have

$$(\hat{E}(G)g,\hat{E}(F)f) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \psi_k(t) G(t)^* \varphi_k(t) F(t) \, \mathrm{d}(g, E(t)f) \, .$$

(ii) For any  $h \in D\left(\hat{E}(F)\right)$  we have

$$\left\| \hat{E}(F)h \right\|_{H}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| F(t) \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\rho_{h}^{E}(t) \, .$$

where  $\rho_h^E(t)$  is defined in (1.5.14).

(iii) If  $F : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  is a bounded function, then  $\hat{E}(F) \in \mathcal{B}(H)$  and

$$\left\| \hat{E}(F) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(H)} \le \|F\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})}$$

- (iv) If F(t) = 1 for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , then  $\hat{E}(F) = 1$ ;
- (v) For every  $f \in D(\hat{E}(F))$  and all  $g \in H$  we have

$$(g, \hat{E}(F)f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) d(g, E(t)f) .$$

(vi) If  $F(t) \ge c$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$(h, \hat{E}(F)h) \ge c \|h\|_{H} ,$$

for all  $h \in H$ .

(vii) For all  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  we have  $a\hat{E}(G) + b\hat{E}(G) = \hat{E}(aF + bG)$ , and  $D\left(\hat{E}(F) + \hat{E}(G)\right) = D\left(\hat{E}(|F| + |G|)\right)$ . (viii)  $\hat{E}(FG) = \hat{E}(F)\hat{E}(G)$  and  $D\left(\hat{E}(F)\hat{E}(G)\right) = D\left(\hat{E}(G)\right) \cap D\left(\hat{E}(FG)\right)$ .

**Proof.** (i) follows from density arguments, since the relation is true for F and G step functions and observing that by definition

$$(\hat{E}(G)g,\hat{E}(F)f) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\hat{E}(\psi_k G)g,\hat{E}(\varphi_k F)f\right) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \psi_k(t)G(t)^*\varphi_k(t)F(t) \,\mathrm{d}(g,E(t)f) \,.$$

(ii) follows from (1.5.15). If  $F : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  is a bounded function, then  $F \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, d\rho_h^E)$  for all  $h \in H$ , consequently  $\hat{E}(F) \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ . From the property (iv) of the Definition (1.4) we have that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \rho_h^E(t) = \|h\|_H \ , \qquad \qquad \lim_{t \to -\infty} \rho_h^E(t) = 0 \ .$$

Hence by the relation in (ii) we have

$$\left\| \hat{E}(F)h \right\|_{H}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |F(t)|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\rho_{h}^{E}(t) \leq \|F\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})}^{2} \|h\|_{H}^{2} ,$$

since  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} d\rho_h^E(t) = \|h\|_H^2$ . Hence (iii) is proved. Property (iii) provides that  $D(\hat{E}(1)) = H$ . If we consider the sequence  $\chi_{[-k,k]} = 1$ , therefore

$$\hat{E}(F)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \hat{E}\left(\chi_{[-k,k]}\right)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(E(k)h - E(-k)h\right) = h ,$$

for any  $h \in H$ , which gives (iv). From (i) with G = 1, and taking (iv) into account, the following relation

$$(g, \hat{E}(F)f) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi_k(t)F(t) \, \mathrm{d}(g, E(t)f)$$

holds true. That concludes the proof of (v). (vi) follows immediately from (v), whereas (vii) follows from the definition and the properties of the integrals. By (i) and (iv) we have that for all pairs of bounded functions F, G and for all  $f, g \in H$  we have that

$$(g, \hat{E}(F)f) = (\hat{E}(\mathbf{1})g, \hat{E}(F)f) = (\hat{E}(F^*)g, \hat{E}(\mathbf{1})f) = (\hat{E}(F^*)g, f) ,$$

consequently,

$$(g, \hat{E}(F)\hat{G}f) = (\hat{E}(F^*)g, \hat{E}(G)f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t)G(t) d(g, E(t)f) = (g, \hat{E}(FG)f)$$
.

Let  $h \in D\left(\hat{E}(F)\hat{E}(G)\right)$ . As  $\varphi_k F$  is bounded for fixed  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , it follows that  $\varphi_k F \psi_l G \to \varphi_k F G$  in  $L^2\left(\mathbb{R}, \rho_h^E\right)$  as  $l \to \infty$ . Thus

$$\hat{E}(F)\hat{E}(G)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F) \left[ \lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{E}(\psi_l G)h \right] = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F)\hat{E}(\psi_l G)h =$$
$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F\psi_l G)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k FG)h .$$

The existence of the limit means that  $\varphi_k FG$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \rho_h^E)$ . Since, moreover,  $\varphi_k(t)F(t)G(t) \to F(t)G(t)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , it follows that FG belongs to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \rho_h^E)$ ; consequently,  $h \in D(\hat{E}(FG))$  and  $\hat{E}(FG) = \hat{E}(F)\hat{E}(G)$ . On the other hand if  $h \in D(\hat{E}(G)) \cup D(\hat{E}(FG))$ , then

$$\hat{E}(FG)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F \psi_l G)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F) \hat{E}(\psi_l G)h =$$
$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F \psi_l G)h = \lim_{k \to \infty} \hat{E}(\varphi_k F) \hat{E}(g)h .$$

The existence of the limit means that  $F \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \rho_h^E)$ ; consequently,  $\hat{E}(F)h \in D(\hat{E}(F))$ , and thus  $h \in D(\hat{E}(F)\hat{E}(G))$ . That concludes the proof of (viii).

#### 6. Some facts about holomorphic functions

Let  $\mathbb{C}$  be the complex plane and let  $U \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  be an open domain in this plane. Any point  $z \in U$  can be represented as

$$z = x + iy,$$

where x, y are real numbers. A function

$$f: U \to \mathbb{C}$$

is  $C^1(U)$  if the partial derivatives

$$\partial_x f(x+iy), \partial_y f(x+iy)$$

exist and are continuous functions. Of special interest are the vector fields

$$\partial_z = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x - i\partial_y)$$

and

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y).$$

If  $f \in C^1(U)$ , then f is called holomorphic in U, if it satisfies the equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}f(z) = 0, \quad z \in U$$

One can see that a function  $f: U \to \mathbb{C}$  is holomorphic in U if and only if

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{f(z+h) - f(z)}{h}$$

exists for any  $z \in U$ .

The most important formula in the elementary theory of holomorphic functions is the Cauchy theorem and the Cauchy formula.

Let  $\Gamma$  be a closed path in U and let  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  be a point such that  $\Gamma$  does not pass through z. Then the index of z with respect to  $\Gamma$  is

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma}(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z}$$

The Cauchy theorem states that if  $\Gamma$  is a closed path in U such that  $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma}(w) = 0$  for any w outside U, then

$$\int_{\Gamma} f(\zeta) d\zeta = 0 \tag{1.6.16}$$

for any function holomorphic in  $\mathbb C.$  The corresponding Cauchy formula is

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(\zeta)}{z - \zeta} d\zeta.$$
(1.6.17)

The condition  $\operatorname{Ind}_{\Gamma}(w) = 0$  for w outside U is fulfilled for the case U is simply connected.

Also in the case of a simply connected domain U with smooth boundary  $\partial U$  for any function holomorphic in U and continuous on the closure of U we have the corresponding Cauchy formula

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial U} \frac{f(\zeta)}{z - \zeta} d\zeta.$$
(1.6.18)

Applying for example the above formula for  $\{z, |z - z_0| < \delta\} \subset U$ , we obtain the estimate

$$|\partial_z^k f(z_0)| \le \frac{Mk!}{\delta^k},\tag{1.6.19}$$

where

$$M = \sup_{|z-z_0|=\delta} |f(z)|.$$

This estimate guarantees that the formal Taylor series

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \partial_z^k f(z_0) (z-z_0)^k / k!$$

converges absolutely and uniformly for  $|z - z_0|$  sufficiently small and moreover the series coincides with f(z) for z sufficiently close to  $z_0$ .

Our next step is the study of holomorphic functions in the strip

$$S = \{z; 0 < \text{Re}z < 1\}.$$

More precisely, given any real number  $\gamma$  we consider the class  $F(\gamma)$  of all functions  $f \in C^1(\overline{S})$ holomorphic in S and satisfying the estimate

$$|f(z)| \le C \mathrm{e}^{\gamma |\mathrm{Im}z|}.\tag{1.6.20}$$

LEMMA 1.6. (Three lines Lemma.) If  $f \in F(\gamma)$ , then for any  $\theta \in (0,1)$  we have

$$|f(\theta)| \le \|\mathrm{e}^{\delta(i\cdot)^2} f(i\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R})}^{1-\theta} \|\mathrm{e}^{\delta(1+i\cdot)^2} f(1+i\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R})}^{\theta}.$$

**Proof.** If  $f \in F(\gamma)$ , then we can consider the function

$$g(z) = e^{\delta z^2} f(z) a_0^{z-1} a_1^{-z},$$

where

$$a_j = \|e^{\delta(j+i\cdot)^2} f(j+i\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R})}, \ j = 0, 1.$$

It is clear that we can assume that  $a_j$  are positive numbers. Otherwise, if  $a_1 = 0$ , then we can replace  $a_1$  by  $a_1 + \varepsilon$ . Then it is easy to see that  $g \in F(-\delta_1)$  with  $0 < \delta_1 < \delta$  so we have the estimate

 $|g(z)| \le C \mathrm{e}^{-\delta_1 |\mathrm{Im}z|}$ 

for  $\text{Re}z \in [0, 1]$ . Then this estimate enables us to extend the Cauchy formula (1.6.18) for the strip S. From the Cauchy formula it follows the maximum principle, i.e.

$$\sup_{z \in S} |g(z)| \le \max(\sup_{t \in \mathbf{R}} |g(it)|, \sup_{t \in \mathbf{R}} |g(1+it)|).$$

Since,  $|g(it)| \leq 1$  and  $|g(1+it)| \leq 1$ , we get

$$|g(\theta + iy)| \le 1.$$

Taking y = 0, we complete the proof of the lemma.

REMARK 1.1. From the proof it is clear that we have the estimate

$$|f(\theta + iy)| \le e^{-\delta|\theta + iy|^2} \|e^{\delta(i\cdot)^2} f(i\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R})}^{1-\theta} \|e^{\delta(1+i\cdot)^2} f(1+i\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbf{R})}^{\theta}.$$

For the case of a function

$$f: U \to V,$$

where  $U \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  is an open domain and V is a topological vector space, we shall say that f is weakly holomorphic if  $\Lambda f$  is a holomorphic function for any  $\Lambda \in V'$ . Then f is also strongly holomorphic in the sense that

$$\lim_{h \to 0} \frac{f(z+h) - f(z)}{h}$$

exists in V for any  $z \in U$ . (see [162], Chapter 3)

#### 7. Spectral Theorem for Self-Adjoint Operators

Given any operator A on a (complex) Hilbert space H there are many ways to associate a spectral family  $E^A(t)$ . The corresponding operator  $\hat{E}^A$  defined by Theorem 1.10 in general may not be related to the initial operator A. Nevertheless the following proposition states that whenever A is self-adjoint there is a very precise relation.

We shall need some results the resolvent operator  $R_A(z) = (A - z)^{-1}$  associated to A. The first we present shows that  $R_A(\cdot)$  and other complex functions associated to it are holomorphic (on some suitable domain of  $\mathbb{C}$ ).

**PROPOSITION 1.2.** Let A be a closed operator on H, and  $f, g \in H$ . Then the functions

$$\begin{aligned} R_A(\cdot) &: \rho(A) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}(H) , \ z \mapsto R_A(z) , \\ R_A(\cdot)f &: \rho(A) \longrightarrow H , \qquad z \mapsto R_A(z)f , \\ (g, R_A(\cdot)f) &: \rho(A) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C} , \qquad z \mapsto (g, R_A(z)f) , \end{aligned}$$

are holomorphic functions on the resolvent set  $\rho(A)$ .

**Proof.** Let  $z_0 \in \rho(T)$ , and let  $r = ||R_A(z_0)||_H^{-1}$ . Then for any  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $|z - z_0| < r$  we have

$$R_A(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (z_0 - z)^n R_A(z_0)^{n+1} ,$$

with respect to the operator norm of  $\mathcal{B}(H)$ ,

$$R_A(z)f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (z_0 - z)^n R_A(z_0)^{n+1} f ,$$

with respect to the operator norm of H and

$$(g, R_A(z)f) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (z_0 - z)^n (g, R_A(z_0)^{n+1}f)$$
.

Therefore by definition the three functions above introduced are holomorphic.

Now we restrict our attention to Hermitian operators,  $A : H \longrightarrow H$ . The following result describes the relation between the norm of  $R_A(z)$  and the distance of z from the real axis Re(z).

PROPOSITION 1.3. Let A be Hermitian operator on H. Then all the eigenvalues of A are real and eigenvectors corresponding to different eigenvalues are orthogonal. Moreover for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ the operator A - z is invertible, its inverse is continuous, and the following estimate holds

$$\|R_A(z)\|_{\mathcal{B}(H)} \le \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Im}(z)|}$$

**Proof.** Let z = x + iy be an eigenvalue of A. By assumption it turns out that  $z = \overline{z}$ , that is  $z \in \mathbb{R}$ . Orthogonality between eigenvectors of distinct eigenvalues is also straightforward. Now for any  $f \in D(A)$  we have

$$\|(A-z)f\|_{H}^{2} = \|(A-x)f - iyf\|_{H} = \|(A-x)f\|_{H}^{2} + |y|^{2} \|f\|_{H}^{2} \ge |\operatorname{Im}(z)|^{2} \|f\|_{H}^{2}.$$

If  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  then A - z is injective, and  $g = (z - A)f \in D(R_A(z))$ . We have

$$||R_A(z)g||_H = ||f||_H \le \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Im}(z)|} ||(z-A)f||_H = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Im}(z)|} ||g||_H ,$$

which gives the statement.

We shall also need some general properties and representations of complex holomorphic functions. We recall that a function  $w : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  is said to be **of bounded variation** if and only if there exists a constant  $C \ge 0$  such that  $\sum_k |w(b_k) - w(a_k)| \le C$  for every sequence  $\{(a_k, b_k]\}$  of disjoint intervals. The smallest C of this kind is called the **variation** of w. Whenever w is a right continuous function of bounded variation the integral

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \, \mathrm{d}w(t)$$

for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  can be considered as a Riemann-Stieltjes integral. The properties of such an integral function will be described in the following two propositions.

**PROPOSITION 1.4.** Let  $w : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a right continuous function of bounded variation, such that  $\lim_{t\to -\infty} w(t) = 0$ . Then

$$f(z) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \, \mathrm{d}w(t) \,, \quad \text{for } z \in \mathbb{C}_+ \,.$$

(i) For all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  the Stieltjes inversion formula

$$w(t) = -\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{t+\delta} \operatorname{Im} \left( f(s+i\varepsilon) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{1.7.21}$$

holds.

(ii) If 
$$f(z) = 0$$
 for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ , then  $w(t) = 0$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

**Proof.** Since *w* is real valued we have

Im 
$$(f(s+i\varepsilon)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{Im} \left[ (s+i\varepsilon-u)^{-1} \right] dw(u) = -\varepsilon \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ (s+u)^2 + \varepsilon^2 \right]^{-1} dw(u)$$

for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ . By Fubini's Theorem it follows that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{r} \operatorname{Im} \left( f(s+i\varepsilon) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{r} \frac{\varepsilon}{(s-u)^2 - \varepsilon^2} \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}w(u) = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ \arctan\left(\frac{s-u}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\pi}{2} \right] \, \mathrm{d}w(u) \, .$$

Since  $\left| \arctan\left(\frac{r-u}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\pi}{2} \right| \le \pi$  for all  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \arctan\left(\frac{r-u}{\varepsilon}\right) + \frac{\pi}{2} = \begin{cases} \pi & \text{per } r > u, \\ \frac{\pi}{2} & \text{per } r = u, \\ 0 & \text{per } r < u, \end{cases}$$

recalling the definition of the integration with respect to a right continuous function on a single point set in the sense of of the Riemann-Stieltjes, we have from Lebesgue's Theorem

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{r} \operatorname{Im} (f(s+\imath\varepsilon)) \, \mathrm{d}s = -\int_{(-\infty,r)} \pi \, \mathrm{d}w(u) - \int_{\{r\}} \frac{\pi}{2} \, \mathrm{d}w(u) - \int_{(r,\infty)} 0 \, \mathrm{d}w(u) = -\pi w(r_{-}) - \frac{\pi}{2} \left[w(r) - w(r_{-})\right] = -\frac{\pi}{2} \left[w(r) + w(r_{-})\right] \, .$$

If we set  $r = t + \delta$  with  $\delta > 0$  and let  $\delta$  tend to zero, then the assertion follows. Property (ii) follows from (i).

**PROPOSITION 1.5.** Let  $w : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  be right continuous, and of bounded variation such that  $\lim_{t\to -\infty} w(t) = 0$ . If

$$\int_{\infty}^{-\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \, \mathrm{d}w(t) = 0 \; ,$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  then w(t) = 0 for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

**Proof.** For  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$  the hypothesis gives

$$\int_{\infty}^{-\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \, \mathrm{d}\overline{w}(t) = \overline{\int_{\infty}^{-\infty} \frac{1}{\overline{z}-t} \, \mathrm{d}w(t)} = 0 \; .$$

Therefore

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} d\left[\operatorname{Re} w(t)\right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} d\left[\operatorname{Im} (w(t))\right]$$

and the thesis follows from (ii) of Proposition 1.4.

We are ready to present the main result, which states under which conditions the existence and the uniqueness of such a function w is guaranteed, once the function f is given (see Theorem B3 in [221]).

THEOREM 1.11 (Herglotz). Let  $f : \mathbb{C}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  be an holomorphic function such that  $\operatorname{Im} (f(z)) \ge 0$ and  $|f(z) \operatorname{Im} (z)| \le M$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ . Then there exists a unique right continuous non-decreasing function  $w : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , for which  $\lim_{t \to -\infty} w(t) = 0$  and

$$f(z) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \, \mathrm{d}w(t) \; ,$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ . For any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  we have that  $w(t) \leq M$  and

$$w(z) = -\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\delta}^{t+\delta} \text{ Im } (f(s+\imath \varepsilon)) \text{ d}s$$

**Proof.** The last identity will follow from Proposition 1.4 once we prove the existence of a function w having the remaining properties. For\_ $0 < \varepsilon < r$  let the path  $\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R} = \partial D_{\varepsilon,R}$  be defined as the Figure on the right,

$$\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R} = \Gamma_R \cup \Gamma_{\varepsilon,R} ,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_R &= \{ z \in \mathbb{C} | |z - \imath \varepsilon | = R , \ \operatorname{Im} (z) > \varepsilon \} , \\ \Gamma_\varepsilon &= \{ z \in \mathbb{C} | - R \leq \operatorname{Re} (z) \leq R , \ \operatorname{Im} (z) = \varepsilon \} \end{split}$$



FIGURE 1.1 Path for the Cauchy integral.

For  $z = x + iy \in D_{\varepsilon,R}$ , then  $\overline{z} + 2i\varepsilon$  lies outside  $D_{\varepsilon,R}$ . Therefore, by the Cauchy integral formula we have

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R}} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} \, \mathrm{d}\zeta = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R}} \left[ \frac{1}{\zeta - z} - \frac{1}{\zeta - (\overline{z} + 2i\varepsilon)} \right] f(\zeta) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta =$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R}} \frac{z - \overline{z} - 2i\varepsilon}{(\zeta - z)(\overline{z} - 2i\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R}} \frac{y - \varepsilon}{(\zeta - z)(\zeta - \overline{z} - 2i\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta$$

For  $\zeta \in \Gamma_R$  we have for fixed z that  $|f(\zeta)| \leq \varepsilon^{-1}M$ , and

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon,R}} \frac{f(\zeta)}{\zeta - z} \, \mathrm{d}\zeta$$

thus the term over  $\zeta \in \Gamma_R$  tends to 0 as  $r \to \infty$ . As far as the remainder term is concerned we have that

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\Gamma_{\varepsilon}} \frac{y - \varepsilon}{(\zeta - z)(\zeta - \overline{z} - 2i\varepsilon)} f(\zeta) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y - \varepsilon}{(t + i\varepsilon - z)(t - i\varepsilon - \overline{z})} f(t + i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta =$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y - \varepsilon}{(x - t)^2 + (y - \varepsilon)^2} f(t + i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta .$$

If we set v(z) = Im (f(z)), then it follows for  $\text{ Im } (z) = y > \varepsilon > 0$  that

$$v(z) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y - \varepsilon}{(x - t)^2 + (y - \varepsilon)^2} v(t + i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}\zeta \,.$$

By the hypothesis  $|v(z)y| \leq |f(z) \operatorname{Im} (z)| \leq M$ , hence for  $y - \varepsilon > 0$  we have

$$\left|\frac{1}{\pi}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\frac{(y-\varepsilon)^2}{(x-t)^2+(y-\varepsilon)^2}v(t+i\varepsilon)\,\mathrm{d}\zeta\right| \le |(y-\varepsilon)v(z)| \le M\,.$$
By letting  $y \to \infty$ , we obtain by Fatou's Lemma (since  $v \le 0$  by hypothesis) that  $v(\cdot + \imath \varepsilon) \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and

$$0 \le -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} v(t + i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}t \le M \,, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0 \,.$$

Since for all  $y > \varepsilon > 0$ 

$$\left|\frac{y-\varepsilon}{(x-t)^2+(y-\varepsilon)^2}-\frac{y}{(x-t)^2+y^2}\right| \le \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{y(y-\varepsilon)}+\frac{1}{y^2}\right) ,$$

it follows that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{y - \varepsilon}{(x - t)^2 + (y - \varepsilon)^2} - \frac{y}{(x - t)^2 + y^2} \right] v(t + i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}t \to 0$$

as  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ . Therefore, for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ ,

$$v(z) = \lim_{\varepsilon \uparrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} v(t+i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}t \, .$$

Given  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$  we can define

$$\theta_{\varepsilon}(t) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{t} v(s + i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}s \,.$$

The functions  $\theta_{\varepsilon}$  are all non-decreasing and bounded,  $0 \le \theta_{\varepsilon}(t) \le M$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let us construct, with the aid of the diagonal process, a positive null sequence  $\varepsilon_n \to 0$  such that  $\{\theta_{\varepsilon_n}(t)\}$  is convergent for all  $t \in Q$ . If we set

$$\theta(t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \theta_{\varepsilon_n}(t) , \quad \forall t \in \mathcal{Q} ,$$

then  $\theta(s) \leq \theta(t)$  for any rational pair  $s \leq t$ . If we extend  $\theta$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  defining

$$\theta(t) = \inf_{\substack{s > t \\ s \in \mathcal{Q}}} \{\theta(s)\} , \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R} ,$$

then  $\theta$  is non-decreasing as well, and  $\lim_{t\to\infty} (\theta(t) - \theta(-t)) \leq M$ . We show that in the sense of the Riemann-Stieltjes integral

$$v(z) = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} v(t+i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}\theta(t) \,, \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_+ \,.$$

Since

$$\begin{aligned} v(z) &= \lim_{\varepsilon \uparrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} v(t+i\varepsilon) \, \mathrm{d}t = -\lim_{\varepsilon \uparrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \theta_{\varepsilon}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \\ &= -\lim_{\varepsilon \uparrow 0} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} \, \mathrm{d}\theta_{\varepsilon}(t) \;, \end{aligned}$$

the assertion is equivalent to the equality

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} \, \mathrm{d}\theta_{\varepsilon_n}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} \, \mathrm{d}\theta(t) \; .$$

For the proof of this equality we notice that if we wish to approximate this Riemann-Stieltjes (with a continuous one) by a Riemann sums, then it is enough to consider only partitions involving rational

points. For every rational partition P and for fixed  $z = x + i\varepsilon$  let  $U_P$ ,  $L_P$ ,  $U_{P,n}$  and  $L_{P,n}$  be the upper and lower sums of the integrals

$$J = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} \,\mathrm{d}\theta(t) , \quad J_n = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} \,\mathrm{d}\theta_{\varepsilon_n}(t) ,$$

that correspond to P. For every rational partition P we have that  $U_{P,n} \to U_P$  and  $L_{P,n} \to L_P$ . For every  $\delta > 0$  there exists a rational partition P for which  $U_P - L_P \leq \frac{\delta}{2}$ . For such P there is an  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $|U_{P,n} - U_P| \leq \frac{\delta}{2}$  and  $|L_{P,n} - L_P| \leq \frac{\delta}{2}$  for all  $n \geq n_0$ . Since  $L_{P,n} \leq J_n \leq U_{P,n}$  and  $L_P \leq J \leq U_P$ , it follows that  $|J - J_n| \leq \delta$  for  $n \geq n_0$ . Therefore  $J_n \to J$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Consequently, we have shown that for  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ 

Im 
$$f(z) = v(z) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{y}{(x-t)^2 + y^2} d\theta(t) = \text{Im } \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} d\theta(t) .$$

Since f and  $z\mapsto \int_{-\infty}^\infty (z-t)^{-1}\,\mathrm{d}\theta(t)$  are holomorphic in  $\mathbb{C}_+,$  we have

$$f(z) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \,\mathrm{d}\theta(t) + C \,,$$

with some  $C \in \mathbb{R}$ . Because  $|f(z) \operatorname{Im} (z)| \leq M$  and

$$\operatorname{Im}(z) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{z-t} \, \mathrm{d}\theta(t) \bigg| \le \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \, \mathrm{d}\theta(t) \le M \,, \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{C}_{+} \,,$$

we must have  $|C \operatorname{Im}(z)| \leq 2M$ , and thus C = 0. If we now define

$$\tilde{\theta} = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \theta(t + \delta) , \qquad \qquad w(t) = \tilde{\theta} - \lim_{s \to -\infty} \tilde{\theta}(s) ,$$

for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , then w satisfies the required properties. The passage from  $\theta$  to  $\tilde{\theta}$  does not prevent the integral formula above from holding, since  $\tilde{\theta}$  has at most countably many points of discontinuity and they can be avoided during the formation of the partitions. The passage from  $\tilde{\theta}$  to w does not influence the integral formula as well.

Now we can state the main spectral theorem about a self-adjoint operator A on a Hilbert space H. Its importance relies on the explicit representation formula presented for  $E^A(b)f - E^A(a)$  (for any  $a \leq b$  real), where  $E^A(t)$  is the unique spectral family associated to A such that  $A = \int_{\mathbb{R}} t \, dE^A(t)$ .

THEOREM 1.12. For any self-adjoint operator  $A : D(A) \subseteq H \longrightarrow H$ , there exists one and only one spectral family  $E^A(t)$  such that

$$A = \int_{\mathbb{R}} t \, \mathrm{d} E^A(t) \; .$$

Namely the family  $E^{A}(t)$  is given by

$$\left(g, E^{A}(b)f - E^{A}(a)f\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi\imath} \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{a+\delta}^{b+\delta} \sum_{\pm} \left(g, \left[A - (\lambda \pm \imath\varepsilon)\right]^{-1}f\right) \,\mathrm{d}\lambda \,, \tag{1.7.22}$$

for all  $f, g \in H$  and  $-\infty < a \le b < \infty$ .

**Proof.** We shall prove uniqueness first. If  $A = \hat{1}$ , then  $A - z = \widehat{1 - z}$  by Proposition 1.1(vii). Then for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  such that Im  $(z) \neq 0$  we have by Proposition 1.1(viii) that

$$(A-z)\hat{E}((t-z)^{-1})h = \hat{E}((1-z)(t-z)^{-1})h = h, \quad \forall h \in H,$$
  
$$\hat{E}((t-z)^{-1})(A-z)h = \hat{E}((t-z)^{-1}(1-z))h = h, \quad \forall h \in D(A)$$

Consequently,  $\hat{E}((t-z)^{-1}) = R_A(z)$  for all such z. This implies via Proposition 1.1(v) that

$$(h, R_A(z)h) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{t-z} \,\mathrm{d}\rho_h^{E^A}(t) \;,$$

for all  $h \in H$ . We can use Proposition 1.4, and obtain for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\begin{split} \left\| E^{A}(t)h \right\|_{H}^{2} &= \left(h, E^{A}(t)h\right) = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} -\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{t+\delta} \operatorname{Im} \left(f, R_{A}(s+\imath\varepsilon)h\right) \, \mathrm{d}s = \\ &= \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{2\pi\imath} \int_{-\infty}^{t+\delta} \left(f, \left[R_{A}(s-\imath\varepsilon) - R_{A}(s+\imath\varepsilon)\right]h\right) \, \mathrm{d}s \;, \end{split}$$

which gives (1.7.22) with the aid of the polarization formula. Since (1.7.22) holds for all  $f, g \in H$  the uniqueness has been proven.

Now we focus our attention to the existence. If there exists a spectral family  $E^A(t)$ , such that  $A = \int_{\mathbb{R}} t \, dE^A(t)$ , then (1.7.22) must hold. Therefore we study whether (1.7.22) defines a spectral family with such a property. For every  $h \in H$  the function  $F_h(z) = (h, R_A(z)h)$  satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 1.11, since  $F_h$  is holomorphic for Im (z) > 0 by Proposition 1.2 and we have

Im 
$$(F_h(z)) =$$
 Im  $(h, R_A(z)h) =$  Im  $((A - z)R_A(z)h, R_A(z)h) = ||R_A(z)h||_H^2$  Im  $(\overline{z}) < 0$ ,

for Im(z) > 0, and by Proposition 1.3

Im 
$$F_h(z)$$
 Im  $(z)| \le \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Im}(z)|} ||h||_H^2 ||\operatorname{Im}(z)| = ||h||_H^2$ 

Consequently

$$(h, R_A(z)h) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{z-t} \,\mathrm{d}w(h; t) ,$$
 (1.7.23)

where

$$w(h;t) = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{t+\delta} \left( h, \left[ R_A(s - i\varepsilon) - R_A(s + i\varepsilon) \right] h \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \, .$$

We notice that w(h;t) is a non-decreasing and right continuous function of t, and  $w(h;t) \to 0$  as  $t \to -\infty$ ,  $w(h;t) \leq ||h||_{H}^{2}$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Equation (1.7.23) holds for all  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  since  $(h, R_{A}(\overline{z})h) \leq (h, R_{A}(z)h)$ . Furthermore, we define

$$w(g,h;t) = \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{t+\delta} \left( g, \left[ R_A(s-i\varepsilon) - R_A(s+i\varepsilon) \right] h \right) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

whose existence follows by means of the polarization identity for the sesquilinear forme

$$(g,h) \mapsto (g, [R_A(s - \imath \varepsilon) - R_A(s + \imath \varepsilon)]h)$$

The mapping  $(g,h) \mapsto w(g,h;t)$  is a bounded non-negative sesquilinear form on H. The sesquilinearity is clear from the definition; moreover  $w(h,h;t) = w(h;t) \ge 0$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . The Schwarz inequality and the inequality  $w(h;t) \le \|f\|_{H}^{2}$  imply for all  $g,h \in H$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  that

$$|w(g,h;t)|^2 \le w(g;t)w(h;t) \le ||g||_H^2 ||h||_H^2$$
.

Therefore, by Riesz Representation Theorem there exists for every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  an operator  $E^A(t) \in \mathcal{B}(H)$  such that  $\|E^A(t)\|_{\mathcal{B}(H)} \leq 1$  and

$$(g, E^A(t)h) = w(g, h; t) \quad \forall g, h \in H$$

 $E^A(t)$  is self-adjoint, and  $E^A(t) \ge 0$ .

Now we show that  $E^A(t)$  is a spectral family. For this aim we first show that  $E^A(s)E^A(t) = E^A(\min(s,t))$  for any pair  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$ . From polarization identity it follows that for all  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  and for all  $h \in H$ 

$$(g, R_A(z)h) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{t-z} \, \mathrm{d}w(g, h; t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{t-z} \, \mathrm{d}\left(g, E^A(t)h\right) \,. \tag{1.7.24}$$

Consequently, the resolvent identity implies for all  $z, z' \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  with  $z \neq z'$ 

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{z-t} d\left(R_A\left(\overline{z'}\right)g, E(t)h\right) = \left(R_A(\overline{z'})g, R_A(z)f\right) = (g, R_A(z') R_A(z)f) =$$

$$= \frac{1}{z-z'} \left[(g, R_A(z)h) - (g, R_A(z')h)\right] = \frac{1}{z-z'} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[\frac{1}{t-z} - \frac{1}{t-z'}\right] d\left(g, E(t)h\right) =$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{(t-z)(t-z')} d\left(g, E(t)h\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{z-t} d_t \int_{-\infty}^t \frac{1}{z'-s} d\left(g, E^A(s)h\right) .$$

From Proposition 1.4 it follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{(s-z')} d_s \left( g, E^A(s) E^A(t) h \right) = \left( g, R_A(z') E^A(t) h \right) =$$
$$= \left( R_A(z'^*) g, E^A(t) h \right) = \int_{-\infty}^t \frac{1}{s-z'} d(g, E(s) h) .$$

Hence we get that for all  $f, g \in H$  and  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$  again by Proposition 1.4

$$(g, E(s)E(t)h) = \begin{cases} \left(g, E^A(s)h\right) & \text{if } s \le t\\ \left(g, E^A(t)h\right) & \text{if } s \ge t \end{cases},$$

which shows that  $E^A(s)E^A(t) = E^A(\min(s,t))$ . In particular  $E^A(t)^2 = E^A(t)$ . Therefore, the  $E^A(t)$ 's are orthogonal projections for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $E^A(s) \le E^A(t)$  for  $s \le t$  (where the inequality in meant to be in the sense of self-adjoint operators). Thus 1.4 (i) and 1.4(ii) are satisfied. The right continuity 1.4(iii) follows from the formula

$$\left\| E^{A}(t+\varepsilon)h - E^{A}(t)h \right\|_{H}^{2} = \left\| E^{A}(t+\varepsilon)h \right\|_{H}^{2} - \left\| E^{A}(t)h \right\|_{H}^{2} = w(h;t+\varepsilon) - w(h;t) \to 0$$

as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  since  $w(h; \cdot)$  is right continuous. Moreover,  $\|E^A(t)h\|_H^2 = w(h;t) \to 0$  as  $t \to -\infty$ , hence  $E^A(t) \to \mathbf{0}$  as  $t \to -\infty$ . As  $E^A(\cdot)$  is monotone, it must converge to an orthogonal projection  $E^A(\infty)$  as  $t \to \infty$ . We have

$$(h, E^A(\infty)h) = \lim_{s \to -\infty} (h, E^A(s)h) \ge (h, E^A(t)h)$$

Consequently,  $E^A(\infty) \ge E^A(t)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $F = \mathbf{1} - E^A(\infty)$ . Then

$$E^{A}(t)F = E(t) \left(\mathbf{1} - E^{A}(\infty)\right) = E^{A}(t) - E^{A}(t) = 0$$

It follows from this for all  $g, h \in H$ , Im  $(z) \neq 0$  that

$$(g, R_A(z)Fh) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{t-z} d(g, R_A(t)Fh) = 0.$$

Hence  $R_A(z)Fh = 0$  for all  $h \in H$ , and thus F = 0. That is  $E^A(\infty) = 1$  and proves 1.4(iv).

We conclude our proof observing that  $R_A(z) = \hat{E}((t-z)^{-1})$  by (1.7.24), and this implies that  $\hat{E}(1-z) = z - A$  and  $\hat{E}(1) = A$  (Proposition 1.1(viii) and 1.1(vii) respectively).

The Spectral Theorem 1.12 is the key tool in the introduction of the **functional calculus** on an Hilbert space H. There exist several methods to introduce the functional calculus associated to a given self-adjoint operator, but we keep on following [**221**] (see Chapter VII in [**160**] for an alternative approach).

It is possible to show that the operators F(A) depend only on the values of F on the spectrum of the operator A. For this reason in the sequel we will use the following equivalent notations:

$$F(A) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}E^A(t) = \int_{\sigma(A)} F(t) \, \mathrm{d}E^A(t) \;,$$

where  $\sigma(A) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  denotes the spectrum of the self-adjoint operator A.

#### 8. Some Interpolation Results

We start this section by a theorem important in the complex interpolation consequence of Three Lines Lemma 1.6. To formulate this theorem we shall denote by  $\mathcal{L}(A, B)$  the Banach space of bounded operators from a Banach space A into the Banach space B.

Given any positive real numbers  $p_0, p_1$  with  $1 \le p_0 < p_1 \le \infty$ , we denote by  $L^{p_0}(\mathbf{R}^n) + L^{p_1}(\mathbf{R}^n)$  the linear space

$$\{f: f = f_0 + f_1, f_0 \in L^{p_0}(\mathbf{R}^n), f_1 \in L^{p_1}(\mathbf{R}^n)\}.$$

The norm in this space we define as follows

$$||f||_{L^{p_0}+L^{p_1}} = \inf_{f=f_0+f_1} ||f_0||_{L^{p_0}} + ||f_1||_{L^{p_1}}.$$

Here the infimum is taken over all representations  $f = f_0 + f_1$ , where  $f_0 \in L^{p_0}(\mathbf{R}^n)$  and  $f_1 \in L^{p_1}(\mathbf{R}^n)$ .

It is easy to see that  $L^{p_0} + L^{p_1}$  is a Banach space.

#### THEOREM 1.13. (Stein interpolation theorem, see [160])

Suppose  $1 \le p_0, p_1, q_0, q_1 \le \infty, T(z)$  is a continuous function from the strip  $0 \le \text{Re}z \le 1$  into  $L(L^{p_0} + L^{p_1}; L^{q_0} + L^{q_1})$ , holomorphic for 0 < Rez < 1 and satisfying the properties

$$||T(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p_0};L^{q_0})} \le C \exp(C|\mathbf{Im}z|) \text{ for } \mathbf{Re}z = 0,$$
(1.8.25)

$$||T(z)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^{p_1};L^{q_1})} \le C \exp(C|\mathbf{Im}z|)$$
 for  $\mathbf{Re}z = 1.$  (1.8.26)

Then for any  $\theta \in (0,1)$  we have

$$||T(\theta)||_{\mathcal{L}(L^p;L^q)} \le C,$$

where

$$\frac{1}{p} = (1-\theta)\frac{1}{p_0} + \theta\frac{1}{p_1} , \ \frac{1}{q} = (1-\theta)\frac{1}{q_0} + \theta\frac{1}{q_1}.$$
(1.8.27)

The **convolution** of f and g, defined as

$$f * g(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x - y)g(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \,, \qquad (1.8.28)$$

plays a crucial role in the study of partial differential equation, therefore it turns out to be very important to investigate for some a-priori estimates for this kind of operation.

A standard tool at this aim are the interpolation theory for Lebesgue spaces, whose main result is represented by the following theorems: (see [20, Theorem 1.1.1]).

THEOREM 1.14 (Riesz-Thorin). Assume  $p_1 \neq p_2$  and  $q_1 \neq q_2$ , and that T is a bounded operator acting on the following spaces:

$$T: L^{p_1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L^{q_1}(\mathbb{R}^n) ,$$
$$T: L^{p_2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L^{q_2}(\mathbb{R}^n) .$$

with operator norm respectively  $M_1$ , and  $M_2$  respectively. Then T is a bounded operator for the spaces

$$T: L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \longrightarrow L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) , \qquad (1.8.29)$$

with norm  $M = M_1^{\theta} M_2^{1-\theta}$ , provided that  $0 < \theta < 1$ , and  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{\theta}{p_1} + \frac{1-\theta}{p_2}$ ,  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{\theta}{q_1} + \frac{1-\theta}{q_2}$ .



FIGURE 1.2 Interpolation exponents.

Note that Riesz-Thorin interpolation theorem is a trivial corollary of this complex interpolation theorem. Indeed an easy consequence of this result is the **Hausdorff-Young estimate**, that we state as follows. If  $p, q, r \in [1, \infty]$  are such that  $1 + \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$ , then

$$\|f * g\|_{L^r} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p} \|g\|_{L^q} , \qquad (1.8.30)$$

for any  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $g \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Using duality arguments, one can obtain a bilinear version of the Hausdorff-Young estimate, namely for  $p, q \in [1, \infty]$ 

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (f * g)(x) h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \lesssim \|f\|_{L^s} \, \|g\|_{L^q} \, \|h\|_{L^p} \, , \tag{1.8.31}$$

for any  $f \in L^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $h \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $g \in L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , where the exponent s is defined by  $n + \frac{n}{p'} = \frac{n}{s} + \frac{n}{q}$ .

#### 8.1. Interpolation for sequences with values in Banach spaces. (see [20], [204])

Of special interest for applications is the abstract interpolation for the space  $l_q(A)$ . Given any Banach space A, we denote by  $l_q(A)$  the linear space of all sequences  $(a_k)_{k=0}^{\infty}$ ,  $a_k \in A$ , such that the norm

$$\|(a_k)\|_{l_q(A)} = (\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \|(a_k)\|_A^q)^{1/q}$$
(1.8.32)

is bounded. For  $q = \infty$ , the corresponding norm is

$$\|a_k\|_{l_{\infty}(A)} = \sup_k \|a_k\|_A.$$
(1.8.33)

For  $1 \le q \le \infty$  the space  $l_q(A)$  is a Banach space.

The main result of this section is the following interpolation result for spaces of sequences.

THEOREM 1.15. (see Section 5.6 in [20]) Let  $A_1 \subset A_0$  be dense in  $A_0$ . Then for  $1 < q, q_0, q_1 < \infty$ , satisfying

$$1/q = (1-\theta)/q_0 + \theta/q_1$$

with some  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$(l_{q_0}(A_0), l_{q_1}(A_1))_{\theta} = l_q((A_0, A_1)_{\theta}),$$
(1.8.34)

For the proof and more details we refer to [63].

Further, given any real number s, we denote by  $l_q^s(A)$  the linear space of all sequences  $(a_k)_{k=0}^{\infty}, a_k \in A$ , such that the norm

$$\|(a_k)\|_{l^s_q(A)} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{ksq} \|a_k\|_A^q\right)^{1/q}$$
(1.8.35)

is bounded. For  $1 \le q < \infty$  the space  $l_a^s(A)$  is a Banach space.

Then we have the following result for the complex interpolation (see Section 5.6 in [20]).

$$(l_{q_0}^{s_0}(A_0), l_{q_1}^{s_1}(A_1))_{\theta} = l_q^s((A_0, A_1)_{\theta}),$$
(1.8.36)

where

$$1/q = (1 - \theta)/q_0 + \theta/q_1$$
,  $s = (1 - \theta)s_0 + \theta s_1$ 

and moreover  $1 \leq q_0, q_1 < \infty$ .

## 9. Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev Inequality

The convolutions we are interested in involve singular kernels as functions g of the form  $g(x) = |x|^{-\gamma}$ , which do not belong to any Lebesgue space  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for any  $q \in [1, \infty]$ . Nevertheless a generalization of this kind of estimate can be achieved and it is given by the following result.

THEOREM 1.16 (Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev Inequality). Let  $0 < \gamma < n$  and 1 be such that

$$n - \gamma + \frac{n}{q} = \frac{n}{p} . \tag{1.9.37}$$

Then there exists a constant  $C = C(n, p, q, \gamma)$  such that the following estimate

$$\left\| \left| \cdot \right|^{-\gamma} * f \right\|_{L^{q}} \le C \left\| f \right\|_{L^{p}}$$
(1.9.38)

holds for any  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality was proved in one-dimension in [80] and [81], and then extended to any dimension in [180]. Sharp values for the constant  $C(n, p, q, \gamma)$  have been studied in [129]. In the literature there exist many different proofs of such estimate, and their techniques apparently look quite different from each other (see [185], [82] and [130]).

It is possible to have a bilinear version of the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality using standard dual arguments,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{f(x)g(y)}{|x-y|^{\gamma}} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p} \, \|g\|_{L^q}$$
(1.9.39)

whenever  $n - \gamma + \frac{n}{q'} = \frac{n}{p}$  and  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $g \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . To complete this section we state also the following Hardy, Littlewood inequality involved the Fourier transform (see [63]).

THEOREM 1.17. (Hardy, Littlewood inequality) Let  $m(\xi) = c|\xi|^{-\gamma}$  and consider the operator

$$I(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} m(\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) d\xi.$$

*Prove that for* 1*and* $<math>1/p - 1/q = \gamma/n$  *this operator can be extended as a bounded* operator from  $L^p$  to  $L^q$ .

# 10. $TT^*$ Method

Suppose we have an operator  $T: D(T) \subset \mathcal{B} \longrightarrow H$ , where H is an Hilbert space,  $\mathcal{B}$  is a Banach space, and  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  the domain of T densely contained in  $\mathcal{B}$ . The adjoint operator  $T^*: H \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}(T)^*$  is defined by

$$\langle T^*h, F \rangle = (h, TF) , \forall h \in H , \forall F \in \mathcal{D}(T) ,$$

where the  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the action of  $\mathcal{B}^*$  on  $\mathcal{B}$ , and  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  the inner product of H. We observe here that in this case it makes sense to consider the composition operator  $T^*T: \mathcal{D}(T) \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}^*$ . We shall also introduce  $B: \mathcal{D}(T) \times \mathcal{D}(T) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ , the bilinear operator associated to T, defined by

$$B(F,G) = (TF,TG)$$
,  $\forall F,G \in \mathcal{B}$ .

The so-called  $TT^*$  method is indeed the equivalence of the boundedness of the operators  $T, T^*$ , and  $T^*T$ , and B, defined above. The results is stated in the following theorem (see Lemma 2.1 in [72] or see [75]).

THEOREM 1.18. Let  $T, T^*, T^*T$  and B the operators defined as above. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) there exists a constant M > 0 such that  $||TF||_H \le M ||F||_{\mathcal{B}}$ , for all  $F \in \mathcal{D}(T)$ ,
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}(T^*) \subset \mathcal{B}^*$  and there exists a constant M > 0 such that  $||T^*h||_{\mathcal{B}^*} \leq M ||h||_H$ , for all  $h \in H$ ,
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}(T^*) \subset \mathcal{B}^*$  and there exists a constant M > 0 such that  $||T^*TF||_{\mathcal{B}^*} \leq M^2 ||F||_{\mathcal{B}}$ , for all  $F \in \mathcal{B}$ ,

(4) there exists a constant M > 0 such that  $|B(F,G)| \le M^2 ||F||_{\mathcal{B}} ||G||_{\mathcal{B}}$ , for all  $F, G \in \mathcal{B}$ .

If one of (all) those conditions is (are) satisfied, the operators T,  $T^*T$  and B extend by continuity to bounded operators from B and from  $\mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B}$  to H respectively.

**Proof.** (1)  $\Longrightarrow$  (2). From the fact that  $\mathcal{D}(T)$  is densely contained in  $\mathcal{B}$ , it follows that  $\mathcal{B}^*$  is a subspace of  $\mathcal{D}(T)^*$ . By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and (1) we have for any  $F \in \mathcal{D}(T)$ 

$$|\langle T^*h, F \rangle| = |(h, TF)| \le ||h||_H ||TF||_B \le ||h||_H M ||F||_B$$
.

(2)  $\Longrightarrow$  (1). If  $F \in \mathcal{D}(T)$  by (2) we have

$$|(h, TF)| = |\langle T^*h, F \rangle| \le ||T^*h||_{\mathcal{B}^*} ||F||_{\mathcal{B}} \le M ||h||_H ||F||_{\mathcal{B}}, \quad \forall h \in H.$$

(1)  $\implies$  (3). We have already showed that (1) implies (2). Then it is clear that the composition operator  $T^*T$  has norm bounded by  $M^2$ .

(3)  $\Longrightarrow$  (1). Let  $F \in \mathcal{D}(T)$ . Then (3) implies

$$||TF||_{H}^{2} = (TF, TF) = \langle F, T^{*}TF \rangle \leq M^{2} ||F||_{B}^{2}$$

(3)  $\Longrightarrow$  (4). Let  $F, G \in \mathcal{B}$ . Then by (3) we have

$$|B(F,G)| = |(TF,TG)| = |\langle T^*TF,G \rangle| \le ||TT^*F||_{\mathcal{B}^*} ||G||_{\mathcal{B}} \le M^2 ||F||_{\mathcal{B}} ||G||_{\mathcal{B}}$$

(4)  $\Longrightarrow$  (3). Let  $F \in \mathcal{B}$  By (3) we have that for any  $G \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$|\langle T^*TF, G \rangle| = |(TF, TG)| = |B(F, G)| \le M^2 ||F||_{\mathcal{B}} ||G||_{\mathcal{B}},$$

that concludes the proof of the Theorem.

## 11. Paley-Littlewood Partition of Unity

A very important tool in harmonic analysis is represented by localizing functions in the phase space in dyadic annuluses. Let  $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be a function such that  $\eta(\xi) = 1$  whenever  $|\xi| \leq 1$ , and  $\eta(\xi) = 0$  when  $|\xi| \geq 2$ . Thus we define  $\phi(\xi) = \eta(\xi) - \eta(2\xi)$ , in such a way that supp  $(\phi) \subset \{2^{-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2\}$ . Then for any integer number j we set

$$\phi_j(\xi) = \phi\left(\frac{\xi}{2^j}\right) . \tag{1.11.40}$$

It turns out that the  $\phi_j$ 's are  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  functions, supported in  $2^{j-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{j+1}$ , and moreover  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi_j(\xi) = 1$  for any  $\xi \neq 0$ . The resulting dyadic partition of unity  $\{\phi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$  is called the **Paley-Littlewood partition of unity**. We shall also call **dyadic multiplicative operators**  $S_j$  the multiplicative operators defined by

$$\widehat{S}_{j}\widehat{f}(\xi) = \phi_{j}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi) ,$$
 (1.11.41)

in such a way that the following dyadic decomposition  $f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S_j f$  holds for any tempered distribution f.

We observe here that for any integer j, the operator  $S_j$  is bounded from  $L^p$  into itself for all  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , since  $S_j$  is a convolution operator with kernel  $\check{\phi}_j$ , and from Haussdorff-Young inequality (1.8.30) we have

$$\left\|S_{j}f\right\|_{L^{p}} \le C_{p} \left\|f\right\|_{L^{p}}$$

where the constant  $C_p = \|\check{\phi_j}\|_{L^1}$  does not depend on j (since we have  $\|\check{\phi_j}\|_{L^1} \le \|\check{\phi}\|_{L^1}$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ). By Plancherel's Theorem we have for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the following identity:

$$\|f\|_{L^2}^2 = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|S_j f\|_{L^2}^2 \,. \tag{1.11.42}$$

Therefore our main goal is to establish the analogous of (1.11.42) in any  $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  space. We shall see that the key role is played by the function defined below.

DEFINITION 1.5. We shall call  $l^2$  norm function the (non-linear) operator

$$Sf(x) = \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |S_j f(x)|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} ,$$

The key result of this Section indeed states that Sf and f itself are equivalent with respect to the  $L^p$  norm for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$ . The proof of such an equivalence relies on the so-called **Calderon-Zygmund operators**, which turn out to map any  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into itself. The precise definition of such operators can be found in [185] (the original paper is due to [34]), nevertheless we shall only need the following sufficient conditions

(1) K is a convolution operator  $K : L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; H_1) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; H_2)$  where  $H_1, H_2$  are Hilbert spaces, in the form

$$Kf = k * f$$
,  $\forall f \in H_1$ ,

where the kernel k is a measurable function  $k : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow H_2$ ;

(2) the kernel k of K is a Fourier multiplier of class  $C^{l}(\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus 0)$ , with  $l > \frac{n}{2}$ , and it satisfies

$$\left\|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\hat{k}\right\|_{H_{2}} \lesssim \left|\xi\right|^{-\left|\alpha\right|} , \ \forall \left|\alpha\right| \le l.$$
(1.11.43)

Now we are ready to state the main theorem.

THEOREM 1.19. For any  $1 there exists a constant <math>C_p > 0$  such that

$$C_p^{-1} \|f\|_{L^p} \le \|Sf\|_{L^p} \le C_p \|f\|_{L^p} , \quad \forall f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) .$$
(1.11.44)

**Proof.** We first show by duality arguments that the first inequality in (1.11.44) follows from the second one. Indeed using Plancherel Theorem and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, and observing that

 $\phi_j \phi_k = 0$  unless  $j \approx k$  we get

$$\int f(x)g(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \approx \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \hat{f}(\xi)\hat{g}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{j,k\in\mathbb{Z}} \widehat{S_jf}(\xi)\widehat{S_kg}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi \approx$$
$$\approx \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{j\approx k} S_jf(x)S_kg(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |S_jf(x)|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} |S_kg(x)|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}x \le$$
$$\leq \|Sf\|_{L^p} \, \|Sg\|_{L^{p'}} \le C_{p'} \, \|Sf\|_{L^p} \, \|g\|_{L^{p'}} \, .$$

We claim that the operator  $K: L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; l^2(\mathbb{C}))$  defined by

$$(K)_j = S_j f \; ,$$

is a Calderon-Zygmund operator. Indeed the condition (1) is fulfilled choosing  $H_1 = \mathbb{C}$ ,  $H_2 = l^2(\mathbb{C})$ , and observing that Kf = k \* f, where  $k : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow l^2(\mathbb{C})$  is defined by  $k_j = \phi_j$ . Condition (2) is guaranteed by the smoothness of the localizing functions  $\phi_j$ 's, and the following estimate. For any  $\xi \neq 0$  actually only three dyadic components are not null, and we have

$$\left\|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}m\right\|_{l^{2}} = \left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\phi\left(\frac{\xi}{2^{j}}\right)\right|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(2^{-j|\alpha|}\left|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\phi(\xi)\right|\right)^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim |\xi|^{-|\alpha|} \left\|\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha}\phi\right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

that is exactly (1.11.43) with  $l = \infty$  (using  $|xi| \approx 2^j$  in the support of  $\phi_j$ ). Hence, as we remarked above, K is a bounded operator from  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{C})$  to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n; l^2(\mathbb{C}))$ , in other words

$$\|Kf\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n};l^{2}(\mathbb{C}))} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{p}} .$$
  
Our thesis follows observing that  $\|Kf\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n};l^{2}(\mathbb{C}))} = \|\|Kf\|_{l^{2}}\|_{L^{p}} = \|Sf\|_{L^{p}}.$ 

The following corollary shows how the norms of  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} S_j f$  and f itself are related to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  space. The importance of that kind of relations relies in the fact that it influences the embedding of spaces built throughout the dyadic multiplicative operators (as the Besov, or the homogeneous Sobolev spaces) in usual Lebesgue spaces, as we shall see in the sequel.

COROLLARY 1.1. Let  $2 \le p < \infty$ . Then we have

$$\|f\|_{L^p}^2 \le C_p \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|S_j f\|_{L^p}^2 \quad . \tag{1.11.45}$$

Let 1 . Then we have

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|S_j f\|_{L^p}^2 \le C_p \|f\|_{L^p}^2 .$$
(1.11.46)

**Proof.** In the first case, if  $\frac{p}{2} \ge 1$ , from Theorem 1.19 and Minkowski inequality we have

$$\|f\|_{L^p}^2 \le C_p \left\| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |S_j f|^2 \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2}}} \le \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| |S_j f|^2 \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2}}} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| S_j f \right\|_{L^p}^2 \,.$$

On the other hand, if  $\frac{1}{2} < \frac{p}{2} \le 1$ , Theorem 1.19 and the reversed Minkowski inequality give

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}}^{2} \ge C_{p}^{-1} \left\| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |S_{j}f|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2}}} \ge \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| |S_{j}f|^{2} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p}{2}}} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| S_{j}f \right\|_{L^{p}}^{2} .$$

REMARK 1.2. The **reversed Minkowski inequality** involved in the last proof is meant as the following inequality

$$\left\| \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\phi_j| \right\|_{L^q} \ge \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|\phi_j\|_{L^q} , \quad \forall \ 0 < q < 1.$$
(1.11.47)

**Proof.** In order to prove (1.11.47), we set  $p = \frac{1}{q} \ge 1$  and  $\psi_j = |\phi_j|^q$ . Then by Minkowski inequality we get

$$\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|\phi_j\|_{L^q}\right)^q = \left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}|\psi_j| \, \mathrm{d}x\right)^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}}\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}|\psi_j|^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \, \mathrm{d}x = \left\|\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}|\phi_j|\right\|_{L^q}^q \, .$$

The final proposition shows how we do control the norm of a function f in the homogeneous Sobolev spaces  $\dot{H}_p^{\gamma}$  in terms of the sum of the  $L^p$  norm of the dyadic components  $S_j f$ .

**PROPOSITION 1.6.** Let  $p \in [2, \infty)$  and  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then there exists a constant  $C_{p,\gamma}$  such that

$$C_{p,\gamma}^{-1}\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{pj\gamma} \|S_j f\|_{L^p}^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le \|f\|_{\dot{H}_p^{\gamma}} \le C_{p,\gamma}\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{2j\gamma} \|S_j f\|_{L^p}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Let  $p \in (1,2]$  and  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then there exists a constant  $C_{p,\gamma}$  such that

$$C_{p,\gamma}^{-1}\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{2j\gamma} \|S_j f\|_{L^p}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \|f\|_{\dot{H}_p^{\gamma}} \le C_{p,\gamma}\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{pj\gamma} \|S_j f\|_{L^p}^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

If we are in the situation described in the proof of Corollary 5.1, once a homogeneous estimate on the dyadic components of the form

$$\|S_j u\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} \lesssim 2^{j\gamma} \|S_j u_1\|_{L^2}$$

has been achieved, then by observing that  $2^{j\gamma} \|S_j u_1\|_{L^2} = \|\partial^{\gamma} S_j u_1\|_{L^2} = \|S_j u_1\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}}$ , Corollary 1.1 and Proposition 1.6 give precisely

$$\|u\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} \lesssim \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|S_j u\|^2_{L^q_t L^r_x}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \|S_j u_1\|^2_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \approx \|u_1\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}} , \ \forall r \in [2, \infty).$$

A similar argument can be used for the estimate with respect to the source term F. Notice that the failure of the Proposition 1.6 for  $q = \infty$  explains also the lack of  $r, \tilde{r} = \infty$  in the hypothesis of the Corollary 5.1 and the remark pointed out in Footnote 1.

# CHAPTER 2

# **Resolvent Estimates**

In this chapter we shall focus our attention to the free Laplace operator  $H_0 = -\Delta$  and some suitable perturbation of  $H_0$ , that we shall denote  $H_V = -\Delta + V(x, D)$ . It will be interesting to investigate which kind of a-priori estimates these operators satisfy, and consequently their domains and their ranges.

It will be also interesting to study how the resolvent estimates for  $H_V$  may be derived from those of  $H_0$ .

# 1. The Limiting Absorption Principle

**1.1. The Free Case.** We denote by  $H_0 = -\Delta$  the free Laplacian on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We observe here that  $H_0$  is a self-adjoint operator on the domain  $\mathcal{D}(H_0) = H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; on the other hand, as far as its (real) spectrum is concerned, we have that  $\sigma(H_0) = \sigma_c(H_0) = \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$  (see [113]). We shall also denote by  $R_0(z) = (H_0 - z)^{-1}$  the resolvent operator associated to  $H_0$ , in such a way that we can define the mapping

$$R_{0}: \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{R}}_{+} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), H^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right) , \qquad (2.1.1)$$

where  $\mathcal{B}(L^2(\mathbb{R}^n), H^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$  is the set of all bounded operators from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The operator (2.1.1) turns out to be analytic with respect to the complex variable z outside  $\sigma(H_0)$ . In order to extend it on  $\sigma(H_0)$  we have to weaken its definition, namely the spaces involved in the target operator space.

At this aim we introduce the weighted Hilbert space  $H_r^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$\|u\|_{H^m_r}^2 = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \|\langle x \rangle^r D^\alpha u\|_{L^2}^2 , \quad \forall m \in \mathbb{N} , \ r \in \mathbb{R} ,$$

$$(2.1.2)$$

where the weight  $\langle x \rangle$  is given by the norm  $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1 + |x|^2}$ . From the definition of the norms (2.1.2) we get the following imbedding

$$H_{r_1}^m(\mathbb{R}^n) \subseteq H_{r_2}^m(\mathbb{R}^n) , \quad \text{if } r_2 \le r_1 , \qquad (2.1.3)$$

therefore the map  $z \mapsto R_0(z)$  wich is defined above keeps on being analytic even if we re-define it in the spaces

$$R_0: \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L^2_s\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right), H^2_{-s}\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)\right), \qquad s > \frac{1}{2}.$$
(2.1.1<sub>E</sub>)

Now it makes sense to investigate whether it may be possible to extend the resolvent mapping  $(2.1.1_E)$  on the real positive half-line, that is on values of the continuous spectrum of  $H_0$  in the limit as  $z \to \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$  through one of the two half-planes  $\mathbb{C}_{\pm} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \pm \text{Im} (z) > 0\}$ . We shall show that the answer is positive, and such a procedure is called **limiting absorption principle**.

The main tool is represented by  $L^2$ -weighted a priori estimates for the  $H^2_{-s}$  norm of a function u in terms of the  $L^2_s$  norm of  $(-\Delta - z)u$  provided z is in some compact set, and  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ . The following Theorem (see Appendix A in [5]) gives such a result for a general **elliptic** operator  $P(D) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} a_\alpha D^\alpha$  wich is of **principal type** (see, for example, [87] for the definition), and we shall apply it to  $-\Delta$ . We recall here that  $\lambda$  is said to be a **critical value** of P if for some  $\xi_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $P(\xi_0) = \lambda$  and  $\nabla P(\xi_0) = 0$  and that the set of the critical value of P, here denoted by  $\Lambda(P)$ , is finite. We also denote by  $P_m = \sum_{|\alpha|=m} a_\alpha D^\alpha$  be the principal part of P.

THEOREM 2.1. Let P(D) be an elliptic differential operator with constant coefficients of order mand of principal type. Denote by  $\Lambda_c(P)$  the set of critical values of P, and let K be a compact set in  $\mathbb{C} \setminus \Lambda_c(P)$ . Then there exists a constant C such that the following estimate holds

$$\|u\|_{H^m} \le C \|(P(D) - z)u\|_{L^2_{\tau}}, \qquad (2.1.4)$$

for any  $z \in K$ , and any  $u \in H^m_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , provided  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ .

We shall also need the introduction of the trace operator of a function in some Sobolev space  $H^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$  over the sphere  $\mathbb{S}^n$ . The following result guaranties then existence of such an operator under the assumption  $r \geq \frac{1}{2}$  for any sufficiently smooth n-1 dimensional manifold embedded in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (see [185] or [135] p. 44 for the case  $r > \frac{1}{2}$ ).

THEOREM 2.2. Let  $\Gamma$  be a compact n-1 dimensional  $C^{\infty}$  manifold imbedded in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let  $d\sigma$  be the measure induced on  $\Gamma$  by the Lebesgue measure dx, and denote by  $L^2(\Gamma)$  the class of  $L^2$  functions on  $\Gamma$  with respect to the measure  $d\sigma$ . For any given  $r \geq \frac{1}{2}$ , there exists a bounded linear map

$$\tau: H^r\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right) \longrightarrow L^2\left(\Gamma\right) \tag{2.1.5}$$

such  $\tau u = u|_{\Gamma}$  for any  $u \in H^r(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

We now present the main result (we shall refer to [5], but a different proof can be found in [94] and [17]), which states the existence of the lower and the upper limits of our resolvent operator  $R_0(z)$  on the positive real half-line.

THEOREM 2.3. Let  $s > \frac{1}{2}$  be a real number. Then

(i) for any  $\lambda^2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$  the following limits

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} R_0(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon) = R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$$
(2.1.6)

exist in the space  $\mathcal{B}\left(L^2_s\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right), H^2_{-s}\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)\right)$  equipped with the uniform operator topology;

(ii) for any  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\lambda^2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , the function  $u = R^{\pm}_0(\lambda^2)f$  satisfies the differential equation

$$\left(-\Delta - \lambda^2\right) \ u = f \ ; \tag{2.1.7}$$

(iii) the following formula

Im 
$$\left( \langle R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) f, f \rangle \right) = \pm \frac{\pi}{2\lambda} \int_{|\xi|=\lambda} \left| \left( \tau \hat{f} \right) (\xi) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_\lambda$$
 (2.1.8)

holds for any function  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\tau$  is the trace operator (given by Theorem 2.2) on the sphere  $|\xi| = \lambda$ .

**Proof.** Let  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ , and  $f, g \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We shall show that the analytic function  $F : \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $F(z) = \langle R_0(z)f, g \rangle$  admits unique continuous (upper and lower) extensions on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . From Theorem 2.1 we have (for K > 1)

$$||R_0(z)f||_{H^2_{-s}} \lesssim ||f||_{L^2_s}$$
,  $\forall f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $\frac{1}{K} \le |z| \le K$ ,

hence by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the natural imbedding of  $H^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  in  $L^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we get

$$|\langle R_0(z)f,g\rangle| \le ||R_0(z)f||_{L^2_{*}} ||g||_{L^2_{*}} \le ||R_0(z)f||_{H^2_{*}} ||g||_{L^2_{*}} \lesssim ||f||_{L^2_{*}} ||g||_{L^2_{*}},$$

for any couple f and g in  $L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , in the annulus  $\frac{1}{K} \leq |z| \leq K$ . By a density argument we can restrict our attention to f and  $g \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . By Parseval's Theorem we have for  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$ 

$$\langle R_0(z)f,g\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\hat{f}(\xi)}{|\xi|^2 - z} \overline{\hat{g}}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi = \int_0^\infty \frac{t^{n-1}}{t^2 - z} \int_{\mathbb{S}^n} \hat{f}(t\omega) \overline{\hat{g}}(t\omega) \, \mathrm{d}\omega \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}\tau$$

switching to polar coordinates  $\xi = t\omega$ , where  $t = |\xi| > 0$  and  $\omega = \frac{\xi}{|\xi|} \in \mathbb{S}^n$ .

Residue calculus (see **[9**]) can now be used to consider the complex integral

$$I_{\varepsilon}^{\pm} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}(\eta) \, \mathrm{d}\eta \; ,$$

where

$$F_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}(\eta) = \frac{\eta^{n-1}}{\eta^2 - (\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon)} \int_{\mathbb{S}^n} \hat{f}(\eta\omega) \overline{\hat{g}}(\eta\omega) \, \mathrm{d}\omega \; .$$

We can restrict our attention to the + case ( $z = \lambda^2 + i\varepsilon$ ), and decompose  $I_{\varepsilon}^+$  into five parts (see the Figure 1).



FIGURE 2.1 Curves and poles.

If  $z_{\pm}(\lambda, \varepsilon)$  denote the roots of  $\lambda^2 + i\varepsilon$  with positive and negative real part respectively, and if  $\varepsilon$  tend to zero, then we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} I_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}(R) = \pi \imath \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \sum_{\pm} (\pm) \operatorname{Res} \left( F_{\varepsilon}^{+}(\eta), z_{\pm}(\lambda, \varepsilon) \right) + \operatorname{PV} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} F_{0}^{\pm}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \; ,$$

Observing that the residues of the meromorphic function  $F_{\varepsilon}^{\pm}(\eta)$  in the poles  $z_{\pm}(\lambda,\varepsilon)$  are given by

$$\operatorname{Res}\left(F_{\varepsilon}^{+}(\eta), z_{\pm}\left(\lambda, \varepsilon\right)\right) = \frac{\lambda^{n-1}}{2z_{\pm}(\lambda, \varepsilon)} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n}} \hat{f}(\lambda\omega) \overline{\hat{g}}(\lambda\omega) \, \mathrm{d}\omega$$

we achieve the existence of the continuous (upper) boundary values, that is,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \langle R_0(\lambda^2 + \imath \varepsilon) f, g \rangle = \frac{\pi \imath}{2\lambda} \int_{|\xi| = \lambda} \hat{f}(\xi) \overline{\hat{g}}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_\lambda + \operatorname{PV} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\hat{f}(\xi)}{|\xi|^2 - \lambda^2} \overline{\hat{g}}(\xi) \, \mathrm{d}\xi \,, \tag{2.1.9}$$

since  $z_{\pm}(\lambda,\varepsilon) \to \pm \lambda$  as  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ . In other words, we can state that there exist the two weak limits

$$R_0(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon)f \to R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)f , \qquad (2.1.10)$$

for any  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We observe here that  $R_0(z)f$  is bounded near  $\lambda^2$  if it is considered as a function with values in  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , hence from Banach-Alaoglu Theorem (see [162]) we can conclude that (2.1.10) holds for any  $H^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . It turns out that  $R^{\pm}_0(\lambda)f$  is in  $\mathcal{B}\left(L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n), H^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)$  for  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ .

We prove now that the limits exists in a stronger sense, as well. We denote with  $\widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$  the domains defined by  $\widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm} = \mathbb{C}_{\pm} \cup \mathbb{R}_{+}$ , and we keep on denoting with  $R_{0}^{\pm} : \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L_{s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), H_{-s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right)$  the map defined by

$$R_0^{\pm}(z) = \begin{cases} R_0(z) & \text{if} & \pm \operatorname{Im} z > 0\\ R_0^{\pm}(\lambda) & \text{if} & z = \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+ \end{cases}$$

Using the norm equivalence  $\|u\|_{H^2_{-s}} \simeq \|(1-\Delta) u\|_{L^2_{-s}} \simeq \|u\|_{L^2_{-s}} + \|\Delta u\|_{L^2_{-s}}$  and the relation  $-\Delta R_0^{\pm}(\lambda) = 1 + zR_0^{\pm}(\lambda)$ , we are able to restrict our attention to the space  $\mathcal{B}\left(L^2_s\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right), L^2_{-s}\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)\right)$  without loss of generality.

Let  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ , and  $z_0 \in \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$ . We first observe that (2.1.10) holds also in the strong topology of  $\mathcal{B}\left(L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n), L^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)$ , using RellichDKondrachov Compactness Theorem (see Section 5.7 in [57]). Next we observe that if  $\{z_j\} \subseteq \mathbb{C}_{\pm}$  and  $\{f_j\} \subseteq L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are sequences such that  $z_j \to z_0$  and  $f_j \to f \in L^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then

$$R_0^{\pm}(z_j)f_j \to R_0^{\pm}(z_0)f \quad \text{in } L^2_{-s}\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)$$
. (2.1.11)

Indeed, for any  $g \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ 

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \langle R_0^{\pm}(z_j) f_j, g \rangle = \lim_{j \to \infty} \langle f_j, R_0^{\mp}(\overline{z}_j) g \rangle = \langle f, R_0^{\mp}(\overline{z}_0) g \rangle = \langle R_0^{\pm}(z) f, g \rangle$$

hence  $R_0^{\pm}(z_j)f_j \rightarrow R_0^{\pm}(z_0)f$  in  $L_{-s}^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . It follows that  $R_0^{\pm}(z)$  is continuous on  $\widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$  with respect to the uniform operator topology in  $\mathcal{B}\left(L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n), L_{-s}^2(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)$  by the following contradiction argument. Suppose thus that this is not true. Then there exist two sequences  $\{z_j\} \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$  and  $\{f_j\} \subseteq L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $z_j \rightarrow z_0 \in \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$ ,  $\|f_j\|_{L_s^2} = 1$  and

$$\liminf_{j \to \infty} \left\| \left( R_0^{\pm}(z_j) - R_0^{\pm}(z_0) \right) f_j \right\|_{L^2_{-s}} > 0 .$$

Up to extracting a subsequence we can state that  $f_j \rightharpoonup f$  in  $L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and now (2.1.11) gives

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} R_0^{\pm}(z_j) f_j = R_0^{\pm}(z_0) f = \lim_{z \to z_0} R_0^{\pm}(z) f ,$$

since  $R_0^{\pm}(\cdot)f$  in continuous on  $\widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{\pm}$ . That yields a contradiction, and complete the proof of (i).

We shall prove now (ii) and (iii). Let  $u = R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$ , for  $f \in L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\lambda^2 > 0$ . The equation (2.1.7) follows noticing that for any test function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $z \notin \mathbb{R}_+$  we have

$$\langle R_0(\lambda^2 \pm \imath \varepsilon) f, \left( -\Delta - (\lambda^2 \pm \imath \varepsilon) \right) \varphi 
angle = \langle f, \varphi 
angle \; .$$

As  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$  in the left hand side we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \langle R_0(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon) f, \left( -\Delta - (\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon) \right) \varphi \rangle = \langle u, \left( -\Delta - \lambda^2 \right) \varphi \rangle,$$

thus  $\langle (-\Delta - \lambda^2) u, \varphi \rangle = \langle f, \varphi \rangle$  by the symmetry of the operator  $-\Delta - \lambda^2$ . We conclude the proof observing that (2.1.8) follows from (2.1.9) evaluated for  $f = g \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and using the continuity properties of the trace operator  $\tau$ .

By Theorem 2.3 the following definition makes sense (see also [127] for an alternative definition).

DEFINITION 2.1. Let  $u \in H^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We say that u is a  $\lambda$ -outgoing function (resp.  $\lambda$ -incoming function) if for  $\lambda > 0$ 

$$u = \mathbb{R}_0^+ (\lambda^2) f$$
, (resp.  $u = \mathbb{R}_0^- (k^2) f$ ). (2.1.12)

for some  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ .

**1.2. The Perturbed Case.** The next step is to take into account the Schrödinger operators  $H_V$ , defined as perturbations of the free Laplace operator by an operator V = V(x, D), that is  $H_V = H_0 + V$ . We shall try to achieve for  $R(z) = (H_V - z)^{-1}$ , the resolvent operator associated to  $H_V$ , the same results obtained in the free case. We shall first need to specify the class of potential we want to deal with.

DEFINITION 2.2. An operator  $V(x,D) = \sum_{|j| \le 2} a_j(x)D^j$  is said to belong to the class of short range if, for some  $\varepsilon > 0$  the multiplicative mapping

$$\iota \longmapsto \langle x \rangle^{1+\varepsilon} V(x,D) u$$

defines a compact operator from  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

REMARK 2.1. If V is a short range operator, then for some  $\varepsilon > 0$  and any real s, the multiplicative operator  $V(x, D) : H_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow L_{s+1+\varepsilon}^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , defined by V(x, D)(u) = V(x, D)u is compact.

EXAMPLE 2.1. If the coefficients of V(x, D) satisfy the following decay at infinity:

$$a_j(x) = O\left(|x|^{-1-\varepsilon}\right)$$
, as  $|x| \to +\infty$ , (2.1.13)

then V(x, D) is a short range potential (see [5] or [86, XIV, Scattering Theory])

We shall need some more information about the behavior of functions from Sobolev spaces as traces on some sphere (see Theorem 3.2 in [5]) and about decay property for certain improper eigenfunctions of  $H_V$ , which first are assumed to be not in the domain of  $H_V$  (see Theorem 3.3 in [5]). The general results are the followings:

THEOREM 2.4. Let  $h \in H^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for some  $r > \frac{1}{2}$ . Suppose that  $h(\xi) = 0$  on a sphere  $|\xi| = \lambda$  in the trace sense, and let  $\frac{1}{K} \le \lambda \le K$  for some positive constant K. For any multi-index  $0 \le |\alpha| \le 2$ , set

$$v_{\alpha}(\xi) = \frac{\xi^{\alpha}h(\xi)}{|\xi|^2 - \lambda^2}.$$
 (2.1.14)

Then  $v_{\alpha} \in H^{r-1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and moreover, there exists a constant C = C(r, K) such that

$$||v_{\alpha}||_{H^{r-1}} \leq C ||h||_{H^{r}}$$

is satisfied for any  $h \in H^r$ .

THEOREM 2.5. Let V = V(x, D) a perturbation operator on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\langle x \rangle^{1+\delta}V(x, D)$  belongs to the class of short range operator for some  $\delta > 0$ . Let  $u \in H^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be a solution of the differential equation

$$-\Delta u + Vu = \lambda u \; ,$$

 $\lambda$  is a positive number. Suppose that  $u \in H^2_{s_0}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for some  $s_0 > -\frac{1}{2} - \delta$ . Consider u as a tempered distribution acting on  $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and let  $\hat{u}$  be a distributional Fourier transform of u ( $\hat{u} \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ). If  $\hat{u} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then  $u_{\alpha} \in H^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , for any real s.

The last theorem will give the following lemma, that will play a key role in the generalization of the limiting absorption principle to  $H_V$ .

LEMMA 2.1. Let  $u \in H^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , be a  $\lambda$ -outgoing function (resp.  $\lambda$ -incoming) satisfying a differential equation of the form

$$-\Delta u + Vu = \lambda^2 u \; ,$$

where V is a short range potential. Then  $u \in \bigcap_{s \in \mathbb{R}} H_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proof.** We can suppose u to be outgoing (the case of u incoming can be handled with the same procedure). We have that  $u = R_0^+(\lambda^2)f$  for some  $f \in L_{s_0}^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $s_0 > \frac{1}{2}$ , that is  $f = (-\Delta - \lambda^2)u$ . It turns out that f = -Vu. Applying (2.1.8), using the fact that V is real, we obtain

$$\int_{|\xi|=\lambda} \left| \left( \tau \hat{f} \right) (\xi) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \frac{2\lambda}{\pi} \, \mathrm{Im} \, \left( \langle \mathbb{R}^+_0(\lambda^2) f, f \rangle \right) = -\frac{2\lambda}{\pi} \, \mathrm{Im} \, \left( \langle u, Vu \rangle \right) = 0 \,,$$

that implies that  $\hat{f}(\xi) = 0$  on the sphere  $|\xi| = \lambda$  (in the sense of trace). From Theorem 2.4 with  $h = \hat{f}$  we get that

$$\hat{f}(\xi) \left( \left| \xi \right|^2 - \lambda^2 \right)^{-1} \in L^1_{loc} \left( \mathbb{R}^n \right) \;.$$

Next we show that  $\hat{u}(\xi) = \hat{f}(\xi) \left( |\xi|^2 - \lambda^2 \right)^{-1}$  in the sense of tempered distribution. Let  $g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; we have

$$\langle u,g\rangle = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \langle R_0(\lambda^2 + \imath\varepsilon)f,g\rangle = \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\hat{f}(\xi)}{|\xi|^2 - \lambda^2} \overline{\hat{g}}(\xi) \frac{|\xi|^2 - \lambda^2}{|\xi|^2 - \lambda^2 - \imath\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\hat{f}(\xi)}{|\xi|^2 - \lambda^2} \overline{\hat{g}}(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \;,$$

from Parseval's Theorem and Lebesgue Convergence Theorem. Therefore our claim on  $\hat{u}$  is true, and  $\hat{u} \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Now from Theorem 2.5 it follows that  $u \in H^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ .  $\Box$ 

Now we shall consider the Schrödinger operator  $H_V = -\Delta + V$ , where V = V(x, D) is in the class of short range operators. In this case  $H_V$  turns out to be a self-adjoint operator on the domain  $\mathcal{D}(H_V) = H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see [113]); on the other hand, as far as its (real) spectrum is concerned, we have that  $\sigma(H_V) = \sigma_c(H_V) \cup \sigma_p(H_V)$  (continuous and point spectrum), where  $\sigma_c(H_V) = [0, +\infty)$ , and  $\sigma_p(H_V) = \{h_j\}$ , a discrete set of eigenvalues with finite multiplicity, having zero as its only limit point.

We can now extend the limiting absorption principle to these operators, wich are self-adjoint realizations of higher order elliptic operator (see [5], section 1 and Theorem 4.2). For simplicity we use the notation V = V(x, D) in the following.

THEOREM 2.6. Let 
$$s > \frac{1}{2}$$
, and let  $\sigma_p^+(H_V) = \sigma_p(H_V) \cap \mathbb{R}_+$ . Consider  $\lambda^2 \in \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \sigma_p^+(H_V)$ . Then  
 $\exists \lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} R_V(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon) = R_V^\pm(\lambda^2)$ . (2.1.15)

Moreover, for any  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the following identity holds:

$$R_V^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)f = \mathbb{R}_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)f - \mathbb{R}_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)V\mathbb{R}_V^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)f .$$
(2.1.16)

In particular,  $u^+ = R_V^+(\lambda^2) f$  is a  $\lambda$ -outgoing solution, and  $u^- = R_V^-(\lambda^2) f$  is a  $\lambda$ -incoming solution of the differential equation

$$(-\Delta + V - \lambda^2) u = f , \qquad (2.1.17)$$

in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Proof.** We can restrict our attention to the case  $R_V^+(\lambda^2)$ , and  $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon]$ , for  $\varepsilon$  small enough, in such a way that

$$V: H^2_{-\frac{1}{2}-\varepsilon}\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right) \longrightarrow H^2_{\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon}\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)$$

is a compact operator (as stressed out in Remark 2.1). From such compactness, and Theorem 2.3 it follows that the composition  $R_0^+(z)V$  is compact for any  $z \in \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_+$ , and

$$R_{0}^{+}(\cdot)V: \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_{+} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(H_{-s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right), H_{-s}^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right)$$

is continuous. We claim that the existence of the inverse operator  $(1 + R_0^+(z)V)^{-1}$  is equivalent to  $z \in \widetilde{\mathbb{C}}_+ \setminus \sigma_p^+(H_V)$ . Indeed two cases may occur.

Im (z) > 0 The resolvent identity  $R_V(z) + R_0(z)VR_V(z) = R_0(z)$  holds true, that is

$$(Id + R_0(z)V) u = R_0(z)f$$

for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $u = R_V(z)f \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This implies  $H^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \subseteq Im(Id + R_0(z)V)$ , hence

$$\overline{Im\left(\mathbf{1}+R_0(z)V\right)}=H_{-s}^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)\ .$$

The Fredholm-Riesz theory gives the existence of the inverse operator  $(\mathbf{1} + R_0^+(z)V)^{-1}$  in the operator space  $\mathcal{B}(H_{-s}^2(\mathbb{R}^n), H_{-s}^2(\mathbb{R}^n))$ .

 $z = \lambda^2$  Applying again Fredholm-Riesz theory we have that  $\mathbf{1} + R_0^+(\lambda^2) V$  is invertible if and only if -1 is not an eigenvalue for  $\mathbb{R}_0(\lambda^2) V$ . Suppose that

$$R_0(\lambda^2) V u + u = 0, \quad u \in H^2_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n) .$$

Observe that  $u = -R_0^+(\lambda^2) V u$  implies that u is a  $\lambda$ -outgoing solution for the differential equation  $(-\Delta + V) u = \lambda^2 u$ . From Lemma 2.1 we have that  $u \in \mathcal{D}(H_V)$ , hence  $\lambda^2$  is an eigenvalue of  $H_V$ . Viceversa whenever  $\lambda^2 > 0$  is an eigenvalue of  $H_V$  with eigenfunction  $u \in \mathcal{D}(H_V)$ , then passing through the limit as  $z \to \lambda^2$  in

$$u + R_0(z)Vu = \left(\lambda^2 - z\right)R_0(z)u$$

(holding for  $z \in \mathbb{C}_+$ ) we have  $u + R_0^+ (\lambda^2) V u = 0$ , that is -1 is an eigenvalue for  $R_0^+ (\lambda^2) V$ . We conclude observing that  $R_V(z) = (\mathbf{1} + R_0^+(z)V)^{-1} R_0(z)$  for Im (z) > 0. Using continuity of the operators  $(\mathbf{1} + R_0^+(z)V)^{-1}$  and  $R_0(z)$  it follows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} R_V \left( \lambda^2 \pm \imath \varepsilon \right) = \left( \mathbf{1} + R_0^+ \left( \lambda^2 \right) V \right)^{-1} R_0 \left( \lambda^2 \right) \ .$$

That will also imply identity (2.1.16) in  $\mathbb{C}_+$ .

#### 2. The Resonances

We consider a closed linear operator A in a given Banach space B. We assume that  $\sigma(A) \neq \mathbb{C}$ . We denote by D a domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  such that  $D \cap \sigma(A) \subset \sigma_p(A)$ . Thus the resolvent  $R_A(z) = (A - z)^{-1}$  is a well defined meromorphic operator function in D with values in  $\mathcal{L}(B)$ . Its poles in D (the isolated eigenvalues of A) are of finite rank. Next we introduce a notion of a generalized resolvent. To this end we assume that in addition to B there are given two Banach spaces  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  with  $B_0 \subset B \subset B_1$  such that the injections:

$$J_0: B_0 \to B \quad \text{and} \quad J: B \to B_1,$$
 (2.2.18)

are continuous. For  $z \in D \setminus \sigma_p(A)$ , we set

$$\tilde{R}_A(z) = JR_A(z)J_0.$$
 (2.2.19)

Clearly  $\tilde{R}_A(z)$  is a meromorphic operator function in D with values in  $\mathcal{L}(B_0, B_1)$ . We refer to  $\tilde{R}_A(z)$  as the **generalized resolvent** of A. We shall assume that the following basic conditions holds:

HYPOTESIS 2.1. The operator function  $R_A(z)$  admits a meromorphic continuation with finite rank poles from D to a domain  $D_+ \supset D$ , where

$$D_{+} \cap \sigma(A) \supset \sigma_{p}(A)$$

, (The last restriction is of course the statement that  $\widetilde{R}_A(z)$  does not admit such a meromorphic continuation to  $D_+$ .)

DEFINITION 2.3. A resonance of A is a pole  $z_0$  of  $\widetilde{R}_A(z)$ ,  $z_0 \in D_+ \setminus D$ , which verifies one of the following conditions. Either

$$z_0 \notin \sigma_p(A) \quad or, \tag{2.2.20}$$

$$z_0 \in \sigma_p(A), \tag{2.2.21}$$

in this case the relation (2.2.19) does not hold (identically) in any deleted neighborhood of  $z_0$ 

Here we followed [6]. For other details and an analysis we refer also to [123, 124, 125]. In this section we stated a abstract definition of resonaces. Namely, we find a mathematical quantity to analyze, that is the (generalized) resolvent  $\tilde{R}_A(z)$ ). The problem of resonances is a phenomenon involved in many physical process (an example could be the analysis of a vibrating strings or of the states of particles in the atom, just to name a few). For a more extended exposition we refer to [158, Chapter XII].

#### 3. The Resolvent Estimates

First we shall restrict to estimates involving the resolvent itself. Theorem 2.3 states the existence of the two continuous operators

$$R_0^{\pm}: \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B}\left(L_s^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right), H_{-s}^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n\right)\right) ,$$

for  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ . The following results (see [166] and [167]) describe a-priori estimates which are satisfied by such operators  $R_0^{\pm}$ . There are two key points in those results. The first one is the following Interior Estimate. For any fixed 0 < t < r there exists a constant C = C(t, r) such that

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}(B_{t})} \leq C \|f\|_{L^{2}(B_{t})} + \|u\|_{L^{2}(B_{t})} , \quad \forall 0 < t < r, \ \lambda \geq 0 ,$$

$$(2.3.22)$$

where  $B_t$  is the ball of radius t and u solves the equation  $(-\Delta - \lambda^2) u = f$ . The latter is the introduction of the so called **radiation condition** for the equation  $(-\Delta - \lambda^2) u = f$ , defined by

$$\int_{|x|\ge 1} \langle x \rangle^{2s} \left| \mathcal{D}u \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty \;, \tag{2.3.23}$$

where  $|\mathcal{D}u|^2 = \sum_{j=1}^n |\mathcal{D}_j u|^2$ , and  $\mathcal{D}_j u = \partial_j u + \frac{n-1}{2|x|} \frac{x_j}{|x|} u - i\kappa \frac{x_j}{|x|} u$ .

THEOREM 2.7. Let  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ . Then for any  $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , there exists a constant  $C = C(\lambda_0) > 0$  such that

$$\left\|R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)f\right\|_{-s} \le \frac{C}{\lambda}\left\|f\right\|_s,\tag{2.3.24}$$

for any  $\lambda > \lambda_0$  and any  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proof.** Suppose that (2.3.24) is false. Then we can find sequences  $\varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$  and  $\{u_k\}$  such that

$$\|u_k\|_{-s} = 1, \qquad \qquad \frac{1}{|\lambda^2 \pm \varepsilon_k|} \|f\|_s \le \frac{1}{k}, \qquad \qquad \left[-\Delta - \left(\lambda^2 \pm \varepsilon_k\right)\right] u_k = f_k, \qquad (2.3.25)$$

for any  $k \ge 0$ . From the interior estimate (2.3.22) we obtain the boundedness of the sequence  $\{u_k\}$ in  $H^1(B_t)$  for any t > 0. The compact imbedding properties of Sobolev spaces give the existence of the limit

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} u_k = u$$

in  $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . On the other side from the second equation in (2.3.25) we get

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} f_k = 0$$

which, together with the previous limit implies that u is a weak solution of the equation  $(-\Delta - \lambda^2) u = 0$ . Hence we have that u is in  $H^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and it is a strong solution as well (see [93]). In this case we have the following estimate:

$$||u_k||_{L^2_s(B_\rho)} = O\left(\rho^{s-\frac{1}{2}}\right)$$

uniformly with respect to k. Hence  $u_k \to u$  in  $L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $||u_k||_s = 1$ . On the other hand, since the sequence  $||Du_k||_{L^2_s(B_1)}$  is bounded and  $u_k \to u$  in  $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have  $u \in L^2_s(B_1)$ . Therefore u is a solution of the equation  $(-\Delta - \lambda^2) u = 0$  in  $H^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Thus u solves  $(-\Delta - \lambda^2) u = 0$ , whence u = 0 (see [94]) which is a contradiction since  $||u||_s = 1$ .

In order to achieve the point 0 we have to relax the condition on the parameter s to be s > 1. Namely, that can be done using some Hölder continuity property related to the resolvent operators  $R_0^{\pm}$ , thus we shall need some definitions (see [17], and the notations thereby).

DEFINITION 2.4. Let  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  be open,  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ , and  $X, Y \subseteq H$  two Banach spaces, both dense and continuously embedded in H. If A is a self-adjoint operator on H, and  $E^A(t)$  is the spectral family associated to A (by the Spectral Theorem 1.12), we say that A is of type  $(X, Y, \alpha, U)$  if the operator-valued function  $E^A(t) \in \mathcal{B}(X, Y^*)$  is weakly differentiable in U with Hölder continuous derivative, that is there exists a function  $E^A_\lambda(\lambda)$  such that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \left( g, E_{\lambda}^{A} f \right) = \left( g, E_{\lambda}^{A}(\lambda) f \right), \ \forall f \in X, g \in Y, \lambda \in U ,$$
(2.3.26)

for every compact interval  $K \subset U$  there exists a constant  $C_K > 0$  such that

$$\left\| E_{\lambda}^{A}(\lambda_{2}) - E_{\lambda}^{A}(\lambda_{1}) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(X,Y^{*})} \le C_{K} \left| \lambda_{1} - \lambda_{2} \right|^{\alpha}, \ \forall \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2} \in K.$$

$$(2.3.27)$$

If we consider the case of a constant real coefficient operator of order m of the form

$$P(D) = \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} a_{\alpha} D$$

we have that P is a self-adjoint operator in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , unitarily equivalent to multiplication by  $P(\xi)$ ,  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$  by Fourier transform. Let  $E^P(\lambda)$  be the spectral family associated with P. It is well-known (see [170]) that P is absolutely continuous and  $E^P(\lambda)$  is represented in the phase space by the multiplication operator  $\chi_{\lambda}(\xi)$ , the characteristic function of the set  $\{P(\xi) \leq \lambda\}$ .

Moreover, we have that if P is of principal type the following estimate holds

$$|\nabla P(\xi)| \gtrsim \left(1 + |\xi|\right)^{m-1}$$

for  $\xi$  large enough. We shall need two result about such an operator P. The first result concerns the Hölder continuity of P in suitable interpolation spaces. Namely, let  $X_0 \subseteq X_1$ ,  $Y_0 \subseteq Y_1$  be Banach spaces, where the embeddings are dense and continuous, and for  $\theta \in [0, 1]$  let  $X_{\theta} = [X_0, X_1]$ ,  $Y_{\theta} = [Y_0, Y_1]$ .

LEMMA 2.2. Let  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  be open and let  $T(\lambda)$ ,  $\lambda \in U$ , be an operator-valued continuous function,

$$T(\lambda) \in \mathcal{B}(X_0, Y_0) \cap \mathcal{B}(X_1, Y_1) , \ \lambda \in U ,$$

so that, for some  $\alpha > 0$  and every compact  $K \subset U$ , there exists a constant  $M_K > 0$  such that

$$\left|T(\lambda_{2}) - T(\lambda_{1})\right|_{\mathcal{B}(X_{0}, Y_{0})} \leq M_{K} \left|\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}\right|^{\alpha}, \ \lambda_{1}, \lambda_{2} \in K$$

 $\|T(\lambda)\|_{\mathcal{B}(X_1,Y_1)} \le M_K \ .$ 

Then  $T(\lambda)$  is uniformly locally Hölder continuous in  $\mathcal{B}(X_{\theta}, Y_{\theta})$  for  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ .

The second result concerns the Hölder continuity of P in the sense specified in the Definition 2.4.

THEOREM 2.8. Let P(D) be a self-adjoint constant coefficient differential operator of principal type. Then for every  $s \ge \frac{1}{2}$  there is a constant  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  such that P(D) is of type  $(L_s^2, L_s^2, \alpha, \mathbb{R} \setminus \Lambda(P))$ . Furthermore, if  $R_{\delta} = \{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} | \operatorname{dist} (\lambda, \Lambda(P)) > \delta\}$ , where  $\delta > 0$ , then with some constant  $M_{\delta} > 0$ ,

$$\left\| E_{\lambda}^{P}(\lambda) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(X,Y^{*})} \leq M_{\delta} \left( 1 + |\lambda| \right)^{-\frac{m-1}{m}} ,$$

$$\sup_{\lambda_{1} \neq \lambda_{2} \in R_{\delta}} \frac{\left\| E_{\lambda}^{P}(\lambda_{2}) - E_{\lambda}^{P}(\lambda_{1}) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(X,Y^{*})}}{|\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}^{\alpha}|} \leq M_{\delta} \left[ \left( 1 + |\lambda_{1}| \right)^{-\frac{m-1}{m}} + \left( 1 + |\lambda_{2}| \right)^{-\frac{m-1}{m}} \right] .$$

The proof of the previous theorem is based on the explicit representation of the derivative  $E_{\lambda}^{P}$ , given by

$$\left(g, E_{\lambda}^{P}(\lambda)f\right) = \int_{P(\xi)=\lambda} \hat{g}(\xi)\overline{\hat{f}(\xi)} \frac{\mathrm{d}\sigma}{|\nabla P(\xi)|} , \qquad (2.3.28)$$

where  $d\sigma$  is the Lebesgue surface measure on  $P(\xi) = \lambda$ . That is also the reason why the condition  $s \ge \frac{1}{2}$ , required by the Trace Theorem 2.2, is needed.

Specializing the last case to Laplacian a stronger result can be obtained.

THEOREM 2.9. Let  $H_0 = -\Delta$  be in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , for  $n \ge 2$ , let  $E^{H_0}(\lambda)$  be the associated spectral family, and  $E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(\lambda)$  its derivate with respect to  $\lambda$ . Let  $s, s' > \frac{1}{2}$  (s, s' > 1 for n = 2). Then  $E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(\lambda)$  is uniformly continuous in the operator norm of  $\mathcal{B}\left(L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^n), L_{-s'}^2(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)$  for  $\lambda \in [0, \infty)$  and

$$\left\| E_{\lambda}^{H_{0}}\left(\lambda^{2}\right) \right\|_{\mathcal{B}\left(L_{s}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), L_{-s'}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} = O(\lambda) , \ as \ \lambda \to \infty .$$

$$(2.3.29)$$

In the case  $n \ge 3$  we have also  $E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(0) = 0$ , so that  $E_{\lambda}^{H_0}$  is uniformly Hölder continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$  (being null for  $\lambda < 0$ ).

**Proof.** We observer that  $E(\mu) = 0$  for  $\mu < 0$ . The representation (2.3.28) gives on the positive half-line ( $\lambda > 0$ ) the following formula

$$\left(g, E_{\lambda}^{H_{0}}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\right) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda}\left(g, E^{H_{0}}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\right) = \frac{1}{2\lambda}\int_{|\xi|=\lambda}\hat{g}(\xi)\overline{\hat{f}(\xi)}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma\,,\qquad(2.3.30)$$

for any  $f, g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\hat{f}, \hat{g} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . All the statements made here, including (2.3.29), follow from Theorem 2.8 for  $\lambda$  large. Therefore, we only need to discuss the neighborhood of 0. Let  $\hat{\varphi} \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , for  $s > \frac{1}{2}$ . If  $\tau$  denotes the trace operator defined in Theorem 2.2, then  $\tau \hat{\varphi}(r)$  is the trace of  $\hat{\varphi}$  on the sphere of radius  $r \in (0, +\infty)$ . Namely, we have

$$\hat{\varphi}(r) = r^{n-1}\hat{\varphi}(r\omega) \in L^2\left(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}\right)$$
.

Assume first that  $n \ge 3$ . From the Trace Theorem we get

$$\|\tau\hat{\varphi}(r)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \lesssim \|\hat{\varphi}\|_{H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

for any  $r \in (0, +\infty)$ , while the standard Sobolev Imbedding yelds Theorem

 $\tau$ 

$$\|\tau\hat{\varphi}(r)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \lesssim \|\hat{\varphi}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} .$$

Interpolating the last two inequalities we have, for arbitrarily small  $\theta > 0$ ,

$$\|\tau\hat{\varphi}(r)\| \le Cr^{s-\frac{1}{2}-\theta} \|\hat{\varphi}\|_{H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$
, (2.3.31)

for any  $\hat{\varphi} \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , with  $s \in \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{n}{2}\right]$  and  $C = C(n, s, \theta)$ . Returning now to (2.3.30) with  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $g \in L^2_{s'}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we get from (2.3.31)

$$\left| \left( g, E_{\lambda}^{H_0} \left( \lambda^2 \right) f \right) \right| \lesssim \lambda^{-1} \left\| \tau \widehat{f}(\lambda) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \left\| \tau \widehat{g}(\lambda) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^2_{s'}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

since s + s' > 1. Observe that (2.3.31) is not always optimal. Thus, it is well known (see Proposition 1.1 in [168]) that for  $n \ge 3$  we have

$$\|\tau\hat{\varphi}(r)\| \leq Cr^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\hat{\varphi}\|_{H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} , \,\forall\hat{\varphi} \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) .$$

Therefore, for large s, s', the right-hand side of (2.3.30) is Hölder continuous up to 0, so that Hölder continuity is proved in view of the interpolation Lemma 2.2.

As for the last part, still with  $n \ge 3$ , take  $\hat{f}, \hat{g} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, from (2.3.30) we get

$$\left(g, E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(0)f\right) = \frac{1}{2} \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \lambda^{n-2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^n} \hat{g}(\lambda \omega) \overline{\hat{f}(\lambda \omega)} \, \mathrm{d}\omega \;,$$

By the density of  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we get  $E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(0)$ .

Let now n = 2 and s > 1, s' > 1. By the Sobolev embedding both  $\hat{f}, \hat{g}$  are then continuous function, and from (2.3.30) we have

$$\left(g, E_{\lambda}^{H_0}\left(\lambda^2\right)f\right) \leq \frac{1}{2}\lambda \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2} \left|\hat{f}(\xi)\right| \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^2} \left|\hat{g}(\xi)\right| 2\pi\lambda \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|g\|_{L^2_{s'}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

The Hölder continuity is now proved as before. Note, however, that since  $\left(g, E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(0)f\right) = \pi \hat{g}(0)\overline{\hat{f}(0)}$ , it follows that  $E_{\lambda}^{H_0}(0) \neq 0$ .

A corollary of the previous result is the following extension of Theorem 2.7.

COROLLARY 2.1. Let s > 1. Then for all  $\lambda^2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$  we have

$$\left\| R_0^{\pm} \left( \lambda^2 \right) f \right\|_{L^2_{-s}} \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\lambda^2}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^2_s}$$

for any  $f \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

# 4. Resolvent estimate for $\nabla R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$

In this section we shall recall a basic estimate involving the derivative of order one of the resolvent.

More precisely we shall give a selfcontained proof of the following theorem (see also Theorem 2.1)

THEOREM 2.10. Let n be fixed and  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then there exists a constant C such that the following estimate

$$\|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}} \le C \|(-\Delta - z) u\|_{L^{2}}, \qquad (2.4.32)$$

holds for any  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , and any  $u \in H_{-s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , provided s > 1/2.

#### **Proof.**

We can consider the case of n = 1, since a similar argument works for n > 1. Let  $u \in S(\mathbb{R})$ , first we have

$$\|u\|_{L^1} \le C \|u\|_{L^2} \,. \tag{2.4.33}$$

In fact from the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality we obtain

$$\|u\|_{L^1} \le (\langle x \rangle^{-s}, \langle x \rangle^s u),$$
 (2.4.34)

and from the bound

$$\|\langle x \rangle^{-s}\|_{L^2} < C_s$$

we arrive at (2.4.33).

Dualizing the estimate (2.4.33), we have

$$\|u\|_{L^2} \le C \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}. \tag{2.4.35}$$

Now we need the following two lemmas.

LEMMA 2.1. There exists a constant  $C \ge 0$  so that for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and all  $v \in S(\mathbb{R})$  we have

$$\|v(x)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \left\| \left( \frac{d}{dx} - \lambda \right) v(x) \right\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(2.4.36)

**Proof.** Suppose that  $Re\lambda \leq 0$ . Let  $w(x) = (d/dx - \lambda)v(x) \in S(\mathbb{R})$ . Then

$$v(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x} e^{\lambda(x-y)} w(y) dy.$$
 (2.4.37)

Thus

$$\|v(x)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|w(x)\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(2.4.38)

The estimate (2.4.36) follows for  $Re\lambda \leq 0$ . A similar argument works for  $Re\lambda \geq 0$ . In fact, we have  $w(x) = (d/dx - \lambda)v(x)$  so

$$v(x) = \int_x^\infty e^{\lambda(x-y)} w(y) dy.$$
(2.4.39)

and we obtain, as in the previous case,

$$\|v(x)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|w(x)\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(2.4.40)

We are able to prove the following statement:

LEMMA 2.2. For  $n \ge 1$  there exists a constant  $C \ge 0$  so that for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and all  $v \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\|\partial_1 v(x_1, x')\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{x'}} \le C \|(-\Delta - \lambda) v(x_1, x')\|_{L^1_{x_1} L^2_{x'}}, \qquad (2.4.41)$$

where  $x = (x_1, x')$  and  $x' = (x_2, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ .

**Proof.** Consider first the case n = 1. Let be  $\lambda = -\mu^2$ . Then by Lemma 2.1,

$$\frac{d}{dx}v(x)\Big\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{2}\left\|\left(\frac{d}{dx}-\mu\right)v(x)\right\|_{L^{\infty}}+\frac{1}{2}\left\|\left(\frac{d}{dx}+\mu\right)v(x)\right\|_{L^{\infty}}\leq C\left\|\left(-\frac{d^{2}}{dx^{2}}-\lambda\right)v(x)\right\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(2.4.42)

Consider now the case n > 1. Given any  $v \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we denote by

$$\tilde{v}(x_1, k'), \ k' = (k_2, ..., k_n)$$

its partial Fourier transform with respect to x', i.e.

$$\widetilde{v}(x_1, k') = (2\pi)^{-(n-1)} \int e^{-ik'x'} v(x_1, x') dx'.$$
(2.4.43)

Using the one-dimensional result (2.4.42), for each fixed k', we obtain

$$|\partial_1 \tilde{v}(x_1, k')|^2 \le C \int \left| (-\partial_1^2 + |k'|^2) \tilde{v} \right|^2 dx_1.$$
(2.4.44)

Integrating with respect k' and using the Plancherel identity, we derive

$$\|\partial_1 v(x_1, x')\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{x'}} \le C \|(-\Delta - \lambda) v(x_1, x')\|_{L^1_{x_1} L^2_{x'}}.$$
(2.4.45)

This completes the proof.

The  $L^2$ -weighted bounds (2.4.33) and (2.4.35) give Lemma 2.2 and the fact that the norms used in the proof are invariant under the action of the group of rotations SO(n) give the desired estimate (2.4.32).

REMARK 2.2. The limiting absorption principle from Theorem 2.6 introduced in the Section 1, Chapter 2 allow us to obtain the following theorem:

THEOREM 2.11. We have, for all  $\lambda^2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ 

$$\left\| \nabla R_0^{\pm} \left( \lambda^2 \right) f \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim C \left\| f \right\|_{L^2_s},$$

with C > 0 and s > 1/2.

REMARK 2.3. In this Chapter we used, in the definitions and proofs, spaces with smooth weights, namely  $\langle x \rangle$  raised to some power s. This is done for the aim of simplicity and because we want to be close to the traditional formalism of the scattering theory ([4, 5]). However, in the follows we introduce some perturbations belonging to the **short range class** (see Definition 2.2). Such kind of perturbations may have some "slight" singularities (see [86, Chapter XIV, Scattering Theory]), as in the case when we consider some mathematical descriptions of physical phenomena (an example could be **the wave equation perturbed by an "electric" potential or by a "magnetic" potential**). So it is natural replaces the spaces with smooth weights by others with singularities in the weights suggested by the nature of the perturbation operator. Roughly speaking, we will be able to show that the estimates obtained in this chapter remain valid using Sobolev spaces with singular weights. This extension will be presented in the Chapter 3.

## CHAPTER 3

# **Applications to a Class of Dispersive Equations**

In this chapter we prove some estimates for the resolvent of the operator  $-\Delta$  perturbed by the differential operator

$$V(x,D) = ia(x) \cdot \nabla + V(x)$$
 in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

This differential operator is of short range type and a compact perturbation of the Laplacian on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Also we find estimates in the space-time norm for the solution of the wave equation with such perturbation. Here we will use the explicit representation of the resolvent  $R_0^{\pm}$  in the case when the dimension of the space is n = 3 to obtain new resolvent estimates. As said in the introductory part we follow the work [200].

### 1. The Setup

We study the following perturbation of the classical wave equation (0.1.2), classical Schrödinger equation (0.1.1) and the classical Dirac equation (0.1.4). More precisely we consider the following Cauchy problems:

$$\begin{cases} \Box u + ia(x) \cdot \nabla u + V(x)u = F, \\ u(0,x) = 0, \partial_t u(0,x) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t u - \Delta u + ia(x) \cdot \nabla u + V(x)u = F, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ u(0, x) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.1.2)

and

$$\begin{cases} i\gamma_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}u + ia(x) \cdot \nabla u + V(x)u = F, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ u(0,x) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.1.3)

The solution of (3.1.3) is called spinor and  $\gamma_{\mu}$  are the Dirac matrices definied as in (0.1.5).

If we introduce the corresponding 1-form  $a = \sum_{j=1}^{3} a_j dx^j$  for the magnetic potential, by the Poincaré Lemma we know that if we have two magnetic potential a', a with da = da', then  $a = a' + d\phi$ , where  $\phi \in C^{\infty}$ . The operators  $(-\Delta + ia' \cdot \nabla + V)$  and  $(-\Delta + ia \cdot \nabla + \tilde{V})$  are related by

$$(-\Delta + ia' \cdot \nabla + V) = e^{-i\phi}(-\Delta + ia \cdot \nabla + \widetilde{V})e^{i\phi}, \qquad (3.1.4)$$

where  $V = V_1 - i \cdot \nabla a' + (a')^2$  and  $\widetilde{V} = \widetilde{V}_1 - i \cdot \nabla a - \Delta \phi + a^2 + \phi^2$ . So we will assume that  $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3)$  are measurable functions, such that  $\nabla a_j$  exists (in distributional sense) and it is measurable, defined

as  $a_j = a'_j + \partial_j \phi$  for j = 1, 2, 3, where the functions  $a'_j$  and  $\partial_j \phi$  satisfy the inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} a_j'(x)|+||x|\nabla a_j'(x)| &\leq \frac{\delta}{|x|W_{\epsilon_0}(x)}, \ a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^3, \delta > 0, \\ |\partial_j \phi(x)|+||x|\nabla \partial_j \phi(x)| &\leq \frac{C_0}{|x|W_{\epsilon_0}(x)}, \ a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^3. \end{aligned}$$
(3.1.5)

The potentials V (resp.  $V_1, \tilde{V}_1$ ) is a non-negative measurable function satisfying the inequality

$$|V(x)| \le \frac{C_1}{|x|^2 W_{\epsilon_0}(x)}, \ a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$
(3.1.6)

where  $\epsilon_0, C_0 > 0, C_1 > 0$  are constants, and

$$W_{\epsilon}(|x|) := |x|^{\epsilon} + |x|^{-\epsilon}, \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

$$(3.1.7)$$

We see that the **potential**  $a_j(x)$  is bounded from above by  $C\delta|x|^{-1-\epsilon_0}$  if  $|x| \ge 1$ , while  $a_j(x) \le \le C\delta|x|^{-1+\epsilon_0}$  if  $|x| \le 1$ , and the potential V(x) is bounded from above by  $C|x|^{-2-\epsilon_0}$  if  $|x| \ge 1$ , while  $V(x) \le \frac{C}{|x|^{-2+\epsilon_0}}$  if  $|x| \le 1$ . The last estimate shows that we admit singularities of  $a_j$  and V, such that  $a_j$  is in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , while V is not in  $L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . In the papers [4, 5], Agmon showed how scattering theory could be developed for general elliptic operator with perturbations  $O(|x|^{-1-\epsilon})$  at infinity and Agmon-Hörmander generalized the techniques required to study the perturbation of simply characteristic operators (see [86]). In [70] one can find a perturbation theory for potentials decaying as  $|x|^{-2-\epsilon}$  at infinity.

In [207] the free wave equation and Schrödinger equation (i.e. a = 0, V = 0) are studied and for both the following estimate are obtained (in [207] some sharper estimates are proved):

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \le C\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}F(x,t)\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}.$$
(3.1.8)

Similar estimates hold for other dispersive equations of mathematical physics. The equation (3.1.8) is known as smoothing estimate for the Schrödinger equation.

In this work we shall establish the same estimate (3.1.8) for potential perturbation of the wave and the Schrödinger equations. Namely, we have:

THEOREM 3.1. If u(x,t) is the solution of the Cauchy problem (3.1.1) with  $(-\Delta + ia \cdot \nabla + V)$  satisfying (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) then, for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \leq C \||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}F(x,t)\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}},$$
(3.1.9)

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}u(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \le C||F(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{t}L^{1}_{x}},$$
(3.1.10)

$$||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} V(x, D) u(x, t)||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}_{x}} \leq C ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta'} F(x, t)||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}_{x}}.$$
(3.1.11)

For (3.1.2) we have:

THEOREM 3.2. If u(x,t) is the solution of the problem (3.1.2) or (3.1.3) with  $(-\Delta + ia \cdot \nabla + V)$  satisfying (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) then, for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$ :

$$|||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \leq C|||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}F(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}},$$
(3.1.12)

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}u(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{*}L^{2}_{x}} \leq C||F(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{*}L^{1}_{x}},$$
(3.1.13)

$$||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} V(x, D) u(x, t)||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}_{x}} \leq C ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta'} F(x, t)||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}_{x}}.$$
(3.1.14)

For the corresponding homogeneous problem

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t u - \Delta u + ia(x) \cdot \nabla u + V(x)u = 0, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ u(0, x) = f, \end{cases}$$
(3.1.15)

we have

THEOREM 3.3. If u(x,t) is the solution of (3.1.15) then, for any  $\delta$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \le C\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}_{V}},$$
(3.1.16)

where  $\dot{H}^{s}_{V}(\mathbb{R}^{3})$  is the perturbed homogeneous Sobolev space.

Recall that  $\dot{H}_V^s(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is defined, for any  $p, q \ge 1$  and for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , as the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with respect to the following norm:

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{s}_{V}}^{2} := \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{2js} \|\varphi_{j}(\sqrt{-\Delta_{V}})f\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \forall f \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3}),$$
(3.1.17)

where  $-\Delta_V$  is the operator defined by

$$-\Delta_V := -\Delta + V(x, D), \qquad (3.1.18)$$

with

$$V(x,D) = ia(x) \cdot \nabla + V(x) = i \sum_{j=1}^{3} a_j(x)\partial_j + V(x)$$
(3.1.19)

and

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\varphi_j(\lambda)=1,$$

with  $\varphi_j(\lambda) = \varphi(\frac{\lambda}{2^j}), \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), supp \varphi \subset [\frac{1}{2}, 2].$ 

REMARK 3.1. We can use the perturbed homogeneous Sobolev space in (3.1.17) because, the assumptions (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) implies that  $\sigma_{sing}(-\Delta + V(x, D)) = \emptyset$  so the wave operators exist and are complete (see [123], [124], [159]).

The key point in this chapter is the use of appropriate estimates of the resolvent  $R_V(\lambda^2 \pm i0)$  defined as follows:

$$R_V(\lambda^2 \pm i0)f = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} R_V(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon)f, \qquad (3.1.20)$$

where

$$R_V(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon) = [(\lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon) + \Delta_V)]^{-1}.$$
(3.1.21)

The operator in (3.1.18) has to be understood in the sense of the classical Friedrich's extension defined by the quadratic form (see [128])

$$(-\Delta_V f, f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla f(x)|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} V(x) \, |f(x)|^2 \, dx + \\ + 2 \sum_{j=1}^3 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} ia_j(x) f(x) \overline{\partial_j f(x)} \, dx, f \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3),$$
(3.1.22)

and the limit in (3.1.20) is taken in a suitable  $L^2$  weighted sense. More precisely, given any real a and  $\delta > 0$ , we define the spaces  $L^2_{a,\delta}$  as the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with respect to the following norms:

$$||f||^2_{L^2_{a,\delta}} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |f|^2 |x|^{2a} W^2_{\delta}(|x|) dx$$
, if  $a > 0$ ,

and

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}_{a,\delta}}^{2} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |f|^{2} |x|^{2a} W_{\delta}^{-2}(|x|) dx, \text{ if } a < 0,$$

where the weights  $W_{\delta}(|x|)$  are defined in (3.1.7). The existence of the limit in (3.1.20) (known as limiting absorption principle, see Section 1, Chapter 2) can be established in the uniform operator norm

$$\mathcal{B}(L^2_{1/2,\delta},L^2_{-1/2,\delta})\;,\forall \delta>0$$

To verify the limiting absorption principle we use the following resolvent identities:

$$R_{V}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon) = R_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon) + iR_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon)a \cdot \nabla R_{V}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon) + R_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon)VR_{V}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon),$$

$$R_{V}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon) = R_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon) + iR_{V}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon)a \cdot \nabla R_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon) + R_{V}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon)VR_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i\varepsilon).$$

The previous identities combined with the classical limiting absorption principle for the free resolvent imply the following ones:

$$R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) = R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) + iR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) a \cdot \nabla R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) + R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) V R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2), \qquad (3.1.23)$$

and

$$R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) = R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) + iR_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2)a \cdot \nabla R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) + R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2)VR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2).$$
(3.1.24)

REMARK 3.1. In the proof of the limiting absorption principle in Section 1 we used smooth weights. Here, the presence of singularities in the perturbation operator suggests to substitute the smooth weight by weights with singularities. The Limiting absorption principle remain valid, in fact one can also allow sufficiently mild singularities, as suggested in the work [5] and [86, XIV, Scattering Theory]. To more details we refer also to [70].

Several papers have treated the potential type perturbation of the free wave operator. The case of purely potential perturbation V(x) is considered in [15] under the following decay assumption:

$$|V(x)| \le \frac{C}{|x|^{4+\delta_0}}, \quad |x| \ge 1,$$

for some  $C, \delta_0 > 0$ . In [44] the previous assumption is weaken and the decay required at infinity is the following one:  $|V(x)| \leq \frac{C}{|x|^{3+\delta_0}}$ . The family of radial potentials  $V(x) = \frac{c}{|x|^2}$ , where  $c \in \mathbb{R}^+$ , are treated in the papers [152] and [32]. More precisely, the first paper treats the case of radial initial data, while in the second one general initial data are considered. In these papers dispersive estimates for the corresponding perturbed wave equations are established. In [70] the assumption (3.1.6) means that at infinity the potential is bounded from above by  $C|x|^{-2-\varepsilon_0}$ , while its behavior near x = 0 is dominated by constant times  $|x|^{-2+\varepsilon_0}$ . In this paper Strichartz type estimates for the corresponding perturbed wave equation are established. In this work we introduce a "short range" perturbation with symbol of order one and (3.1.5) means that at infinity our potential is bounded from above by  $C|x|^{-1-\varepsilon_0}$ , while its behavior near x = 0 is dominated by constant times  $|x|^{-1+\varepsilon_0}$ . It is clear that the assumption (3.1.5), (3.1.6) are quite general and allow one to consider non radially symmetric potentials.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2 we prove some estimates for the operators  $R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$ . In Section 3 we give some estimates for the perturbed resolvent  $R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$ . In Section 4 we prove theorem 3.1, 3.2, 3.3.

## **2. Free Resolvent Estimates for** n = 3 **.**

This section is devoted to prove some estimates satisfied by the free resolvent operator  $R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$ . First of all we will prove the representation formula for the operators  $R_0^{\pm}$  for n = 3.

**PROPOSITION 3.1.** Assume that n = 3, then the following representation formula

$$R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) f(x) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{e^{\pm i|\lambda||x-y|} f(y)}{|x-y|} \, \mathrm{d}y \;, \tag{3.2.25}$$

holds for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}, x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ ,  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

**Proof.** We shall prove the identity (3.1) only for  $R_0^+(\lambda^2)$ . The same procedure work for  $R_0^-(\lambda^2)$ . Let  $\lambda, \varepsilon > 0$  be fixed, and let  $\mu_+(\varepsilon)$  be defined by  $\mu_{\pm}(\varepsilon) = \lambda^2 \pm i\varepsilon$ . The Fourier transform implies that

$$R_0^+(\lambda^2) f = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} K_{\varepsilon,\lambda} * f,$$

where the kernel  $K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}$  is defined by

$$K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\imath x\xi}}{|\xi|^2 - \mu_+(\varepsilon)^2} \,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

Since the function  $(|\xi|^2 - \mu_+(\varepsilon)^2)^{-1}$  is radial, then also its Fourier transform must like that, i. e.  $K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(x) = K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(|x|)$ . Switching to polar coordinates

$$(0,\infty) \times (0,\pi) \times (0,2\pi) \ni (r,\theta,\phi) \mapsto (r\sin\phi\sin\theta, r\cos\phi\sin\theta, r\cos\theta) \in \mathbb{R}^3$$

the previous integral gets into the form

$$K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r^2}{r^2 - \mu_{\pm}(\varepsilon)^2} \int_0^\pi e^{-i|x|r\cos\theta} \sin\theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}r \; .$$

Integrating with respect to  $\boldsymbol{\theta}$  we obtain

$$K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{\pi|x|}} \int_0^\infty \frac{\sin|x|r}{r^2 - \mu_+(\varepsilon)^2} r \, \mathrm{d}r = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi|x|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{e^{i|x|r}}{r^2 - \mu_+(\varepsilon)^2} r \, \mathrm{d}r \,.$$

Applying residue theorem it implies

$$K_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{|x|} \operatorname{Res}\left(z e^{\imath |x| z} \left(z^2 - \mu_+(\varepsilon)^2\right)^{-1}, \mu_+(\varepsilon)\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} e^{\imath |x| \mu_+(\varepsilon)}}{\sqrt{2x}}, \qquad (3.2.26)$$

as we did for the proof of Theorem 2.3 (see [9] for more details).

By using the definition of  $\mu_{\pm}(\varepsilon)$  we deduce that if  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ , then  $\mu_{+}(\varepsilon) \rightarrow |\lambda|$ , that implies

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} K_{\varepsilon,\lambda} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \mathrm{e}^{\imath |\lambda| |x|}}{\sqrt{2|x|}}$$

by (3.2.26). That completes the proof of the proposition.

LEMMA 3.1. The family of operators  $R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$  satisfies the following estimates: (i) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{C}{\lambda}\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}f\|_{L^{2}};$$
(3.2.27)

(ii) for any  $\delta, \delta', \epsilon > 0$  that satisfy  $0 < \epsilon < 2\delta'$ , there exists  $C = C(\delta, \delta', \epsilon) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta}^{-1} R_{0}^{\pm} \left(\lambda^{2}\right) f||_{L^{2}} \leq C ||x|^{\frac{3+\epsilon}{2}} W_{\delta'} f||_{L^{2}};$$
(3.2.28)

(iii) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta}^{-1} R_{0}^{\pm} \left(\lambda^{2}\right) f||_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{C}{\lambda^{\frac{\delta'}{2+\delta'}}} ||x|^{\frac{3}{2}} W_{\delta'} f||_{L^{2}};$$
(3.2.29)

(iv) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  and for  $s \in [1/2, 3/2]$ , there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$||x|^{-s}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2})f||_{L^{2}} \le C||x|^{2-s}W_{\delta'}f||_{L^{2}};$$
(3.2.30)

(v) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$||x|^{-\frac{3}{2}} W_{\delta}^{-1} R_{0}^{\pm} \left(\lambda^{2}\right) f||_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{C}{\lambda^{\frac{\delta'}{2+\delta'}}} ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta'} f||_{L^{2}};$$
(3.2.31)

(vi) for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda \ge 0$ :

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2})f||_{L^{2}} \le C||f||_{L^{1}};$$
(3.2.32)

(vii) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  and for  $s \in [1/2, 3/2]$ , there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$||x|^{-s} W_{\delta}^{-1} \nabla R_{0}^{\pm} (\lambda^{2}) f||_{L^{2}} \leq C ||x|^{s} W_{\delta'} f||_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.2.33)

64

# Proof.

*Proof of* (3.2.27). The proof can be found in [**5**] and [**14**] for example. Now to prove the others estimates we follow [**70**]. *Proof of* (3.2.28): The identity (3.2.25) implies:

$$\|R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) f\|_{L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}}^2 \le C \int \left| \int \frac{|f(y)|}{|x-y|} dy \right|^2 |x|^{-1} W_{\delta}^{-2} dx,$$

that combined with the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality gives:

$$\begin{split} \|R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)f\|_{L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}}^2 \leq \\ \leq C\left(\int |f(y)|^2 |y|^{3+\epsilon} W_{\delta'}^2(y) dy\right) \left(\int \int \frac{|x|^{-1} W_{\delta}^{-2}(|x|)}{|y|^{3+\epsilon} W_{\delta'}^2(y) |x-y|^2} dx dy\right) \leq \\ \leq C \|f\|_{L^2_{\frac{3+\epsilon}{2},\delta'}}^2, \end{split}$$

where

$$C := C(\epsilon, \delta) = \int \int \frac{|x|^{-1} W_{\delta}^{-2}(x)}{|y|^{3+\epsilon} W_{\delta'}^{2}(y) |x-y|^{2}} dx dy < \infty$$

*Proof of* (3.2.29): It is sufficient to to interpolate between (3.2.28) with  $\epsilon = \delta'$  and (3.2.27). *Proof of* (3.2.31): It is tsufficient to interpolate between (3.2.29) and its dual estimate.

The main tool that we will use to prove the following estimate is the following inequality,

$$\left\|\int K(y)dy\right\|_{B} \leq \int \|K(y)\|_{B}dy, \qquad (3.2.34)$$

where K(y) is a measurable function defined over  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and valued in a Banach space  $(B, \|.\|_B)$ . *Proof of* (3.2.32). If we combine (3.2.34), where the function K and the space B are chosen as follows:

$$K(y,.) = \frac{e^{i\lambda|.-y|}}{|.-y|}f(y), B = L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta},$$

with the identity (3.2.25), then we obtain,

$$\|R_{0}(\lambda^{2} \pm i0)\|_{L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}} = |c| \left\| \int \frac{e^{i\lambda|x-y|}}{|x-y|} f(y)dy \right\|_{L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}}$$
$$\leq |c| \int \left\| \frac{e^{i\lambda|\cdot-y|}}{|\cdot-y|} \right\|_{L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}} |f(y)|dy \leq C \|f\|_{L^{1}}$$
(3.2.35)

where we used a result from [70] (Appendix I) to obtain the following uniform bound,

$$C = C(\delta) := \sup_{x} \left\| \frac{e^{i\lambda |\cdot -y|}}{|\cdot -y|} \right\|_{L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}} < \infty.$$

*Proof of* (3.2.33). The proofs can be found in Chapter 2, Section 4, where slightly different spaces have been used (see also the Remark 2.3). We follow the proof of Theorem 2.10. In a crucial step, to prove the bound (2.4.33), we used Cauchy-Schwartz inequality

$$\|u\|_{L^1} \le \left(\langle x \rangle^{-s}, \langle x \rangle^s u\right),$$

and the fact that  $\|\langle x \rangle^{-s}\|_{L^2} < C$ , provided s > 1/2. Now we want to do the same using the singular weight  $|x|^a W_{\delta}$  instead of  $\langle x \rangle^s$ . We have

$$|u||_{L^1} \le \left( |x|^{-a} W_{\delta}^{-1}, |x|^a W_{\delta} u \right),$$

and in order to apply the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality we have to check for which values of a the function  $|x|^{-a} W_{\delta}^{-1}$  is  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$ -integrable. A simple calculation shows that we have  $|| |x|^{-a} W_{\delta}^{-1} ||_{L^2} < C$ , whenever  $1/2 \ge a$ , this completes the proof (in this case we restrict the range to  $1/2 \le a \le 3/2$  because in the following we need only this domain for the exponent).

LEMMA 3.2. Assume that the perturbation V(x, D) satisfies the assumption (3.1.5),(3.1.6). Then the following estimates are satisfied:

for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  there exists a real constant  $C := C(\delta, \delta') > 0$ , such that for any  $\lambda \ge 0$ 

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)V(x,D)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq C\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}};$$
(3.2.36)

$$||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} V(x, D) R_0^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) f||_{L^2} \le C ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta'} f||_{L^2}.$$
(3.2.37)

# Proof.

*Proof of* (3.2.36). We split the proof into two step. *Step 1.* Estimate of

$$iR_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)a\cdot\nabla f. \tag{3.2.38}$$

We have the following formula,

$$iR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) a \cdot \nabla f = iR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) \nabla (a \cdot f) - - iR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) (\nabla a) \cdot f.$$
(3.2.39)

From the functional calculus we have  $[\nabla, R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)] = 0$ , so we rewrite (3.2.39) as

$$iR_0^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) a \cdot \nabla f = i\nabla R_0^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) \left(a \cdot f\right) - - iR_0^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) \left(\nabla a\right) \cdot f.$$
(3.2.40)

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2}) a \cdot \nabla f\|_{L^{2}} \leq \\ \leq C \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}i\nabla R_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2}) af\|_{L^{2}} + \\ + C \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2}) (\nabla a)f\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.2.41)$$

Now we can estimate now the first term in the right hand side of the inequality (3.2.41), using (3.2.33) and obtain

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}i\nabla R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)af||_{L^{2}} \leq C|||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta''}^{-1}af||_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.2.42)

By the assumption (3.1.5) and choosing  $0 < \delta'' < \epsilon_0, \, \delta_a \le \epsilon_0 - \delta''$  we have
$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2}) a \cdot \nabla f\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C \||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta''}^{-1}af\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\epsilon_{0}-\delta''}^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta_{a}}^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.2.43)

For the second term in the right side of (3.2.41) we use the estimates (3.2.30) and obtain

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)(\nabla a)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq C\||x|^{\frac{3}{2}}W_{\delta^{\prime\prime}}\nabla af\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.2.44)

By the (3.1.5), choosing  $0 < \delta'' < \epsilon_0, \, \delta_b \le \epsilon_0 - \delta''$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)a\cdot\nabla f\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C\||x|^{\frac{3}{2}}W_{\delta''}(\nabla a)f\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\epsilon_{0}-\delta''}f\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq C\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta_{h}}^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.2.45)$$

From the fact that  $\delta_b < \delta_a$  we put  $\delta' \leq \delta_b$  and (3.2.41) becomes

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)a\cdot\nabla f\|_{L^{2}} \leq C\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.2.46)

Step 2. Estimate of

$$R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) V f.$$
 (3.2.47)

From the assumption (3.1.5) we see that  $|\nabla a_j(x)| \leq \frac{C_0 \delta}{|x|^2 W_{\epsilon_0}(x)}$ , so we proceed as in Step 1 and obtain

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2})Vf||_{L^{2}} \leq C||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}^{-1}f||_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.2.48)

Taking into account the estimates (3.2.46) and (3.2.48), we arrive at

$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)V(x,D)f\|_{L^{2}} &\leq \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)a\cdot\nabla f\|_{L^{2}} + \\ &+ \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)Vf\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta'}^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}} \end{aligned}$$

and (3.2.36) is established.

*Proof of* (3.2.37). It is the dual to estimate (3.2.36).

#### 3. Perturbed Resolvent Estimates

In this section we prove some estimates for the perturbed resolvent  $R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$ .

THEOREM 3.4. Assume that the perturbation V(x, D) satisfies the assumptions (3.1.5) and (3.1.6). Then for any  $0 < \delta < \epsilon_0/2$  there exists a family of operators  $A^{\pm}_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{B}(L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}, L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta})$  such that,

$$A_{\lambda}^{\pm} \circ \left[I - R_0^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) V(x, D)\right] = I = \left[I - R_0^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) V(x, D)\right] \circ A_{\lambda}^{\pm}.$$

Moreover, there exists a constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that,

$$\|A_{\lambda}^{\pm}f\|_{L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}} \le C\|f\|_{L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}}, \ \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{R}.$$

THEOREM 3.5. Assume that the perturbation V(x, D) satisfies the assumptions (3.1.5) and (3.1.6). Then for any  $0 < \delta < \epsilon_0/2$  there exists a family of operators  $B^{\pm}_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{B}(L^2_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}, L^2_{\frac{1}{2},\delta})$  such that,

$$B_{\lambda}^{\pm} \circ \left[I - V(x, D)R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)\right] = I = \left[I - V(x, D)R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)\right] \circ B_{\lambda}^{\pm}.$$

Moreover, there exists a constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that,

$$\|B_{\lambda}^{\pm}f\|_{L^{2}_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}} \leq C\|f\|_{L^{2}_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}}, \,\forall\lambda\in\mathbb{R}$$

We have

$$R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)V(x,D) = iR_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)a \cdot \nabla + R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)V.$$
(3.3.49)

Now we need the following lemmas.

LEMMA 3.3. Assume that the potential V satisfies the assumptions (3.1.6). (1). The operators  $R_0(\lambda^2)V$  are compact in the space  $\mathcal{B}(L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}, L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta'})$ , provided that  $\delta, \delta'$  are small. Moreover the following estimate is satisfied:

$$||R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) V||_{\mathcal{B}(L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta},L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta'})} \to 0,$$

as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

(2). The operators  $VR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$  are compact in the space  $\mathcal{B}(L_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}^2, L_{\frac{1}{2},\delta'}^2)$ , provided that  $\delta, \delta'$  are small. Moreover the following estimate is satisfied:

$$\|VR_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right))\|_{\mathcal{B}\left(L_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}^2, L_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}^2\right)} \to 0,$$

as  $\lambda \to \infty$ .

**Proof.** *Proof of (1)*: The proof can be found in [**70**] (Theorem III.1 and Lemma III.1). *Proof of (2)*. It is the dual of (1) where

$$VR_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right) = (R_0^{\mp}\left(\lambda^2\right)V)^*.$$

LEMMA 3.4. Assume that the potential  $ia \cdot \nabla$  satisfies the assumptions (3.1.5). (1). The operators  $iR_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) a \cdot \nabla$  are compact in the space  $\mathcal{B}(L_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}^2, L_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta'}^2)$ , provided that  $\delta, \delta'$  are small.

(2). The operators  $ia \cdot \nabla R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)$  are compact in the space  $\mathcal{B}(L^2_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}, L^2_{\frac{1}{2},\delta'})$ , provided that  $\delta, \delta'$  are small.

**Proof**.*Proof of (1).* We will follow the proof in [**70**]. Let  $\{f_n\}$  be a sequence bounded in  $L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}$  and let  $g_n := iR_0^{\pm} (\lambda^2) a \cdot \nabla f_n$ . We split the proof in two cases: *Case 1.* Compactness in  $B_{2r} \setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}}$ , for  $1 < r < \infty$ . The estimate (3.2.36) implies that if  $\delta, \delta'$  are small, then

$$iR_0(\lambda^2)a \cdot \nabla \in \mathcal{B}(L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}, L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta'}).$$
 (3.3.50)

In the proceeding of the proof we use the representation (3.2.40) for the operator (3.2.38) acting on  $L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}$ . The property (3.3.50) implies that  $||g_n||_{L^2(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} \leq C(r)$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla g_{n}\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} &\leq C \|i(\Delta+\lambda^{2})R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)af\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} + \\ &+ C\lambda^{2}\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)af\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} + \\ &+ C \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}i\nabla R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)(\nabla a)f\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} \leq C \|af\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} + \\ &+ C\lambda^{2}\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}iR_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)af\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} + \\ &+ C \||x|^{-\frac{3}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}i\nabla R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)(\nabla a)f\|_{L^{2}(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})}. \end{split}$$

$$(3.3.51)$$

With the aim of the estimates (3.2.27), (3.2.33) and the assumption (3.1.5) we obtain

$$\|\nabla g_n\|_{L^2(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{\delta}})} \le C(r,\lambda) \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta}^{-1} f_n\|_{L^2(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{\delta}})}$$

and from the boundness of  $\{f_n\}, \|\nabla g_n\|_{L^2(B_{2r} \setminus B_{\frac{1}{\lambda}})} \leq C(r, \lambda)$ . So we have

$$\|\nabla g_n\|_{H^1(B_{2r}\setminus B_{\frac{1}{2r}})} \le C(r,\lambda).$$

The compactness of the Sobolev embedding due to Rellich-Kondrachov theorem implies that  $\{g_n\}$  is compact in  $L^2(B_r \setminus B_{\frac{1}{r}})$  for any  $1 < r < \infty$ .

*Case 2.* Compactness in  $(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B_r) \cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}$ To study the compactness in  $(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B_r) \cup B_{\underline{1}}$  we use the following inequality:

$$\int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3}\setminus B_{r})\cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}} g_{n}^{2}(|x|)W_{\delta}^{-2}(|x|)|x|^{-1}dx \leq (3.3.52)$$

$$\leq (\sup_{\{(\mathbb{R}^{3}\setminus B_{r})\cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}\}} W_{\delta}^{-1}(|x|)) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{n}^{2}(|x|)W_{\delta}^{-1}(|x|)|x|^{-1}dx.$$

The definition of the weights  $W_{\delta}(|x|)$  guarantees that for  $\delta > 0$  there exist real constants  $c_1(\delta), c_2(\delta)$  such that  $c_1(\delta)W_{\delta} \leq W_{\frac{\delta}{2}}^2 \leq c_2(\delta)W_{\delta}$ . This property combined with (3.3.52),where we chose  $\delta' = \frac{\delta}{2}$ ,

implies:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{(\mathbb{R}^{3}\backslash B_{r})\cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}}g_{n}^{2}(|x|)W_{\delta}^{-2}(|x|)|x|^{-1}dx \leq \\ &\leq C(\sup_{\{(\mathbb{R}^{3}\backslash B_{r})\cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}\}}W_{\delta}^{-1}(|x|))\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}g_{n}^{2}(|x|)W_{\frac{\delta}{2}}^{-2}(|x|)|x|^{-1}dx \\ &\leq C'(\sup_{\{(\mathbb{R}^{3}\backslash B_{r})\cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}\}}W_{\delta}^{-1}(|x|))\|f|_{L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}}. \end{split}$$

Moreover,  $(sup_{\{(\mathbb{R}^3\setminus B_r)\cup B_{\frac{1}{r}}\}}W_{\delta}^{-1}(|x|)) \to 0$  if  $r \to \infty$  and it implies with an easy diagonal argument the compactness of the sequence  $\{g_n\}$  in the space  $L^2_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}$ .

*Proof of (2)* It is the dual to the part (1) of the theorem. We can also proceed independently following **[5]**, **[86**, Chapter XIV, Scattering Theory, Lemma 14.5.1] or **[221**].

**Proof of Theorem 3.4.** Lemmas 3.3, 3.4 and the choice of  $\delta$  (small perturbation) in the coefficients of the pertubing term (3.1.5) imply that the operators  $[I - R_0^{\pm} (\lambda^2) V(x, D)]$  are injective in  $\mathcal{B}(L_{-\frac{1}{2}, \delta}^2)$  and are compact perturbation of the invertible operator I. We can apply the Fredholm Alternative Theorem to obtain the existence of the operators  $A_{\lambda}^{\pm}$ . To prove the uniform bound  $\|A_{\lambda}^{\pm}\|_{B(L_{-\frac{1}{2}, \delta}^2)} \leq C$ 

we consider two cases.

(1)  $\lambda$  large.

As a consequence of Lemmas 3.3, 3.4 there exists  $\bar{\lambda} > 0$  such that if  $\lambda > \bar{\lambda}$  then we have  $||R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) V(x, D)||_{B(L_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}^2)} \leq \frac{1}{2}$  and this implies that  $||[Id - R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) V(x, D)]||_{B(L_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta}^2)} \geq \frac{1}{2}$  provided that  $\lambda > \bar{\lambda}$ . This uniform bound from below for the operators implies an uniform bound from above for their corresponding inverse operators  $A_{\lambda}^{\pm}$ .

#### (2) $\lambda$ small.

The boundedness for  $\lambda < \bar{\lambda}$  of the norms  $\|A_{\lambda}^{\pm}\|_{B(L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta})}$  is a consequence of the continuity of the family of operators  $A_{\lambda}^{\pm}$  in the space  $\mathcal{B}(L^{2}_{-\frac{1}{2},\delta})$  with respect to the parameter  $\lambda \in [0,\infty)$  and of the compactness of the interval  $[0, \bar{\lambda}_{p}]$ .

Proof of Theorem 3.5. It is analogous to the one of Theorem 3.4.

REMARK 3.2. The problem of resonances (for more details and definitions see Chapter 2, Section 2) arise in mathematical physics and in other field such as geometry. In our case this problem arises when we have perturbation of operator acting in some Banach spaces. Several works have treated the theory of resonances, we refer to [84], [155], [101] and [212] for example. The remark suggest that

resonances may exist in the case of electromagnetic perturbation of type  $V(x, D) = ia(x) \cdot \nabla + V(x)$ . To assure that resonances cannot exist we impose a smallness assumption (3.1.5) on a.

THEOREM 3.6. Assume that the perturbation V(x, D) satisfies (3.1.5) and (3.1.6). For each  $0 < \delta < \epsilon_0/2$  we have

(i) there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{V}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{C}{\lambda}\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}f\|_{L^{2}};$$
(3.3.53)

(ii) for any  $\epsilon > 0$  that satisfy  $0 < \epsilon < 2\delta$ , there exists  $C = C(\delta, \epsilon) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{V}^{\pm}(\lambda^{2})f\|_{L^{2}} \leq C \||x|^{\frac{3+\epsilon}{2}}W_{\delta'}f\|_{L^{2}};$$
(3.3.54)

(iii) there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{V}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{C}{\lambda^{\frac{\delta'}{2+\delta'}}}\||x|^{\frac{3}{2}}W_{\delta'}\|_{L^{2}};$$
(3.3.55)

(iv) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  and for  $s \in [1/2, 3/2]$ , there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$||x|^{-s} W_{\delta}^{-1} R_{V}^{\pm} \left(\lambda^{2}\right) f||_{L^{2}} \le C ||x|^{2-s} W_{\delta'} f||_{L^{2}};$$
(3.3.56)

(v) there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda > 0$ :

$$\||x|^{-\frac{3}{2}}W_{\delta'}^{-1}R_{V}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq \frac{C}{\lambda^{\frac{\delta'}{2+\delta'}}}\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}f\|_{L^{2}};$$
(3.3.57)

(vi) for any  $\delta > 0$  there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta) > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta}^{-1} R_V^{\pm} \left(\lambda^2\right) f||_{L^2} \le C ||f||_{L^1}.$$
(3.3.58)

(vi) for any  $\delta, \delta' > 0$  and for  $s \in [1/2, 3/2]$ , there exists a real constant  $C = C(\delta, \delta') > 0$  such that for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$||x|^{-s} W_{\delta}^{-1} \nabla R_{V}^{\pm} \left(\lambda^{2}\right) f||_{L^{2}} \leq C ||x|^{s} W_{\delta} f||_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.3.59)

Theorem 3.4 implies that the identity (3.1.23) can be written as:

 $[I - R_0(\lambda^2 \pm i0)V(x, D)]R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) = R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2),$ 

and so the following identity,

$$R_V^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right) = A_\lambda^{\pm} R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right). \tag{3.3.60}$$

Theorem 3.5 implies that the identity (3.1.24) can be written now as:

$$R_V^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)\left[I - V(x, D)R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)\right] = R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right),$$

and so the following identity,

$$R_V^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right) = R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right) B_{\lambda}^{\pm}.$$
(3.3.61)

Proof.

*Proof of* (3.3.53). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.60) with the theorem 3.4 and estimate (3.2.27) in the following way:

$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{V}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} &\leq \||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}A_{\lambda}^{\pm}R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} \leq \\ C\||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}} &\leq \frac{C}{\lambda}\||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}f\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

*Proof of* (3.3.54). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.60) with the Theorem 3.4 and estimate (3.2.28) as before.

*Proof of* (3.3.55). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.60) with the Theorem 3.4 and estimate (3.2.29) as before.

*Proof of* (3.3.56). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.60) with the Theorem 3.4 and estimate (3.2.30) as before.

*Proof of* (3.3.57). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.60) with the Theorem 3.4 and estimate (3.2.31) as before.

*Proof of* (3.3.58). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.60) with the Theorem 3.4 and estimate (3.2.32) as before.

*Proof of* (3.3.59). The estimate can be proved combining the identity (3.3.61) with the Theorem 3.5 and estimate (3.2.33).

THEOREM 3.7. Assume that the perturbation V(x, D) satisfies (3.1.5), (3.1.6). For each  $0 < \delta < \epsilon_0/2$  we have for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} V(x, D) R_{V}^{\pm} \left(\lambda^{2}\right) f||_{L^{2}} \leq C ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} f||_{L^{2}}.$$
(3.3.62)

**Proof.** The resolvent identity implies the following one:

$$V(x,D)R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) = V(x,D)R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) + V(x,D)R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2) V(x,D)R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2),$$

and from this we have

$$[I - V(x, D)R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2)]V(x, D)R_V(\lambda^2 \pm i0) = V(x, D)R_0^{\pm}(\lambda^2).$$
(3.3.63)

Following the theorem 3.5(2) we have

$$V(x,D)R_V^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right) = B_{\lambda}^{\pm}V(x,D)R_0^{\pm}\left(\lambda^2\right)$$

and from combining this with estimate (3.2.37) obtain

$$\begin{split} \|V(x,D)R_{V}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}} &\leq C\|B_{\lambda}^{\pm}V(x,D)R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}} \leq \\ &\leq C\|V(x,D)R_{0}^{\pm}\left(\lambda^{2}\right)f\|_{L^{2}_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}} \leq C\|f\|_{L^{2}_{\frac{1}{2},\delta}}. \end{split}$$

#### 4. Weighted Space-Time Estimates

In this section we will prove the main Theorems 3.1, 3.2, 3.3. We use the techniques of [**117**] and of [**207**].

#### **Proof of Theorem 3.1.**

Case 1. Wave equation.

Proof of 3.1.9. Formally taking the Fourier Transform in time variable in (3.1.1), we get

$$(\lambda^2 + \Delta_V)\hat{u}(\lambda, x) = -\hat{F}(\lambda, x). \tag{3.4.64}$$

Using (3.1.20) and the limit absorption principle, we get

$$\hat{u}(\lambda, x) = -R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) \hat{F}(\lambda, x), \qquad (3.4.65)$$

and, consequently,

$$\nabla \hat{u}(\lambda, x) = -\nabla R_V^{\pm}(\lambda^2) \,\hat{F}(\lambda, x). \tag{3.4.66}$$

Now we can use (3.3.59) and obtain

$$|||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla\hat{u}(\lambda,x)||_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq C|||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}\hat{F}(\lambda,x)||_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(3.4.67)

Integrating over  $\lambda$  and using the Plancherel identity in time variable, we have

$$|||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{*}L^{2}_{m}} \leq C|||x|^{\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}F(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{*}L^{2}_{m}}.$$
(3.4.68)

*Proof of* (3.1.10). We use, after the Fourier transform, the identity (3.4.65), the Theorem 3.4 and the perturbed resolvent estimate (3.3.58).

Proof of (3.1.11). The application of the Fourier transform yelds

$$V(x,D)\hat{u}(\lambda,x) = V(x,D)R_V(\lambda^2)\hat{F}(\lambda,x),$$
(3.4.69)

and using the estimate (3.3.62) we have

$$||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} V(x, D) \hat{u}(\lambda, x)||_{L^{2}} \le C ||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} \hat{F}(\lambda, x)||_{L^{2}},$$
(3.4.70)

and, consequently,

$$|||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} V(x, D) u(x, t)||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}_{x}} \leq C |||x|^{\frac{1}{2}} W_{\delta} F(x, t)||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}_{x}}.$$
(3.4.71)

REMARK 3.3. The constants in (3.1.9), (3.1.10), (3.1.11) are all independent of  $\lambda$ .

Case 2. Dirac equation.

The Dirac equation can be treated as the wave equation. In fact we write the solution of (3.1.3) as the following integral equation:

$$u = \int_0^t U(t-s)F(u(s), V(x, D))ds,$$
(3.4.72)

where  $F(u(s), V(x, D)) = -a \cdot \nabla u + F(t, x)$  and U(t) denote the propagator of the free Dirac equation given by

$$U(t) = \cos(t\sqrt{-\Delta}) - \gamma_0(\gamma^j\partial_j)\frac{\sin(t\sqrt{-\Delta})}{\sqrt{-\Delta}}.$$
(3.4.73)

A reduction to the wave equation can be done by applying the operator  $\Box$  to the solution (3.4.72) and using the relation

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}u = 0. \tag{3.4.74}$$

So the estimates (3.1.9), (3.1.10) and (3.1.11) remain valid.

#### **Proof of Theorem 3.2.**

The proof of non-homogeneous case (3.1.2) is the analogous to that one for the perturbed wave equation (3.1.1). However one has to replace  $\lambda^2$  by  $\lambda > 0$  in the definitions (3.1.20), (3.1.21), (3.2.25) and in the estimates for free and perturbed resolvent in the Section 2 and 3 of this chapter. **Proof of Theorem 3.3.** 

For the homogeneous case the  $TT^*$  argument, see [72, 75] and [115], combined with the estimates (3.1.9) implies (3.1.16).

REMARK 3.4. By the definition of the perturbed Besov space we have  $\dot{H}^s_V = \dot{B}^s_{V,2,2}$ , for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , so we can replace  $\dot{H}^{1/2}_V$  by  $\dot{B}^{1/2}_{V,2,2}$  in the (3.1.16).

REMARK 3.5. One can also consider the following Cauchy problems for the perturbed wave equation and Dirac equation:

$$\begin{cases} \Box u + ia(x) \cdot \nabla u + V(x)u = 0, \\ u(0,x) = f, \partial_t u(0,x) = g, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.75)

and

$$\begin{cases} i\gamma_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}u + ia(x) \cdot \nabla u + V(x)u = 0, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ u(0,x) = f. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.76)

As in the case of Schödinger equation, the  $TT^*$  argument combined with the estimates (3.1.9) implies for the problem (3.4.75), for any  $\delta > 0$ , the following estimate:

$$|||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \leq C(||f||_{\dot{H}^{1}_{tr}} + ||g||_{L^{2}}),$$

and for the problem (3.4.76), for any  $\delta > 0$ , the following estimate:

$$|||x|^{-\frac{1}{2}}W_{\delta}^{-1}\nabla u(x,t)||_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} \leq C||f||_{\dot{H}^{1}_{u}},$$

where, in the previous estimates, we used the  $L^2 - L^2$  boundness of the operator  $\frac{\nabla}{\sqrt{-\Delta_V}}$  given by the Corollary 3.2 from the Appendix.

## 5. Appendix

In the following we prove a relevant equivalence result. Namely,

**PROPOSITION 3.2.** Under the assumptions (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) for the operator V = V(x, D), there are constants constants  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that

$$c_1 \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2 \le (-\Delta_V u, u) \le c_2 \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2,$$

where  $(-\Delta_V u, u)$  is the quadratic form (3.1.22).

**Proof.** First of all we notice that by the assumptions (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) we immediately have

$$|a_j(x)| \in L^n(\mathbb{R}^n), \ j = 1, \dots, n \qquad |V(x)| \in L^{\frac{n}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

(we prove the statement without restriction on n because it remains valid for any dimension of the space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ). The quadratic form (3.1.22) is well defined on  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In fact using the embedding  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset L^{\frac{2n}{n-2}}$  and the Hölder inequality we have

$$\begin{aligned} (-\Delta_{V}u,u) &\leq \||a \cdot \nabla u\|_{L^{2}} + \|V(x)u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|a\|_{L^{n}} \|(\nabla u,u)\|_{L^{\frac{n}{n-1}}} + \|V(x)u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \\ &\leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + C\delta \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{L^{\frac{2n}{n-2}}} + \|V(x)u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq C \|\nabla u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + C \|V(x)u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

and the quadratic form is that  $q(u, u) := \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2 + \|V(x)u\|_{L^2}^2 \approx \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2$  by [70, Theorem 7.3, 7.4]. So we obtain

$$(-\Delta_V u, u) \le C \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2 + C \|V(x)u\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.5.78)

The form (3.5.77) is symmetric and to prove that  $(-\Delta_V u, u)$  is associated to a (unique) selfadjoint operator, it will be sufficient to show that it is **closed**, namely its domain is complete with respect the norm  $(-\Delta_V u, u)$ , and **semibounded**, namely

$$-\Delta_V u, u) \ge -C \left\|\nabla u\right\|_{L^2}^2$$

with C > 0 (see [157, Theorem VIII.15]). Both properties follow from the definition of (3.1.22) (see [128]), moreover by estimating as (3.1.22) and using again the result proved in [70] cited above we obtain

$$(-\Delta_V u, u) \ge C \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2 - C\delta \|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(3.5.79)

In particular this implies that the norm  $(-\Delta_V u, u)$  in **equivalent** to the norm in  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This completes the proof.

An important consequence of the above proposition is the following result:

COROLLARY 3.1. Let  $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denote the scale of homogeneous Sobolev spaces based on the powers of the operator V = V(x, D), i.e., the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  with respect to the seminorm

$$\|u\|_{\dot{H}_{V}^{s}} := \left\| (-\Delta_{V})^{1/2} u \right\|_{L^{2}}$$

If V = V(x, D) satisfies (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) then the spaces are equivalent to the standard Sobolev spaces (based on the powers of  $-\Delta$ ) for  $|s| \leq 1$ .

**Proof.** For s = 1 this follows immediately from the above Proposition, noting that  $(-\Delta_V u, u) = \|(-\Delta_V)^{1/2}u\|_{L^2}^2$ . The case s = -1 then follows by duality, and by interpolation we get the statement for  $s \in [-1, 1]$  in between.

We have also the following corollary

COROLLARY 3.2. The operator  $\frac{\nabla}{\sqrt{-\Delta_V}}$ , where  $\nabla$  is the gradient on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $-\Delta_V$  is defined by (3.1.18), satisfies the following estimate:

$$\left\| \frac{\nabla}{\sqrt{-\Delta_V}} f \right\|_{L^2} \le C \|f\|_{L^2}, \ f \in L^2.$$
(3.5.80)

**Proof.** One can rewrite the left side of the inequality (3.5.80) as

$$\left(\frac{\nabla}{\sqrt{-\Delta_V}}f, \frac{\nabla}{\sqrt{-\Delta_V}}f\right)^{1/2}.$$
(3.5.81)

Setting the (3.5.81)  $g = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\Delta_V}} f$ , we obtain, using (3.5.79)

$$(\nabla g, \nabla g) \leq C(-\Delta_V f, f).$$

So (3.5.80) is established.

REMARK 3.2. The Corollary 3.1 shows also the fact that we can replace in the estimate (3.1.16) of Theorem 3.3 and in the estimates in Remark 3.5 the homogeneous perturbed Sobolev space  $\dot{H}_V^s$  by the equivalent space  $\dot{H}^s$ . So in the following chapter we will use only the  $\dot{H}^s$  norms.

## CHAPTER 4

# Scale invariant energy smoothing estimates for the Schrödinger Equation and applications

## 1. Introduction

In this chapter we study smoothing properties of the Schrödinger equation with magnetic potential

$$A = (A_1(t, x), \cdots, A_n(t, x)), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Here  $A_j(t, x), j = 1, \dots, n$ , are real valued functions,  $n \ge 3$  and the corresponding Cauchy problem for the Schrödinger equation has the form

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta_A u = F, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ u(0, x) = f(x), \end{cases}$$
(4.1.1)

where

$$\Delta_A = \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\partial_{x_j} - iA_j)(\partial_{x_j} - iA_j).$$
(4.1.2)

The energy type estimates and the well – posedness of the Cauchy problem (4.1.1) in the energy space are studied in the works [54] and [55] of Doi.

Since the smoothing properties of this evolution problem are closely connected with suitable resolvent estimates for the solution U = U(x) of the elliptic problem

$$\left\{\varepsilon U - i\Delta_A U - i\tau U = H, \quad \varepsilon > 0, \tau > 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, H = H(x),$$
(4.1.3)

we can use as a starting point the scale invariant smoothing estimate obtained in the works of Kenig, Ponce, Vega [117] and Perthame, Vega [149]. This estimate extends earlier works of Agmon, Hörmander [8] and P. Constantin and J.-C. Saut [42].

The scale invariant estimate for (4.1.3) with A = 0 has the form

$$\|\nabla_x U\| \le CN(H), \tag{4.1.4}$$

where C > 0 is independent of  $\varepsilon > 0, \tau > 0$ ,

$$|||G|||^{2} = \sup_{R>0} \frac{1}{R} \int_{|x| \le R} |G(y)|^{2} dy$$

is the Morrey - Campanato norm, while

$$N(H) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k/2} \|H\|_{L^2(2^{k-1} \le |x| \le 2^{k+1})}.$$

From this estimate one can derive the estimate

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-k/2} \|G\|_{L^2(2^{k-1} \le |x| \le 2^{k+1})} \le C \|G\|$$

and the following smoothing scale invariant estimate for the solution u(t, x) to (4.1.1) with A = 0and f = 0:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-k/2} \| \nabla_{x} u(t, \cdot) \|_{L^{2}(2^{k-1} \leq |x| \leq 2^{k+1})} \right)^{2} dt \leq$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k/2} \| F(t, \cdot) \|_{L^{2}(2^{k-1} \leq |x| \leq 2^{k+1})} \right)^{2} dt.$$
(4.1.5)

Our purpose in this Chapter is to derive similar scale invariant smoothing estimates for the case of magnetic potential imposing scale invariant smallness assumptions on the magnetic potential A(x). As in the Chapter 3 we treat only small magnetic potential. This connected with the necessity to avoid resonances phenomena (see Chapter 1, Section 2 and Chapter 3 for more details) (for magnetic perturbation see [45], [47], [146], [155], [179], [183], [200]). The absence of eigenvalues of  $\Delta_A$  with magnetic potential decaying as  $(1 + |x|)^{-1-\delta}$  is discussed in [23]. However, even the remarkable result in [23] can not guarantee that 0 is not an eigenvalue of the Hamiltonian  $\Delta_A$ . The result in [84] shows that even nontrivial smooth compactly supported magnetic field can create resonances. Here we follow our work [69].

To avoid possible eigenvalues or resonances of  $\Delta_A$  we impose the following assumption on the potential A.

ASSUMPTION 1.1. There exists  $\varepsilon > 0$ , such that we have

$$\max_{1 \le j \le n} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{|\beta| \le 1} 2^{k(1+|\beta|)} \| D_x^{\beta} A_j(t,x) \|_{L_t^{\infty} L^{\infty}(|x| \sim 2^k)} \le \varepsilon.$$
(4.1.6)

Our main smoothing estimate is the following one.

THEOREM 4.1. There exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  so that for any potential A(x) satisfying (4.1.6) there exists C > 0, so that for any  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and any  $F(t,x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0))$  the solution u(t,x) to (4.1.1) satisfies the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| \|x\|_{k}^{-1/2} u(t, \cdot)\|_{\dot{H}_{x}^{1/2}} \right)^{2} dt \leq C \|f\|_{L_{x}^{2}}^{2} + C \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| \|x\|_{k}^{1/2} F(t, \cdot)\|_{\dot{H}_{x}^{-1/2}} \right)^{2} dt,$$
(4.1.7)

where  $\dot{H}_x^s = \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is the classical homogeneous Sobolev space and  $|x|_k^{\pm 1/2} = |x|^{\pm 1/2}Q_k(x)$  and the Paley - Littlewood partition of unity

$$1 = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} Q_k(x), \tag{4.1.8}$$

is defined as follows

$$Q_k(x) = \varphi\left(\frac{|x|}{2^k}\right),$$

where  $\varphi(s) \in C_0^{\infty}((1/2, 2))$  is a non - negative function.

The key point to derive this estimate is a suitable scale and time invariant smoothing estimate for the free Schrödinger equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta u = F, \quad t > 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0, x) = f(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.1.9)

To be more precise, we introduce the following norms motivated by the statement of the main result in Theorem 4.1. Take

$$Y = L_t^2(\ell_x^{1,1/2} \dot{H}^{-1/2}), \quad Y' = L_t^2(\ell_x^{\infty, -1/2} \dot{H}^{1/2}), \tag{4.1.10}$$

where the spaces  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$  for any Banach space B is introduced in Section 2. Note that Y is not reflexive ( $(\ell_x^{1,1/2})' = \ell_x^{\infty,-1/2}$ , but  $(\ell_x^{\infty,-1/2})' \neq \ell_x^{1,1/2}$ ).

Then the estimate of the previous theorem can be rewritten in the form

$$\|u\|_{Y'}^2 \le C \|f\|_{L^2}^2 + \|F\|_Y^2, \tag{4.1.11}$$

and we shall call Y' smoothing space.

Then the main point in the proof of Theorem 4.1 is to establish first the following energy smoothing estimate for the case A = 0.

THEOREM 4.2. There exists C > 0, such that for any  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and any  $F(t, x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0))$ the solution u(t, x) to (4.1.9) satisfies the estimate

$$\|u\|_{L_t^{\infty}L_x^2} + \|u\|_{Y'} \le C\|f\|_{L_x^2} + C\left(\min_{F=F_1+F_2} \|F_1\|_Y + \|F_2\|_{L_t^1L_x^2}\right).$$
(4.1.12)

On the basis of the estimate in Theorem 4.2 we shall derive a slightly stronger estimate for the perturbed Schrödinger equation.

COROLLARY 4.1. There exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  so that for any potential A(x) satisfying (4.1.6) there exists C > 0, so that for any  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and any  $F(t,x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0))$  the solution u(t,x) to (4.1.1) satisfies the estimate

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + \|u\|_{Y'} \le C\|f\|_{L^{2}_{x}} + C\left(\min_{F=F_{1}+F_{2}}\|F_{1}\|_{Y} + \|F_{2}\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}\right).$$
(4.1.13)

As an application we consider the following semilinear Schrödinger equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta_A u = |V(t, x)u|^p, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ u(0, x) = f(x), \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.14)$$

where p > 1 and V(t, x) is a measurable function satisfying the inequality

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{ka} \| V(t,x) \|_{L^{\infty}_{t} L^{\infty}(|x| \sim 2^{k})} \le C < \infty.$$
(4.1.15)

Then we have the following global existence result with initial data having small  $L^2-$  norm only.

THEOREM 4.3. Suppose that the potential A(x) satisfies (4.1.6), V obeys (4.1.15) with  $a \in [1, 2)$ and

$$p = \frac{n+4}{n+2a}.$$
 (4.1.16)

Then there exists  $\delta > 0$ , so that for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with

 $\|f\|_{L^2} \le \delta$ 

the problem (4.1.14) has a unique global solution

$$u(t,x) \in C(\mathbb{R}, L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap Y'.$$

The proof of Theorem 4.2 is based on the estimate (4.1.5) due to Kenig, Ponce, Vega [117], [118]. In order to have a self contained presentation we give an alternative proof of this result due to Konig, Ponce, Vega in Section 8.

The key step to derive the estimate (4.1.12) from the estimate (4.1.5) is the following equivalence norm result.

THEOREM 4.4. For  $n \ge 3, 1 < q < \infty$ , for  $s \in [-1, 1]$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  that satisfy

$$|a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2},\tag{4.1.17}$$

the following norms are equivalent

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{qka} \|Q_k|D|^s f\|_{L^2}^q \end{pmatrix}^{1/q}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{qka} \| \|D|^s Q_k f\|_{L^2}^q \end{pmatrix}^{1/q}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| \|D|^s |x|_k^a f\|_{L^2}^q \end{pmatrix}^{1/q}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| \|D|^s |x|_k^a f\|_{L^2}^q \end{pmatrix}^{1/q}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.18)$$

where  $|x|_k^a = |x|^a Q_k(x)$  and the Paley - Littlewood partition of unity  $Q_k(x)$  is defined in (4.1.8). For  $q = \infty$  the result is still valid with obvious modification in (4.1.18).

The main idea to establish the theorem is similar to the approach developed in [63], [48] and [66] for the case of nonhomogeneous Sobolev spaces and non homogeneous weights. Therefore, we shall make a localization in the coordinate space and we shall use the Paley Littlewood partition (4.1.8). The key point in this approach is to evaluate the norm of the operator of type  $Q_k |D|^{-s} Q_m |D|^s$  with |k - m| large enough.

The proof of Theorem 4.2 can be obtained from the estimate for the Cauchy problem with initial data f = 0 and the following theorems (see section 7 for the definition of the spaces  $\ell_D^{r,s} B$  for any Banach space B).

THEOREM 4.5. If  $q \in [1, 2]$  and  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} |s| \le 1, \\ |a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.19)

then

$$\|f\|_{\ell_D^{2,0}\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s} \le C \|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s}.$$
(4.1.20)

THEOREM 4.6. If  $q \in [2, \infty]$  and  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy (4.1.19), then

$$\|f\|_{\ell^{q,a}_{x}\dot{H}^{s}} \le C\|f\|_{\ell^{2,0}_{x}\ell^{q,a}_{x}\dot{H}^{s}}.$$
(4.1.21)

The plan of this chapter is the following. The proof of the free smoothing estimate of Theorem 4.2 is given in Section 2. The proof of the main scale invariant smoothing estimate of Theorem 4.1 is done in Section 3. In Section 4 we treat the commutator estimates needed in the proof the equivalence of the norms in Theorem 4.4. Some convolution type inequalities needed in the proofs of Theorem 4.4 are included in Section 5. The concluding steps in the proof of Theorem 4.4 are presented in Section 6. Finally the phase localization and the proofs of Theorems 4.5 and (4.6) are given in the last Section 7. The proof of the estimate due to Kenig, Ponce, Vega is presented in Section 8 for self contained completeness.

## 2. Weighted Sobolev space estimates for the free Schrödinger equation and proof of Theorem 4.2

Given any Banach space  $B \subset D'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfying the property

for any 
$$Q(x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ f \in B \Rightarrow Q(x)f \in B,$$

$$(4.2.22)$$

we can define for any  $q \in [1,\infty]$  and for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  the space  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$  as follows

$$\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,\alpha_B}} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \|Q_k f\|_B^q 2^{kq\alpha}\right)^{1/q},$$
(4.2.23)

with obvious modification for  $q = \infty$ . Note that for any  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$  we have

 $\|f\|_{\ell^{q,\alpha}_x B} < \infty.$ 

So  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$  can be defined as the closure of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$  with respect to the norm (4.2.23). An alternative definition is based on the map

$$J: f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \subset B \to J_B(f)_k = \|Q_k f\|_B \in \ell^{q,\alpha},$$
(4.2.24)

where  $\ell^{q,\alpha}$  is the space of all sequences  $a = (a_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  such that

$$\|a\|_{\ell^{q,\alpha}} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \|a_k\|^q 2^{kq\alpha}\right)^{1/q} < \infty,$$
(4.2.25)

with obvious modification for  $q = \infty$  (see Chapter 1, Section 9 for more details). Then

$$\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B} = \|J_B(f)\|_{\ell^{q,\alpha}}.$$
(4.2.26)

The space  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$  is independent of the concrete choice of Paley-Littlewood decomposition

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} Q_j(x) = 1 \tag{4.2.27}$$

satisfying

$$\begin{cases} Q_j(x) \ge 0, \\ supp \ Q_j(x) \in \{ |x| \sim 2^j \}. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.28)

A typical example, wich is needed for the smoothing resolvent type estimates, is the case  $B = \dot{H}_p^s$ where  $s \in (-1,1), 1 . For <math>s > -\frac{n}{p}$  we have  $\dot{H}_p^s(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset D'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see [48]) and the norm is defined by

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{s}_{-}} = \||D|^{s}f\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(4.2.29)

After this preparation we can turn to the proof of Theorem 4.2. Starting with the estimate (4.1.5), we use Lemma 4.12 (see Section 6) and find

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| |x|_k^{-1/2} \nabla u \|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \sim \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| |x|_k^{-1/2} |D| u \|_{L^2_t L^2_x}$$

so (4.1.5) can be rewritten as

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{-1/2} |D|u\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \le C\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} F\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}\right).$$
(4.2.30)

Using the fact that  $|D|^s$  commutes with  $\Delta$  one can obtain the following consequence of this estimate

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{-1/2} |D|^{1-\sigma} u\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \le C\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} |D|^{\sigma} F\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}\right)$$
(4.2.31)

for any  $\sigma \in [0,1]$ . In particular for  $\sigma = 1/2$  we get

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{-1/2} |D|^{1/2} u\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \le C \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} |D|^{1/2} F\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \right).$$
(4.2.32)

To this end, we are in position to apply the result of Proposition 4.1 (see Section 6) and derive that

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} |||x|_k^{-1/2} |D|^{1/2} u||_{L^2_t L^2_x} \sim ||u||_{L^2_t \ell^{\infty, -1/2}_x \dot{H}^{1/2}_x},$$
(4.2.33)

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} ||x|_k^{-1/2} |D|^{1/2} u||_{L^2_t L^2_x} \sim \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} ||x|_k^{-1/2} u||_{L^2_t \dot{H}^{1/2}_x}$$

In a similar way Proposition 4.1 implies

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} |D|^{-1/2} F\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \sim \|f\|_{L^2_t \ell^{1,1/2}_x \dot{H}^{-1/2}_x},$$
(4.2.34)

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} |D|^{-1/2} F\|_{L_t^2 L_x^2} \sim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} F\|_{L_t^2 \dot{H}_x^{-1/2}}$$

The estimate (4.2.32) reads as

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| |x|_k^{-1/2} u \|_{L^2_t \dot{H}^{1/2}_x} \le C \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| |x|_k^{1/2} F \|_{L^2_t \dot{H}^{-1/2}_x} \right)$$
(4.2.35)

or using the notations of this section (see (4.1.10) and the definition (4.2.26)) as

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s) ds \right\|_{Y'} \le C \|F\|_{Y}.$$
(4.2.36)

It is easy to derive a similar estimate

$$\left\|\int_{t}^{\infty} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s)ds\right\|_{Y'} \le C\|F\|_{Y},\tag{4.2.37}$$

by the aid of (4.2.36) and a duality argument for the quadratic form

$$Q(F,G) = \int \int_{t>s} \langle e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s), G(t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ds dt.$$

Further, we have to derive the estimate

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s) ds \right\|_{L_{t}^{\infty} L_{x}^{2}} \le C \|F\|_{Y}.$$
(4.2.38)

For that purpose set  $u(t) = \int_0^t e^{i(t-s)\Delta}F(s)ds$ . Then u = u(t,x) is a solution to

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta u = F, \quad t > 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0, x) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.2.39)

Multiplying by u and integrating over  $\{0 \le t \le T, x \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$  we get

$$\|u(T)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \leq \int_{0}^{T} \langle F(t), u(t) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} dt \leq \|F\|_{Y} \|u\|_{Y'}.$$

Applying (4.2.36), we arrive at (4.2.38). In a similar way we get

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s) ds \right\|_{Y'} \le C \|F\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}.$$
(4.2.40)

Finally, it remains to prove

$$\left\| e^{it\Delta} f \right\|_{Y'} \le C \|f\|_{L^2_x}.$$
(4.2.41)

Consider the operator L defined by

$$L: f \in L^2_x \implies e^{it\Delta}f.$$

Our goal is to show that L is bounded from  $L_x^2$  to  $L_t^2 \ell_x^{\infty,-1/2} \dot{H}_x^{1/2}$ . But the continuity of L from  $L_x^2$  to  $L_t^2 \ell_x^{\infty,-1/2} \dot{H}_x^{1/2}$  is follows from the continuity of its (formally) adjoint

$$L^*f = \int_0^\infty e^{-i\tau\Delta} f(\tau) d\tau,$$

from Y to  $L_x^2$ , which in turns follows from (4.2.38) and the fact that  $e^{it\Delta}$  is a unitary operator in  $L^2$ .

From (4.2.35), (4.2.38), (4.2.40), (4.2.41) and standard energy estimate, we get (4.1.13) and the proof of Theorem 4.2 is completed.

### 3. Proof of Theorem 4.1

In this section we will prove the Theorem 4.1, so we shall prove the estimate (4.1.7), where u is the solution of the problem (4.1.1). First of all we have the identities

$$\Delta_A u = \sum_{j=1}^n (\partial_{x_j} - iA_j)(\partial_{x_j} - iA_j)u$$
  
=  $\Delta u - 2i\nabla \cdot (Au) + Wu,$  (4.3.42)

where

$$W(t,x) = |A(t,x)|^2 - i\nabla \cdot A$$

satisfies

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{2k} \| W(t, x) \|_{L^{\infty}_{t} L^{\infty}_{\{|x| \sim 2^{k}\}}} \le \varepsilon$$

due to (4.1.6).

So, after substitution in the equation of (4.1.1), we obtain

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t u - \Delta u = -2i\nabla \cdot (Au) + Wu + F \quad t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ u(0,x) = f(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.3.43)

First of all, we observe that the term Wu, thanks to the smallness assumption (1.1), can be absorbed in the left hand side of the estimate (4.1.7). This fact suggests to localize our attention to the reduced problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta u = -2i\nabla \cdot (Au) + F, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ u(0,x) = f(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.3.44)

So, using the norms in the spaces  $\ell_x^{p,\alpha}B$  introduced in (4.2.23) we apply the estimate (4.1.7) and obtain

$$\|u\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_{x}\dot{H}^{1/2}_{x}} \leq C\|\nabla\cdot(Au)\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{1,1/2}_{x}\dot{H}^{-1/2}_{x}} + C\|F\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{1,1/2}_{x}\dot{H}^{-1/2}_{x}} + C\|f\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(4.3.45)

From the equivalent norm estimates in Proposition 4.1 (see Section 6 and the equivalence norms relations in (4.2.33), (4.2.34) also) we have

$$\|\nabla \cdot (Au)\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{1,1/2}_{\infty}\dot{H}^{-1/2}_{\infty}} \sim \|Au\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{1,1/2}_{\infty}\dot{H}^{1/2}_{\infty}}.$$
(4.3.46)

From Proposition 4.2 we have

$$\begin{split} \|Au\|_{L^2_t\ell^{1,1/2}_x\dot{H}^{1/2}_x} \lesssim \|A\|_{L^\infty_t\ell^{1,1}_x\dot{H}^{1/2}_{2n}} \|u\|_{L^2_t\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_xL^{2n/(n-1)}_x} + \\ + \|A\|_{L^\infty_t\ell^{1,1}_xL^\infty_x} \|u\|_{L^2_t\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_x\dot{H}^{1/2}_x}. \end{split}$$

From the Sobolev embedding  $\dot{H}_x^{1/2} \subset L_x^{2n/(n-1)}$ , we obtain

$$\|u\|_{L^2_t\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_x L^{2n/(n-1)}_x} \lesssim \|u\|_{L^2_t\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_x \dot{H}^{1/2}_x},$$

while the interpolation inequality of Proposition 4.3 (see Section 6) guarantees that

$$\|A\|_{L_t^\infty \ell_x^{1,1} \dot{H}_{2n}^{1/2}}^2 \lesssim \|\nabla A\|_{L_t^\infty \ell_x^{1,3/2} L^{2n}} \|A\|_{L_t^\infty \ell_x^{1,1/2} L^{2n}}$$

so applying the Hölder inequality

$$||g||_{\ell_x^{1,a}L^p} \lesssim ||g||_{\ell_x^{1,a+n/p}L^\infty},$$

we get

$$\|A\|_{L_t^{\infty}\ell_x^{1,1}\dot{H}_{2n}^{1/2}}^2 \lesssim \|\nabla A\|_{L_t^{\infty}\ell_x^{1,2}L^{\infty}} \|A\|_{L_t^{\infty}\ell_x^{1,1}L^{\infty}} \le \varepsilon^2$$

due to assumption on A. The above observation implies

$$\|Au\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{1,1/2}_{x}\dot{H}^{1/2}_{x}} \lesssim \varepsilon \|u\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_{x}\dot{H}^{1/2}_{x}}.$$

Using again the estimates (4.3.45), we obtain

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| |x|_k^{-1/2} u(t, \cdot) \|_{L^2_t \dot{H}^{1/2}_x} \le C \| F \|_{L^2_t \ell^{1, 1/2}_x \dot{H}^{-1/2}_x} + C \| f \|_{L^2_x}.$$
(4.3.47)

This concludes the proof of the theorem.

## 4. Estimate of the Operator $Q_k |D|^{-s} Q_m |D|^s$ .

Our goal is to compare the norms

$$\| |D|^{-s} f \|_{\ell_x^{q,a} L^p} = \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{kqa} \|Q_k|D|^{-s} f \|_{L^p}^q \right)^{1/q}$$

and

$$\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}_p^s} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kqa} \||D|^{-s}Q_k f\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q}$$

(see Section 8.1 in the Chapter 1 or Section 2 of this chapter for the definition of the spaces  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$ , where B is any Banach space such that  $B \subset D'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ). The key point in the proof that these norms are equivalent is the following estimate for the operator

$$Q_k |D|^{-s} Q_m |D|^s$$
 for  $|k-m| > 2.$  (4.4.48)

LEMMA 4.1. For any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , |s| < 1, any  $p, 1 and any <math>k, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $|k - m| \ge 3$  we have the estimate

$$\|Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_m|D|^sf\|_{L^p} \le C \ 2^{t(k,m,s,p)} \ \|f\|_{L^p}, \tag{4.4.49}$$

where C = C(s, p) independent of  $k, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and

$$t(k,m,s,p) = k\frac{n}{p} + m\frac{n}{p'} - (n - (s \lor 0))(k \lor m) - (s \lor 0))(k \land m),$$
(4.4.50)

 $\frac{1}{p'} = 1 - \frac{1}{p}, \ k \wedge m = \min(k, m), \ k \vee m = \max(k, m).$ 

**Proof:** First we shall prove the lemma for  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\text{Re } s \in [0,1]$ . For that purpose consider the family of operators

$$T^{z} = e^{z^{2}} Q_{k} |D|^{-z} Q_{m} |D|^{z}.$$
(4.4.51)

If Re z = 0, then  $z = i\sigma, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}$  and

$$T^{i\sigma} = e^{-\sigma^2} Q_k |D|^{-i\sigma} Q_m |D|^{i\sigma}.$$
(4.4.52)

Applying stationary phase method (in this case simply integration by parts), we see that the operator  $Q_k |D|^{-i\sigma} Q_m$  has the kernel

$$K_{k,m,\sigma}(x,y)$$

satisfying

$$|K_{k,m,\sigma}(x,y)| \le C \frac{Q_k(x)Q_m(y)}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} (1+\sigma)^{n+1}.$$
(4.4.53)

This estimate implies

$$\|Q_k|D|^{-i\sigma}Q_mg\|_{L^p} \le C \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}}2^{m\frac{n}{p'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} \|g\|_{L^p}.$$
(4.4.54)

Further we apply this inequality with  $g = |D|^{i\sigma} f$  and using the following one (see Theorem 1, Section 2.2 in [185])

$$||D|^{i\sigma}f||_{L^p} \le C||f||_{L^p}(1+\sigma)^{n+1},$$
(4.4.55)

we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|T^{i\sigma}(f)\|_{L^{p}} &\leq C \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{n}{p'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} e^{-\sigma^{2}} (1+\sigma)^{2(n+1)} \|f\|_{L^{p}} \leq \\ &\leq C_{1} \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{n}{p'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} \|f\|_{L^{p}} \end{aligned}$$
(4.4.56)

 $\forall \sigma \in \mathbb{R} \text{ with } C_1 \text{ independent of } k, m \text{ and } \sigma. \text{ If } z = 1 + i\sigma, \text{ then}$ 

$$T^{1+i\sigma} = e^{1-\sigma^2 + 2i\sigma} Q_k |D|^{-1-i\sigma} Q_m \nabla |D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|}.$$
(4.4.57)

So it is sufficient to estimate the operator

$$S^{\sigma} = Q_k |D|^{-1-i\sigma} Q_m \nabla.$$
(4.4.58)

Note that

$$S^{\sigma} = Q_k (|D|^{-1-i\sigma} \nabla) Q_m - Q_k |D|^{-1-i\sigma} Q'_m,$$

where  $Q'_m = \nabla Q_m$ . The operator  $Q_k(|D|^{-1-i\sigma}\nabla)Q_m$  has kernel  $K'_{k,m}$  satisfying

$$|K'_{k,m}| \le C \frac{Q_k(x)Q_m(y)}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} (1+\sigma)^{n+1}.$$
(4.4.59)

This estimate is verified in the same way as (4.4.53). The operator  $Q_k |D|^{-1-i\sigma} Q'_m$  has the kernel  $K''_{k,m}$  that satisfies the estimate

$$K_{k,m}''| \le C \frac{Q_k(x)Q_m(y)}{2^{(n-1)(k\vee m)}2^m} (1+\sigma)^{n+1}.$$
(4.4.60)

From (4.4.59) and (4.4.60) together with (4.4.55) we find

$$\|T^{1+i\sigma}(f)\|_{L^p} \le C \, \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{m}{p'}}}{2^{(n-1)(k\vee m)} 2^{k\wedge m}} \|f\|_{L^p}.$$
(4.4.61)

Applying the complex interpolation argument of Stein (see [186]), we get (4.4.49) for 0 < s < 1. This complete the proof for  $s \in (0, 1)$ .

Next we take  $z = -1 + i\sigma$ . Then

$$T^{1+i\sigma} = e^{1-\sigma^2 - 2i\sigma} Q_k |D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} \nabla Q_m |D|^{-1+i\sigma}.$$
(4.4.62)

Then we use the relation

$$Q_{k}|D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} \nabla Q_{m}|D|^{-1+i\sigma} = Q_{k}|D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} Q_{m} \nabla |D|^{-1+i\sigma} + Q_{k}|D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} (\nabla Q_{m})|D|^{-1+i\sigma}.$$

$$(4.4.63)$$

The kernel of  $Q_k |D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} (\nabla Q_m)$  is  $K_{k,m}^{\prime\prime\prime}$  and satisfies

$$|K_{k,m}^{\prime\prime\prime}| \le C \frac{Q_k(x)Q_m(y)}{2^{(n-1)(k\vee m)}2^m} (1+\sigma)^{n+1},$$
(4.4.64)

then we obtain

$$\|Q_k|D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} (\nabla Q_m) |D|^{-1+i\sigma} g\|_{L^p} \le C \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{n}{r'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)} 2^m} \|g\|_{L^r}.$$
(4.4.65)

Taking  $g = |D|^{-1} f$ , we get (Hardy-Sobolev)

$$|||D|^{-1}f||_{L^r} \le ||f||_{L^p}, \quad \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{n}.$$

From the fact that  $\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{n}$  we have  $1 - \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{r'} = 1 - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{n} = \frac{1}{p'} + \frac{1}{n}$  and we arrive at

$$\|Q_k|D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} (\nabla Q_m) |D|^{-1+i\sigma} f\|_{L^p} \le C \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{n}{p'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} \|f\|_{L^p},$$
(4.4.66)

provided p < n. Since

$$\|Q_k|D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} Q_m \nabla |D|^{-1+i\sigma}\|_{L^p} \le C \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{n}{p'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} \|f\|_{L^p},$$
(4.4.67)

from (4.4.63) and (4.4.66) we get

$$\|T^{1+i\sigma}(f)\|_{L^p} \le C \frac{2^{k\frac{n}{p}} 2^{m\frac{n}{p'}}}{2^{n(k\vee m)}} \|f\|_{L^p}.$$
(4.4.68)

The application of the Stein interpolation argument for z; Re  $z \in [-1, 0]$  combined with the above estimate and (4.4.56) guarantees that (4.4.49) is fulfilled for  $s \in (-1, 0]$  and this complete the proof of the lemma.

It is not difficult to extend the result of Lemma 4.1 for  $|k - m| \le 3$ . Note that a formal calculus of t(k, m, s, p) for  $|k - m| \le 3$  in (4.4.50) gives  $2^{t(k, m, s, p)} \sim 1$ . To verify

$$\|Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_m|D|^sf\|_{L^p} \le C\|f\|_{L^p}, \tag{4.4.69}$$

for |s| < 1, 1 < p < n, it is sufficient to use a scale argument and to show (4.4.69) for k = m = 0 so we shall verify the inequality

$$||Q_0|D|^{-s}Q_0|D|^sf||_{L^p} \le C||f||_{L^p}.$$
(4.4.70)

Here we can use an interpolation argument as in the proof of Lemma 4.1. Then we have to show that  $L_{\sigma} = Q_0 |D|^{-1+i\sigma} Q_0 \nabla$  is  $L^p$ -bounded. But

$$L_{\sigma} = Q_0(|D|^{-1+i\sigma}\nabla)Q_0 + Q_0|D|^{i\sigma}|D|^{-1}(\nabla Q_0).$$
(4.4.71)

Since  $|D|^{-1}\nabla$  is  $L^p$ -bounded and  $|D|^{i\sigma}$  is also  $L^p$ -bounded as Riesz potential, we see that  $Q_0(|D|^{-1+i\sigma}\nabla)Q_0$  is  $L^p$ -bounded. From the property

$$|D|^{-1}: L^r \to L^p, \quad \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{n},$$
(4.4.72)

and

$$\nabla Q_0: L^p \to L^r, \tag{4.4.73}$$

we see that  $|D|^{-1}(\nabla Q_0) : L^p \to L^p$  so  $L_{\sigma}$  is  $L^p$  -bounded. This observation and a Stein interpolation argument implies (4.4.69) for  $s \in (0, 1)$ . To cover the case  $s \in (-1, 0)$  we have to show that

$$L'_{\sigma} = Q_0 |D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} \nabla Q_0 |D|^{-1+i\sigma}, \quad \text{is } L^p\text{-bounded}$$
(4.4.74)

But

$$L'_{\sigma} = Q_0 |D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} (\nabla Q_0) |D|^{-1} |D|^{i\sigma} + Q_0 |D|^{i\sigma} \frac{\nabla}{|D|} \nabla Q_0 \frac{\nabla}{|D|} |D|^{i\sigma},$$
(4.4.75)

and again we can show that (4.4.72) and (4.4.73) imply that the operator on the right hand side of the (4.4.75) is  $L^p$ -bounded ( with norm  $\leq C(1 + \sigma)^{n+1}$ ). Since the second operator is also  $L^p$ -bounded, we see that  $L'_{\sigma}$  is also  $L^p$ -bounded and this argument implies

LEMMA 4.2. For any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , |s| < 1 any p, 1 there exists a constant <math>C = C(s, p, n) > 0 so that for any  $k, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and for  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\|Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_m|D|^sf\|_{L^p} \le C \ 2^{t(k,m,s,p)} \ \|f\|_{L^p}, \tag{4.4.76}$$

where t(k, m, s, p) is defined as (4.4.50).

Finally we use a duality argument and find :

LEMMA 4.3. For any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  such that |s| < 1, and for any  $p, \frac{n}{n-1} , there exists a constant <math>C = C(s, p, n) > 0$  so that for  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\|Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_m|D|^sf\|_{L^p} \le C \ 2^{t(k,m,s,p)} \ \|f\|_{L^p}, \tag{4.4.77}$$

where t(k, m, s, p) is defined as (4.4.50).

**Proof:** For any  $f, g \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} |(g,|D|^{-s}Q_k|D|^sQ_mf)| &= |(Q_m|D|^{-s}Q_k|D|^sg,f)| \\ &\leq ||f||_{L^p}||D|^{-s}Q_k|D|^sQ_mg||_{L^{p'}}. \end{aligned}$$
(4.4.78)

Applying for p' the estimate of (4.2), we find

$$||D|^{-s}Q_k|D|^sQ_mg||_{L^{p'}} \le 2^{t(m,k,s,p')} ||g||_{L^p},$$
(4.4.79)

where

$$t(m,k,s,p') = k\frac{n}{p} + m\frac{n}{p'} - (n - (s \lor 0))(k \lor m) - (s \lor 0))(k \land m) = t(k,m,s,p).$$
  
lete the proof.

This complete the proof.

### 5. Discrete Estimate

Consider the operator

$$T: a = \{a_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \to Ta = b_m = \sum_{k \in \{|k-m| \ge 4\}} t_{k,m} a_k,$$
(4.5.80)

where

$$t_{k,m} = 2^{m\lambda} 2^{\mu k} 2^{-\beta(m \vee k)}, \quad m \vee k = max(m,k),$$
(4.5.81)

$$\lambda > 0, \mu > 0, \quad \beta = \lambda + \mu. \tag{4.5.82}$$

LEMMA 4.4. If  $\lambda, \mu > 0$ , and  $\beta = \lambda + \mu$ , then the operator

 $T:\ell^q\to\ell^q$ 

is bounded for any  $q \in [1, \infty]$ .

**Proof:** First we consider the cases  $q = \infty$  and q = 1, then we apply the interpolation argument. We represent Ta as

$$Ta = T_1 a + T_2 a, \tag{4.5.83}$$

where

$$(T_1a)_m = \sum_{k=m+1}^{\infty} t_{k,m} a_k, \tag{4.5.84}$$

$$(T_2 a)_m = \sum_{-\infty}^m t_{k,m} a_k.$$
(4.5.85)

From (4.5.81) we find for  $T_1a$ 

$$\|T_{1}a\|_{\infty} \leq Csup_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k=m+1}^{\infty} t_{k,m}\right) \|a\|_{\infty} \leq \leq Csup_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k=m+1}^{\infty} 2^{m\lambda} 2^{k\mu} 2^{-\beta m}\right) \|a\|_{\infty},$$
(4.5.86)

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$||T_1a||_{\infty} \le C||a||_{\infty}.$$
(4.5.87)

## From (4.5.81) we have for $T_2a$ the following estimate

$$||T_2a||_{\infty} \leq Csup_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{m} 2^{m\lambda} 2^{\mu k} 2^{-\beta k}\right) ||a||_{\infty} =$$

$$= Csup_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k=-\infty}^{m} 2^{m\lambda} 2^{-\lambda k}\right) ||a||_{\infty} = C||a||_{\infty}.$$
(4.5.88)

This estimate and (4.5.87) imply

$$||Ta||_{\infty} \le C||a||_{\infty}.\tag{4.5.89}$$

For q = 1 we have

$$||T_{1}a||_{1} \leq Csup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\{m\in\mathbb{Z};m\geq k\}} t_{k,m}\right) ||a||_{1} \leq \leq sup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{m=k}^{\infty} 2^{m\lambda} 2^{k\mu} 2^{-\beta m}\right) ||a||_{1} = = Csup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{k\mu} \left(\sum_{m=k}^{\infty} 2^{-m\mu}\right) ||a||_{1} \leq 2C ||a||_{1}.$$
(4.5.90)

In a similar way we estimate  $T_2a$ ,

$$\|T_{2}a\|_{1} \leq Csup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{m=-\infty}^{k-1} 2^{m\lambda} 2^{k\mu} 2^{-\beta k}\right) \|a\|_{1} =$$

$$= Csup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{m=-\infty}^{k-1} 2^{m\lambda} 2^{-k\lambda} \|a\|_{1} \leq C \|a\|_{1}.$$
(4.5.91)

Thus we get

$$|Ta||_1 \le C ||a||_1, \tag{4.5.92}$$

and this completes the proof of the lemma.

It easy to obtain a corresponding weighted version of Lemma 4.4 in terms of the weighted  $\ell^q$  spaces

$$\ell^{q,\alpha} = \{a = (a)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}; \sum_{k} 2^{kq\alpha} |a_k|^q < \infty\}.$$
(4.5.93)

For that purpose consider the operator

 $J^{\alpha}: a \to b = J^{\alpha}a,$ 

defined as follows:

$$b_k = 2^{k\alpha} a_k. \tag{4.5.94}$$

We have the following two Lemmas:

LEMMA 4.5. The application  $J^{\alpha}: \ell^q \to \ell^{q,\alpha}$  is an isomorphism for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and any  $q \in [1, \infty]$ . LEMMA 4.6. If  $\sigma, \nu, \lambda, \mu$  are real numbers such that

$$\begin{cases} \lambda + \sigma > 0, \\ \mu - \nu > 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.5.95)

then for  $\beta = \lambda + \sigma + \mu - \nu$  we have

 $T:\ell^{q,\sigma}\to\ell^{q,\nu}$ 

where T is defined by (4.5.80) and (4.5.81).

**Proof:** Let

$$\widetilde{T}: J_{\sigma}TJ_{\mu}^{-1}.$$

Then Lemma 4.5 guarantees that  $T: l^{q,\sigma} \to \ell^{q,\nu}$  if and only if  $\widetilde{T}: \ell^q \to \ell^q$ . Note that  $\widetilde{T}$  is defined by  $t_{m,k} = 2^{m(\lambda+\sigma)} 2^{k(\mu-\nu)} 2^{-\beta(m\vee k)}.$  (4.5.96)

So applying Lemma 4.4 with  $\tilde{\lambda} = \lambda + \sigma$  and  $\tilde{\mu} = \mu - \nu$ , we complete the proof.

A slight generalization of Lemma 4.4 can be obtained for the case when  $\lambda, \mu, \beta$  are vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , that is

$$\begin{cases} \lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2), \\ \mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2), \\ \beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2). \end{cases}$$

Then (4.5.80)

$$\begin{cases} Ta = b, \text{ where } b_m = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2} t_{m,k} a_k, \ m \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \\ a = \{a_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.97)$$

where

$$t_{m,k} = 2^{\sum_{j=1}^{2} m_j \lambda_j + k_j \mu_j - \beta_j (m_j \vee k_j)}.$$
(4.5.98)

The assumption (4.5.81) can be replaced again by the following one

$$\lambda_j > 0, \mu_j > 0, \ j = 1, 2.$$
 (4.5.99)

LEMMA 4.7. If 
$$\lambda, \mu, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^2$$
 satisfy  $\beta_j = \lambda_j + \mu_j, i = 1, 2$  and if  $t_{m,k}$  is chosen as in (4.5.96) then

$$T: \ell_{k_1}^{q_1} \ell_{k_2}^{q_2} \to \ell_{k_1}^{q_1} \ell_{k_2}^{q_2}, \tag{4.5.100}$$

is bounded for  $q = (q_1, q_2), 1 \le q_j \le \infty$ .

**REMARK 4.1.** Given any sequence  $a = \{a_{k_1k_2}\}_{k=(k_1,k_2)\in\mathbb{Z}^2}$  we can consider the norm

$$\|a\|_{\ell_{k_1}^{q_1}\ell_{k_2}^{q_2}} = \left(\sum_{k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} |a_{k_1k_2}|^{q_2}\right)^{q_1/q_2}\right)^{1/q_1},$$
(4.5.101)

(with obvious modifications if  $q_1 = \infty$  or  $q_2 = \infty$ ), and the corresponding Banach space  $\ell_{k_1}^{q_1} \ell_{k_2}^{q_2}$ . Note that

$$\ell_{k_1}^{q_1}\ell_{k_2}^{q_2} \neq \ell_{k_2}^{q_2}\ell_{k_1}^{q_1}$$

but the assertion of Lemma 4.7 is still true if we replace  $\ell_{k_1}^{q_1}\ell_{k_2}^{q_2}$  by  $\ell_{k_2}^{q_2}\ell_{k_1}^{q_1}$ . The corresponding generalization of Lemma 4.6 is the following,

LEMMA 4.8. If  $\sigma, \nu, \lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{R}^2$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_j + \sigma_j > 0, \\ \mu_j - \nu_j > 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.102)$$

then for  $\beta_j = \lambda_j + \sigma_j + \mu_j - \nu_j$ , j = 1, 2 the operator T defined by (4.5.97) and (4.5.98) is in  $B(\ell_{k_1}^{q_1,\sigma_1}\ell_{k_2}^{q_2,\sigma_2}, \ell_{k_1}^{q_1,\nu_1}\ell_{k_2}^{q_2,\nu_2})$ .

## 6. Space localization

Given any Banach space  $B \subset D'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfying the property

for any 
$$Q(x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ f \in B \Rightarrow Q(x)f \in B,$$
 (4.6.103)

we can define for any  $p \in [1,\infty]$  and for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  the space  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$  as follows

$$\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kq\alpha} \|Q_k f\|_B^q\right)^{1/q},$$
(4.6.104)

with obvious modification for  $q = \infty$ . Note that for any  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$  we have

 $\|f\|_{\ell^{q,\alpha}_x B} < \infty.$ 

So  $\ell_x^{q,\alpha}B$  can be defined as the closure of  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$  with respect to the norm (4.6.104). An alternative definition is based on the map

$$J: f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}) \subset B \to J_B(f)_k = \|Q_k f\|_B \in \ell^{q,\alpha},$$
(4.6.105)

where  $\ell^{q, \alpha}$  is the space of all sequences  $a = (a_k)_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$  such that

$$\|a\|_{l^{q,\alpha}} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \|a_k\|^q 2^{kq\alpha}\right)^{1/q},$$
(4.6.106)

with obvious modification for  $p = \infty$ . Then

$$\|f\|_{l^{q,\alpha}B} = \|J_B(f)\|_{l^{q,\alpha}}.$$
(4.6.107)

The space  $l^{q,\alpha}B$  is independent of the concrete choice of Paley-Littlewood decomposition

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}Q_j(x)=1\tag{4.6.108}$$

satisfying

$$\begin{cases} Q_j(x) \ge 0, \\ supp \ Q_j(x) \in \{|x| \sim 2^j\}. \end{cases}$$
(4.6.109)

A typical example is the case  $B = \dot{H}_p^s$ , where  $s \in (-1,1), 1 . For <math>s > -\frac{n}{p}$  we have  $\dot{H}_p^s(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset D'$  (see [48]) and the norm is defined by

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}_{n}^{s}} = \||D|^{s}f\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(4.6.110)

Our next goal is to show the equivalence of the norms

$$\| |D|^{-s} f \|_{\ell_x^{q,\alpha} L^p} = \left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{kq\alpha} \|Q_k|D|^{-s} f \|_{L^p}^q \right)^{1/q}$$

and

$$\|f\|_{\ell^{q,\alpha}_{x}\dot{H}^{s}_{p}} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kq\alpha} \||D|^{-s}Q_{k}f\|_{L^{p}}^{q}\right)^{1/q}$$

The proof of the equivalence of the norm from Theorem 4.4 is a direct consequence (taking p = 2) of the following estimates.

PROPOSITION 4.1. For 
$$p \in (n/(n-1), n), q \in [1, \infty]$$
, for  $s \in [-1, 1]$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  that satisfy

$$|a|+|s| < \min\left(\frac{n}{p}, \frac{n}{p'}\right) \tag{4.6.111}$$

one can find a constant C = C(n, s, p, q, a) > 0 so that

$$C^{-1} \| |D|^{-s} f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a} L^p} \le \|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a} \dot{H}_p^s} \le C \| |D|^{-s} f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a} L^p}.$$
(4.6.112)

**Proof:** The left inequality in (4.6.112) is equivalent to

$$\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kq\alpha} \|Q_k|D|^{-s}f\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q} \le C\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kq\alpha} \||D|^{-s}Q_kf\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q}.$$
(4.6.113)

Indeed, given any integers  $k, m \in \mathbb{Z}$  with |k - m| > 2 we have the identity

$$Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_mf = Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_m|D|^s|D|^{-s}Q_mf,$$
(4.6.114)

where  $\widetilde{Q}_m = \frac{1}{3}(Q_{m-1} + Q_m + Q_{m+1})$  is another Paley-Littlewood partition of unity

$$\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\widetilde{Q}_m=1$$

such that  $\widetilde{Q}_m(s) = 1$  for  $s \in supp Q_m$ . To verify (4.6.113) it is sufficient to show that

$$\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kqa} \|Q_k|D|^{-s}f\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q} \le C\left(\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{mqa} \||D|^{-s}\widetilde{Q}_mf\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q}.$$
(4.6.115)

From the estimate of Lemma 4.1 we have

$$Q_k |D|^{-s} Q_m |D|^s f \|_{L^p} \le C 2^{t(k,m,s,p)} \|f\|_{L^p},$$
(4.6.116)

where t(k, m, s, p) is defined in (4.4.50). Applying the above estimate with

$$g = |D|^{-s}Q_m f$$

together with Lemma 4.6, we complete the proof of (4.6.115).

To verify the right inequality in (4.6.113) it is sufficient to show

$$\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kqa} \||D|^{-s} Q_k f\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q} \le C \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{kqa} \|Q_k|D|^{-s} f\|_{L^p}^q\right)^{1/q}.$$
(4.6.117)

To this end we use the relation

$$D|^{-s}Q_k f = |D|^{-s}Q_k|D|^s|D|^{-s}f = = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} |D|^{-s}Q_k|D|^sQ_m \widetilde{Q}_m|D|^{-s}f.$$

From Lemma 4.3 we have

$$\|Q_k|D|^{-s}Q_m|D|^sf\|_{L^p} \le C2^{t(k,m,s,p)} \|f\|_{L^p},$$
(4.6.118)

where t(k, m, s, p) is defined as in (4.4.50), so applying Lemma 4.6, we obtain (4.6.117) and complete the proof of the Proposition.

PROPOSITION 4.2. For  $p \in (n/(n-1), n)$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , for  $s \in [0, 1]$  and a > 0 that satisfy (4.6.111) one can find a constant C = C(n, s, p, q, a) > 0 so that

$$\|fg\|_{\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}_p^s} \le C\left(\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q_1,a_1}\dot{H}_{p_1}^s} \|g\|_{\ell_x^{q_2,a_2}L^{p_2}} + \|f\|_{\ell_x^{q_3,a_3}L^{p_3}} \|g\|_{\ell_x^{q_4,a_4}\dot{H}_{p_4}^s}\right),\tag{4.6.119}$$

*provided*  $a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4 \ge 0$  *and*  $1 \le p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4, q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4 \le \infty$  *satisfy* 

$$a_1 + a_2 = a_3 + a_4 = a, \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{p_3} + \frac{1}{p_4}, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \frac{1}{q_2} = \frac{1}{q_3} + \frac{1}{q_4}.$$

**Proof:** The proof uses the previous proposition and the standard multiplicative Sobolev inequality

$$\|fg\|_{\dot{H}_{p}^{s}} \leq C\left(\|f\|_{\dot{H}_{p_{1}}^{s}}\|g\|_{L^{p_{2}}} + \|f\|_{L^{p_{3}}}\|g\|_{\dot{H}_{p_{4}}^{s}}\right),$$

so we omit the details.

Using the interpolation property

$$(H_{p_1}^{s_1}, H_{p_2}^{s_2})_{\theta} = H_p^s, \ s = (1 - \theta)s_1 + \theta s_2, \ \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1 - \theta}{p_1} + \frac{\theta}{p_2},$$

we arrive at

PROPOSITION 4.3. For  $p \in (n/(n-1), n), q \in [1, \infty]$ , for  $s \in (0, 1)$  and a > 0 that satisfy (4.6.111) one can find a constant C = C(n, s, p, q, a) > 0 so that

$$\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}_p^s} \le C \left(\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q_1,a_1}\dot{H}_{p_1}^1}\right)^{1-\theta} \left(\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q_2,a_2}L^{p_2}}\right)^{\theta},\tag{4.6.120}$$

*provided*  $a_1, a_2 \ge 0$  *and*  $1 < p_1, p_2, q_1, q_2 < \infty$  *satisfy* 

$$a = a_1(1-\theta) + a_2\theta, s = 1-\theta, \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1-\theta}{p_1} + \frac{\theta}{p_2}, \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1-\theta}{q_1} + \frac{\theta}{q_2}.$$

REMARK 4.2. Note that, using the norms introduced in (4.6.104), the estimate (4.1.12) can be written as

$$\|u\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{\infty,-1/2}_{x}\dot{H}^{1/2}} \leq C\|f\|_{L^{2}_{x}} + C\|F\|_{L^{2}_{t}\ell^{1,1/2}\dot{H}^{-1/2}_{x}}.$$
(4.6.121)

#### 7. Phase localization

Given any Banach space  $B \subset D'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfying the property

for any 
$$P(\xi) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ f \in B \Rightarrow P(D)f \in B,$$

$$(4.7.122)$$

we can define for any  $r\in [1,\infty]$  and for any  $s\in \mathbb{R}$  the space  $\ell_D^{r,s}B$  as follows

$$||f||_{\ell_D^{r,s}B} = \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} ||P_k(D)f||_B^r 2^{krs}\right)^{1/r},$$
(4.7.123)

with obvious modification for  $r = \infty$ . Here  $\{P_k(\xi)\}$  is a Paley-Littlewood decomposition.

Our goal is to find some concrete examples of Banach spaces B satisfying the embedding

$$B \subset \ell_D^{r,0} B. \tag{4.7.124}$$

Therefore we look for estimate of the type

$$\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \|P_k(D)f\|_B^r\right)^{1/r} \le C\|f\|_B.$$
(4.7.125)

A typical example for a Banach space *B* satisfying (4.7.125) is  $B = L^p$  with 1 , so

$$\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \|P_k(D)f\|_{L^p}^2\right)^{1/2} \le C \|f\|_{L^p}, \ 1 
(4.7.126)$$

94

Having in mind that the spaces  $\ell_x^{r,a}\dot{H}_p^s$  are natural candidate for estimate of type (4.7.125), we shall verify that the conditions

$$\begin{cases} 1 \le q \le 2, \ p = 2\\ |a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.7.127)

imply (4.7.125). More precisely we have

LEMMA 4.9. If  $q \in [1, 2]$  and  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} |s| \le 1, \\ |a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.7.128)

then

$$\|f\|_{\ell_D^{2,0}\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s} \le C \|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s}.$$
(4.7.129)

**Proof:** For any  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have ( for any  $r, q \in (1, \infty)$ )

$$\|f\|_{\ell_D^{2,0}\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s} \cong \left(\sum_{k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k_1qa} \||D|^s Q_{k_1} P_{k_2}(D)f\|_{L^2}^q\right)^{2/q}\right)^{1/2} \cong (4.7.130)$$
$$\cong \left(\sum_{k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{k_1qa} \|Q_{k_1}|D|^s P_{k_2}(D)f\|_{L^2}^q\right)^{2/q}\right)^{1/2} \cong \|\|Q_{k_1} P_{k_2}(D)f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell_{k_2}^{2,s}\ell_{k_1}^{q,a}},$$

where here and below we use the discrete norm in  $l_{k_1}^{q,a}l_{k_2}^{2,s}$  introduced in (4.5.101). In the second equivalence relation we have used Proposition 4.1. Further we have

$$Q_{k_1} P_{k_2}(D) f = \sum_{m_1 \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}} Q_{k_1} P_{k_2}(D) Q_{m_1} P_{m_2}(D) \widetilde{P}_{m_2}(D) \widetilde{Q}_{m_1} f.$$
(4.7.131)

It is not difficult, using again an integration by parts argument, to see that for  $|k_1 - m_1| \ge 3$  we have

$$\|Q_{k_1}P_{k_2}(D)Q_{m_1}g\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{2^{(k_1+m_1)n/2}}{2^{(k_1\vee m_1)n}} \|g\|_{L^2},$$
(4.7.132)

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$\|Q_{k_1}P_{k_2}(D)Q_{m_1}P_{m_2}(D)f\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{2^{(k_1+m_1)n/2}}{2^{(k_1\vee m_1)n}} \|f\|_{L^2}.$$
(4.7.133)

In a similar way, using the same integration by parts argument, we find for  $|k_2 - m_2| \ge 3$ 

$$\|P_{k_2}(D)Q_{m_1}P_{m_2}(D)g\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{2^{(k_2+m_2)n/2}}{2^{(k_2\vee m_2)n}} \|g\|_{L^2},$$
(4.7.134)

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$\|Q_{k_1}P_{k_2}(D)Q_{m_1}P_{m_2}(D)f\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{2^{(k_2+m_2)n/2}}{2^{(k_2\vee m_2)n}} \|f\|_{L^2}.$$
(4.7.135)

Interpolation between (4.7.133) and (4.7.135) gives

$$\|Q_{k_1}P_{k_2}(D)Q_{m_1}P_{m_2}(D)f\|_{L^2} \le Ct_{k,m}^{(\theta)}\|f\|_{L^2},$$
(4.7.136)

where 
$$k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$$
,  $m = (m_1, m_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ ,  $\theta \in [0, 1]$  will be chosen later on and

$$t_{k,m}^{(\theta)} = \frac{2^{(k_1+m_1)\theta n/2}}{2^{(k_1\vee m_1)\theta n}} \frac{2^{(k_2+m_2)(1-\theta)n/2}}{2^{(k_2\vee m_2)(1-\theta)n}}.$$
(4.7.137)

If  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy

$$|a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2},\tag{4.7.138}$$

then we can choose  $\theta \in [0,1]$  so that

$$\begin{cases} |a| \le \frac{n}{2}(1-\theta), \\ |s| < \frac{n}{2}\theta. \end{cases}$$
(4.7.139)

Using the argument of the proof from Lemma 4.1, we see that (4.7.135) is fulfilled without the restrictions  $|k_1 - m_1| \ge 3$ ,  $|k_2 - m_2| \ge 3$ . Applying Lemma 4.8, we get

$$\|\|Q_{k_1}P_{k_2}(D)f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{2,s}_{k_2}\ell^{q,a}_{k_1}} \le C\|\|\widetilde{P}_{m_2}(D)\widetilde{Q}_{m_1}f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{2,s}_{m_2}\ell^{q,a}_{m_1}}.$$
(4.7.140)

For  $1 \le q \le 2$ , we have the inequality

$$\|\|\widetilde{P}_{m_2}(D)\widetilde{Q}_{m_1}f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{2,s}_{m_2}\ell^{q,a}_{m_1}} \le \|\|\widetilde{P}_{m_2}(D)\widetilde{Q}_{m_1}f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{q,a}_{m_1}\ell^{2,s}_{m_2}}.$$

From relation

$$\|P_{m_2}(D)g\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{2,s}_{m_2}} \cong \|g\|_{\dot{H}^s}$$

we get

$$\begin{cases} \|\|Q_{k_1}P_{k_2}(D)f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{2,s}_{k_2}\ell^{q,a}_{k_1}} \leq \\ \leq C\|\|\widetilde{P}_{m_2}(D)\widetilde{Q}_{m_1}f\|_{L^2}\|_{\ell^{q,a}_{m_1}\ell^{2,s}_{m_2}} \cong \\ C\|\||D|^s Q_{m_1}f\|_{L^2}\|\|_{\ell^{q,a}_{m_1}} \cong \|f\|_{\ell^{q,a}_x\dot{H}^s}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.7.141)$$

This inequalities and (4.7.130) imply

$$\|f\|_{\ell_{D}^{2,0}l_{x}^{q,\alpha}\dot{H}^{s}} \le C\|f\|_{\ell_{x}^{q,\alpha}\dot{H}^{s}}.$$
(4.7.142)

This completes the proof.

Further, we obtain in a similar way the following:

LEMMA 4.10. If  $q \in [2, \infty]$  and  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} |s| \le 1, \\ |a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.7.143)

then

$$\|f\|_{\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s} \le C \|f\|_{\ell_D^{2,0}\ell_x^{q,a}\dot{H}^s}.$$
(4.7.144)

In a similar way we can verify the following statement:

LEMMA 4.11. If  $q \in [1, 2]$  and  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} |s| \le 1, \\ |a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2} \end{cases}$$
(4.7.145)

and R is a pseudo differential operator with convolution type symbol which is homogeneous of degree 0, then

$$\|Rf\|_{l^{q,a}\dot{H}^{s}} \le C \|f\|_{l^{q,a}\dot{H}^{s}}.$$
(4.7.146)

By using a duality argument one can relax the assumptions on q and obtain the following statement:

LEMMA 4.12. If  $q \in [2, \infty]$  and  $a, s \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfy

$$\begin{cases} |s| \le 1, \\ |a| + |s| < \frac{n}{2} \end{cases}$$
(4.7.147)

and R is a pseudo differential operator with convolution type symbol which is homogeneous of degree 0, then

$$\|Rf\|_{\ell^{q,a}_{x}\dot{H}^{s}} \le C\|f\|_{\ell^{q,a}_{x}\dot{H}^{s}}.$$
(4.7.148)

## 8. Proof of the Smoothing Estimate (4.1.5)

In this section we shall recall the basic scale invariant smoothing estimate due to Kenig, Ponce, Vega.

One possible selfcontained proof of the Konig, Ponce, Vega estimate (4.1.5) is based on the following lemmas:

LEMMA 4.13. For any  $u \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\|u(x_1, x')\|_{L^1_{x_1}L^2_{x'}} \le C\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} u(x)\|_{L^2_x}\right),$$
(4.8.149)

where  $x = (x_1, x')$  with  $x_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ .

**Proof.** We can consider the case of n = 1, since a similar argument works for n > 1. Let  $u \in S(\mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$\|u(x)\|_{L^1} \le C \left\| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |x|^{1/2} Q_k(x) u(x) \right\|_{L^2}.$$
(4.8.150)

From the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and the fact that for the functions  $Q_k(x)$  we have  $\operatorname{supp}_s Q_k(x) \subset \{2^{k-1} \leq |x| \leq 2^{k+1}\}$ , we obtain

$$\left\| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} |x|^{1/2} Q_k(x) u(x) \right\|_{L^2} \le C\left( \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| |x|_k^{1/2} u(x)\|_{L^2} \right),$$
(4.8.151)

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$\|u(x)\|_{L^{1}} \leq C\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_{k}^{1/2} u(x)\|_{L^{2}}\right).$$
(4.8.152)

Similarly, we have

LEMMA 4.14. For any  $u \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \| \|x\|_k^{-1/2} u(x)\|_{L^2_x} \le C \| u(x_1, x')\|_{L^\infty_{x_1} L^2_{x'}},$$
(4.8.153)

where  $x = (x_1, x')$  with  $x_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ .

The key point in the proof of (4.1.5) is to establish the estimate

$$\|\partial_1 u(t, x_1, x')\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{t, x'}} \le C \|F(t, x_1, x')\|_{L^1_{x_1} L^2_{t, x'}}.$$
(4.8.154)

Now we shall show now that this estimate completes the proof of (4.1.5). From (4.8.154), (4.8.149) and (4.8.153) we get

$$\sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{-1/2} \partial_1 u(t, x)\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \le C\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} F(t, x)\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}\right).$$
(4.8.155)

Using the fact that the Schrödinger equation in (4.1.9) and the norm in the right hand side of (4.8.155) are invariant under the action of the group of rotations SO(n), we obtain

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{-1/2} \partial_j u(t,x)\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \le C\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \||x|_k^{1/2} F(t,x)\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}\right), \quad \forall j = 1, \cdots, n.$$
(4.8.156)

The estimate (4.8.154) follows from the previous lemmas and the Lemmas 2.1, 2.2 of Chapter 2, Section 4

In fact the basic idea of the proof of (4.8.154) is to compute the Fourier transform with respect the time variable of equation (4.1.9) and obtain

$$-i\Delta\hat{u}(\lambda, x) - i\lambda\hat{u}(\lambda, x) = \widehat{F}(\lambda, x).$$
(4.8.157)

Now if we split  $x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$  and indicate with  $v_\lambda(x_1, x') = \hat{u}(\lambda, x)$ , we can apply Lemma 2.2 and have

$$\|\partial_1 v_\lambda(x_1, x')\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{x'}} \le C \|(-\Delta - \lambda) v_\lambda(x_1, x')\|_{L^1_{x_1} L^2_{x'}}.$$
(4.8.158)

This estimate with the equation (4.8.157) give the following other one:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{1}\hat{u}(\lambda, x_{1}, x')\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_{1}}L^{2}_{x'}} &\leq C \|(-\Delta - \lambda) \,\hat{u}(\lambda, x_{1}, x')\|_{L^{1}_{x_{1}}L^{2}_{x'}} \leq \\ &\leq \left\|\widehat{F}(\lambda, x_{1}, x')\right\|_{L^{1}_{x_{1}}L^{2}_{x'}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.8.159)$$

The application of Plancherel's theorem with respect to time variable gives the estimate (4.8.154) and this completes the proof of (4.1.5).

#### 9. Application to semilinear Schrödinger equations

The last section of this chapter is devoted to present an application of the previous results. Turning to the semilinear Schrödinger equation

$$\partial_t u - i\Delta_A u = |Vu|^p, \tag{4.9.160}$$

we note that the class of potentials V = V(t, x), satisfying (4.1.15), obeys certain rescaling property, thus one can compute the scaling critical regularity

$$s = \frac{n}{2} - \frac{2 - ap}{p - 1}$$

and one can expect a well posedness for initial data  $f \in L^2$  if

$$p = \frac{n+4}{n+2a}.$$

To verify this we shall construct a sequence  $u_k(t, x)$  of functions defined as follows:  $u_{-1}(t, x) = 0$ , then we define the recurrence relation

$$u_k \to u_{k+1}(t, x)$$

so that

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u_{k+1} - i\Delta_A u_{k+1} = V(t, x) u_k |u_k|^{p-1}, & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ u_{k+1}(0, x) = f(x). \end{cases}$$
(4.9.161)

The estimate (4.1.13) suggests to show the convergence of the sequence  $u_k$  in the Banach space

$$Z = L^{\infty}_t L^2_r \cap Y'.$$

The definition of the recurrence relation (4.9.161) shows that we have to show first the property: the map

$$u \in Z = L_t^{\infty} L_x^2 \cap Y' \to V(t, x) u |u|^{p-1} \in L_t^1 L_x^2 + Y$$

is a well defined continuous operator provided V satisfies (4.1.15). Our goal is to show

$$\|u_{k+1}\|_{L_t^{\infty}L_x^2} + \|u_{k+1}\|_{Y'} \le C \|f\|_{L^2} + C \left(\|u_k\|_{L_t^{\infty}L_x^2} + \|u_k\|_{Y'}\right)^p$$

or shortly

$$\|u_{k+1}\|_Z \le C \|f\|_{L^2} + C \|u_k\|_Z^p.$$
(4.9.162)

To apply a contraction argument we need also the inequality

$$\|u_{k+1} - u_k\|_Z \le C \|u_k - u_{k+1}\|_Z \left(\|u_k\|_Z + \|u_{k-1}\|_Z\right)^{p-1}.$$
(4.9.163)

Combining (4.9.162) and (4.9.163), taking  $||f||_{L^2}$  sufficiently small, we can show via contraction argument that  $u_k$  converges in Z to the unique solution of (4.9.160) with initial data u(0) = f. Since the proofs of (4.9.162) and (4.9.163) are similar, we treat (4.9.162) only. We need actually to verify

$$|||Vu|^p||_Y \le C||u||_Z^p \tag{4.9.164}$$

To verify this inequality, we start with the definition of the space Y

$$\|g\|_{Y} \sim \sum_{m} 2^{m/2} \||D|^{-1/2} \varphi\left(\frac{\cdot}{2^{m}}\right) g\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}.$$
(4.9.165)

We apply this relation with  $g = |Vu|^p$ , combined with the Sobolev embedding  $\dot{H}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow L^q(\mathbb{R}^n,$  with

$$1/q - 1/2 = 1/(2n),$$
 (4.9.166)

and get

$$\||Vu|^p\|_Y \le \sum_m 2^{m/2} \|\varphi\left(\frac{\cdot}{2^m}\right) Vu\|_{L^{2p}_t L^{pq}_x}^p$$
(4.9.167)

We can apply now the interpolation inequality

$$\|\phi\|_{L^{2p}_{t}L^{pq}_{x}} \le C\left(\|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{r_{1}}_{x}}\right)^{\theta} \left(\|\phi\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{r_{2}}_{x}}\right)^{1-\theta},$$
(4.9.168)

where  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  satisfy the relations

$$\frac{1}{2p} = \frac{1-\theta}{2}, \quad \frac{1}{pq} = \frac{\theta}{r_1} + \frac{1-\theta}{r_2}.$$
 (4.9.169)

Hence  $p(1 - \theta) = 1$ .

From (4.9.167) and (4.9.168) we get

$$|||Vu|^{p}||_{Y} \leq \sum_{m} 2^{m/2} ||Vu||_{L^{\infty}_{t} L^{r_{1}}_{|x| \sim 2^{m}}}^{p\theta} ||Vu||_{L^{2}_{t} L^{r_{2}}_{|x| \sim 2^{m}}}^{p(1-\theta)}.$$
(4.9.170)

We choose  $r_1 \in (1, 2]$  so that

$$\|V\psi\|_{L^{r_1}_{|x|\sim 2^m}} \le C \|\psi\|_{L^2_{|x|\sim 2^m}}$$
(4.9.171)

so taking into account the assumption on V we see that

$$\frac{a}{n} = \frac{1}{r_1} - \frac{1}{2},\tag{4.9.172}$$

while  $r_2 \in (1, 2]$  is chosen so that

$$2^{m/(2p(1-\theta))} \|V\psi\|_{L^{r_2}_{|x|\sim 2^m}} \le C 2^{-m} \|\psi\|_{L^2_{|x|\sim 2^m}},$$

i.e.

$$\frac{1}{r_2} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{a-1}{n} - \frac{1}{2np(1-\theta)} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{a}{n} - \frac{3}{2n},$$
(4.9.173)

since  $p(1 - \theta) = 1$ . From (4.9.169) we find

$$\frac{1}{pq} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{a}{n} - \frac{3}{2pn}$$

so this relation and (4.9.166) implies that

$$p = \frac{n+4}{n+2a}$$

From (4.9.170), (4.9.171) and (4.9.172) we get

$$|||Vu|^p||_Y \le ||u||_{L^\infty_t L^2_x}^{p-1} ||x|^{-1}u||_{L^2_t L^2_x}.$$

From the Hardy inequality we have

$$|||x|^{-1}u||_{L^2_tL^2_x} \le C||u||_{Y'}$$

 $\mathbf{S0}$ 

$$|||Vu|^p||_Y \le ||u||_{L^{\infty}_t L^2_x}^{p-1} ||u||_{Y'}$$

and this completes the proof of (4.9.164). This completes the proof of Theorem 4.3.
## CHAPTER 5

# **Dispersive Estimate**

#### 1. General Strichartz Estimates

Following the proof of the Strichartz estimates given in [115], we shall set the more abstract environment of an evolution operator defined as follows.

- $\diamond$  (X, dx) is a measurable space;
- $\diamond$  *H* is an Hilbert space wich is dense in  $L^2(X)$ ;
- $\diamond \ U(t): H \longrightarrow L^2(X)$  a family of linear operators such that
  - $\circ~$  that family is equi-continuous, that is  $\forall~f\in H$  we have

$$\|U(t)f\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|f\|_H \quad \forall t \text{ (Energy estimate)}, \qquad (5.1.1)$$

$$\circ \ \exists \ \sigma > 0 \ {\rm such \ that} \ \forall \ g \in L^1_x(X) \cap L^2_x(X) \ {\rm we \ have \ either}$$

$$\left\| U(s) \left( U(t) \right)^* g \right\|_{L^\infty_x} \lesssim \left| t - s \right|^{-\sigma} \left\| g \right\|_{L^1_x} \quad \forall \ t \neq s \tag{Untruncated decay} , \tag{5.1.2a}$$

or

$$\|U(s)(U(t))^* g\|_{L^{\infty}_x} \lesssim (1+|t-s|)^{-\sigma} \|g\|_{L^1_x} \quad \forall t,s$$
 (Truncated decay). (5.1.2b)

In the applications it is natural to regard the equi-continuous family  $U(t) : H \longrightarrow L^2(X)$  as the evolution operator associated to the Cauchy problem for a partial differential equation, and to consider H as the space of initial data. Observe that  $(U(t))^* : L^2(X) \longrightarrow H$  and we can define the operator  $T : L^1(\mathbb{R}; L^2(X)) \longrightarrow H$  by

$$TF = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( U(s) \right)^* F(s, \cdot) \, \mathrm{d}s \,, \quad \forall F \in L^1 \left( \mathbb{R}; L^2(X) \right) \,. \tag{5.1.3}$$

As far as its adjoint is concerned we have that  $T^*: H \longrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}; L^2(X))$  and

$$\langle T^*h, F \rangle = (h, TF) = \left( h, \int_{\mathbb{R}} (U(s))^* F(s, \cdot) \, \mathrm{d}s \right) =$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( h, (U(s))^* F(s, \cdot) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle U(s)h, F(s, \cdot) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s =$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle U(s)h, F(s, \cdot) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_X (U(s)h) \, (y) \overline{F(s, y)} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}s ,$$

for any  $h \in H$  and  $F \in L^1(\mathbb{R}; L^2(X))$ , thus  $T^*$  is defined as

$$(T^*h)(t,x) = (U(t)h)(x) , \ \forall h \in H ,$$
(5.1.4)

for any time  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , any  $x \in X$ .

If that is the case, then the estimate (5.1.1) looks like an energy estimate, and it states the boundedness of  $T^*$ , and consequently, that one of T because of the  $TT^*$  method (see Section 10 in Chapter 1). On the other hand the estimates (5.1.2) play the role of a dispersive estimate with respect to the time variable, where the  $\sigma$  has a meaning of a decay rate. The composition  $T^*T$ :  $L^1(\mathbb{R}; L^2(X)) \longrightarrow L^\infty(\mathbb{R}; L^2(X))$  is the operator

$$(T^*T) F(t, \cdot) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} U(t) (U(s))^* F(s, \cdot) \, \mathrm{d}s \, , \ \forall F \in L^1 \left(\mathbb{R}; L^2(X)\right) \, , \tag{5.1.5}$$

which can be decomposed as a sum of its retarded and advanced parts

$$(T^*T)_R F(t, \cdot) = \int_{s < t} U(t) \left( U(s) \right)^* F(s, \cdot) \, \mathrm{d}s \,, \tag{5.1.5}_R$$

$$(T^*T)_A F(t, \cdot) = \int_{s>t} U(t) (U(s))^* F(s, \cdot) \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{5.1.5}_A$$

Observe that  $(T^*T)_R$  solves the corresponding inhomogeneous problem with zero initial data (Duhamel's principle).

**1.1. Main Theorem.** This section is devoted to investigate precisely the properties of the operators U(t),  $U(t)^*$ , T,  $T^*$  and their compositions involved in the previous setting. We shall see that actually more general  $L_t^q L_x^r$  spaces will enter in the domain of  $T^*T$ . In order to describe all such possible pairs (r, q) (once the decay  $\sigma$  is given) we shall need for the sequel the following definition.

DEFINITION 5.1. Let the decay rate,  $\sigma > 0$ , be given. We say that the exponent pair (r,q) is  $\sigma$ -admissible if  $r, q \ge 2$ ,  $(r,q,\sigma) \ne (\infty,2,1)$  and

$$\frac{1}{q} \le \sigma \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{r}\right) . \tag{5.1.6}$$

If equality holds in (5.1.6), then we say that (r, q) is **sharp**  $\sigma$ **-admissible**, otherwise we say that (r, q) is **non-sharp**  $\sigma$ **-admissible**. When  $\sigma > 1$  the sharp  $\sigma$ -admissible point

$$P = \left(\frac{2\sigma}{\sigma - 1}, 2\right) \tag{5.1.7}$$

is called endpoint.

We are able now to state the main result.

THEOREM 5.1 (Keel and Tao). If U(t) obeys (5.1.1) and (5.1.2a), then the following estimates

$$\|U(t)f\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} \lesssim \|f\|_{H} , \qquad (5.1.8)$$

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} \left( U(s) \right)^* F(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right\|_H \lesssim \|F\|_{L_t^{q'} L_x^{r'}} , \qquad (5.1.9)$$

$$\left\| \int_{s < t} U(t) \left( U(s) \right)^* F(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} \lesssim \|F\|_{L^{\tilde{q}'}_t L^{\tilde{r}'}_x} \,, \tag{5.1.10}$$

hold for all sharp-admissible exponent pairs (r,q),  $(\tilde{q},\tilde{r})$ .

Furthermore, if the decay hypothesis is strengthened to (5.1.2b), then (5.1.8), (5.1.9) and (5.1.10) hold for all  $\sigma$ -admissible exponent pairs (r, q),  $(\tilde{r}, \tilde{q})$ .

The proof will be given in the following subsections, tough even the inhomogeneous case, and the endpoint cases will be only sketched.

There are several advantages to formulating Theorem 5.1 in this level of generality. First, it allows both wave equation and Schrödinger equation estimates to be treated in a unified manner. Second, it eliminates certain distractions and unnecessary assumptions (e.g. group structure on the U(t)). Finally, there is a natural scaling to these estimates which is only apparent in this setting. More precisely, the sharp statement of the theorem is invariant under the scaling

$$U(t) \leftarrow U(\frac{t}{\lambda}), \qquad \qquad dx \leftarrow \lambda^{\sigma} dx, \qquad \qquad \langle f, g \rangle \leftarrow \lambda^{\sigma} \langle f, g \rangle.$$

In other words, for scaling purposes time behaves like  $\mathbb{R}$ , X behaves like  $\mathbb{R}^{\sigma}$ , H behaves like  $L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{\rho})$ , and U(t) is dimensionless. In practice the scaling dimension differs from the Euclidean dimension; for instance, in the wave equation  $\sigma = \frac{n-1}{2}$ , and in the Schrödinger equation  $\sigma = \frac{n}{2}$ .

**1.2. The Non-Endpoint Homogeneous Case.** First we shall prove the homogeneous estimates (5.1.8) and (5.1.9) for  $(q, r) \neq P$ . By duality (5.1.8) is equivalent to (5.1.9), who is in turn equivalent to the bilinear estimate

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \lesssim \|F\|_{L_t^{q'} L_x^{r'}} \|G\|_{L_t^{q'} L_x^{r'}} \,. \tag{5.1.11}$$

by the so-called  $TT^*$  method, namely by the statement 4 from Theorem (1.18) with  $\mathcal{B} = L^q(\mathbb{R}; L^r(\mathbb{R}^n))$ . By real interpolation between the bilinear version of (5.1.1)

$$|\langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle| \lesssim ||F(s)||_{L^2_{\alpha}} ||G(t)||_{L^2_{\alpha}}$$

and the bilinear version of (5.1.2a)

$$|\langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle| \lesssim |t-s|^{-\sigma} ||F(s)||_{L^1_x} ||G(t)||_{L^1_x},$$

we obtain

$$\left| \langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle \right| \lesssim |t-s|^{-\sigma \left(1-\frac{2}{r}\right)} \|F(s)\|_{L_x^{r'}} \|G(t)\|_{L_x^{r'}} , \qquad (5.1.12)$$

by Theorem 1.14, interpolating the previous estimates, and considering  $\frac{1}{r'} = 1 - \frac{\theta}{2}$ . Recalling that in the sharp  $\sigma$ -admissible case  $\frac{1}{q} = \frac{\sigma}{2} - \frac{\sigma}{r}$  and integrating over  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| \langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle \right| \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| t - s \right|^{-\frac{2}{q}} \|F(s)\|_{L_x^{r'}} \|G(t)\|_{L_x^{r'}} \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \,,$$

and the (5.1.11) follows from the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev inequality (see (1.9.39) with n = 1 and p = q), provided that  $\gamma = \frac{2}{q} < 1$ , that is q > 2, equivalent to  $(q, r) \neq P$ . If we are assuming the truncated decay (5.1.2b), then the estimate (5.1.12) can be improved to

$$\left| \langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle \right| \lesssim (1 + |t - s|)^{-\sigma \left(1 - \frac{2}{r}\right)} \|F(s)\|_{L_x^{r'}} \|G(t)\|_{L_x^{r'}}$$

and now it suffices to apply Hausdorff-Young inequality (see (1.8.31)) with n = 1 and p = q), whenever the function  $(1 + |\cdot|)^{-\sigma\left(1 - \frac{2}{r}\right)}$  is in the space  $L^{s}(\mathbb{R})$ , with  $1 + \frac{1}{q'} = \frac{1}{s} + \frac{1}{q}$ , that is,  $\sigma\left(1 - \frac{2}{r}\right)\frac{1}{s} = \sigma\left(1 - \frac{2}{r}\right)\frac{2}{q} > 1$ , or in other words whenever the pair (r, q) is non-sharp  $\sigma$ -admissible condition. This concludes the proof of the homogeneous estimates (5.1.8) and (5.1.9) in the non-endpoint case,  $(r, q) \neq P$ .

**1.3. The Endpoint Homogeneous Case.** We deal now with  $(r,q) = P = \left(\frac{2\sigma}{\sigma-1}, 2\right)$ , for  $\sigma > 1$ , therefore we can assume only the untruncated decay (5.1.2a).

By symmetry it suffices to restrict our attention to the retarded version of (5.1.11),

$$|B_R(F,G)| = \left| \iint_{s < t} \langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \lesssim \|F\|_{L^2_t L^{r'}_x} \, \|G\|_{L^2_t L^{r'}_x} \,, \tag{5.1.13}$$

nevertheless it will be not sufficient in this case to obtain (by interpolation) a one-parameter family of estimates, and a wider two-parameter family of estimates will be required. For this purpose we consider a further dyadic decomposition of the retarded bilinear form  $B_R$ , defined in (5.1.13), as  $B_R(F,G) = \sum_j B_{R,j}(F,G)$ , where

$$B_{R,j}(F,G) = \iint_{t-2^{j+1} < s \le t-2^j} \langle (U(s))^* F(s), (U(t))^* G(t) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}t \rangle , \qquad (5.1.14)$$

1

so that (5.1.9) is reduced to the estimate

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |B_{R,j}(F,G)| \lesssim \|F\|_{L^2_t L^{r'}_x} \|G\|_{L^2_t L^{r'}_x} , \qquad (5.1.15)$$

where  $\frac{1}{r'} = \frac{\sigma+1}{2\sigma}$  is the exponent conjugated to  $\frac{1}{r}$  in the endpoint *P*.

The first step is to obtain an estimate for (5.1.14). This can be done in a whole neighborhood of  $(\frac{1}{r}, \frac{1}{r})$ , denoted as  $D_r$ , (see Figure 5.1), and it takes the following form,



This result can be achieved interpolating the following three cases:

(i)  $a = b = \infty$ ; (ii)  $a \in [2, \infty)$ , and b = 2; (iii)  $b \in [2, \infty)$  and a = 2.

We shall also remark that this argument breaks down, when  $\sigma = 1$ , then  $r = \infty$ . Once we have (5.1.16), the second step is to apply it to some special F and G in the form

$$F(t) = 2^{-\frac{\kappa}{r'}} f(t) \chi_{E(t)} , \qquad \qquad G(s) = 2^{-\frac{\kappa}{r'}} g(s) \chi_{\tilde{E}(s)} , \qquad (5.1.17)$$

where f and g are scalar functions,  $k, \tilde{k} \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $E(t), \tilde{E}(s)$  are sets of measure  $2^k$  and  $2^{\tilde{k}}$  respectively for each t and s. For such a case we may choose a and b in such a way that

$$B_{R,j}(F,G) \leq 2^{-\varepsilon(|k-j\sigma|+|k-j\sigma|)} \|f\|_{L^2_{t}} \|g\|_{L^2_{t}} , \qquad (5.1.18)$$

holds for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , and this will imply (5.1.15). For the case of general *F* and *G*, we can make profit of the so-called **atomic decomposition of**  $L^p$ , stated in the following result.

LEMMA 5.1. Let  $0 . Then any <math>f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  can be written as

$$f(x) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} c_k \chi_k(x) ,$$

where each  $\chi_k$  is a function bounded by  $O\left(2^{-\frac{k}{p}}\right)$  and supported on a set of measure  $O(2^k)$ , and the  $c_k$ 's are non-negative constants such that  $\|\{c_k\}\|_{l^p} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p}$ .

Applying Lemma 5.1 with p = r' to F(t) and G(s) we have the atomic decompositions

$$F(t) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} f_k(t) \chi_k(t) , \qquad \qquad G(s) = \sum_{\tilde{k} \in \mathbb{Z}} g_{\tilde{k}}(s) \tilde{\chi}_{\tilde{k}} , \qquad (5.1.19)$$

and (5.1.15) follows from the following argument. Using the arguments for the estimate (5.1.18), and Young's inequality we get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |B_{R,j}(F,G)| &\lesssim \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\tilde{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{-\varepsilon(|k-j\sigma|+|\tilde{k}-j\sigma|)} \|f_k\|_{L^2_t} \|g_{\tilde{k}}\|_{L^2_t} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\tilde{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(1 + \left|k - \tilde{k}\right|\right) 2^{-\varepsilon|k-\tilde{k}|} \|f_k\|_{L^2_t} \|g_{\tilde{k}}\|_{L^2_t} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \|f_k\|_{L^2_t}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\tilde{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} \|g_{\tilde{k}}\|_{L^2_t}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \end{split}$$

and the statement (5.1.15) follows after interchanging  $L^2$  and  $l^2$ , and including  $l^{r'}$  in  $l^2$ .

Now we focalize our attention on the retarded estimate (5.1.10),

As for the (5.1.13), the **retarded estimate** (5.1.10) is equivalent to

$$B_R(F,G)| \lesssim \|F\|_{L^{q'}_t L^{r'}_x} \|G\|_{L^{\tilde{q}'}_t L^{\tilde{r}'}_x} , \qquad (5.1.20)$$

and one can follow the same procedure used in the previous subsection, modifying the estimate 5.1.16 for the dyadic component of  $B_R$  in a suitable way. This concludes the proof of the main theorem.

## 2. Strichartz Estimates for Free Wave and Schrödinger Equations

As a consequence of Theorem 5.1 we can prove the endpoint Strichartz estimates for the free wave and Schrödinger Equation in higher dimension. This completely settles the problem of determining the possible homogeneous Strichartz estimates for those problems (as far as the retarded ones are concerned it is still open). We shall need the following definition for the parameter  $\sigma$ .

DEFINITION 5.2. For a given dimension n, we say that a pair (r,q) is **wave admissible** if  $n \ge 2$ , and (r,q) is  $\frac{n-1}{2}$ -admissible, and Schrödinger admissible if  $n \ge 1$  and (r,q) is sharp  $\frac{n}{2}$ -admissible. In particular,

$$P = \left(\frac{2(n-1)}{n-3}, 2\right) \text{ is wave admissible for } n > 3, \qquad (5.2.21a)$$

and

$$P = \left(\frac{2n}{n-2}, 2\right) \text{ is Schrödinger admissible for } n > 2, \qquad (5.2.21b)$$

as it is sketched in the Figures 5.1 and 5.2 below.



**2.1. The Linear Case.** In this subsection we shall focus at first our attention to the free linear wave equation first. The following Corollary can be achieved from Theorem 5.1, and it extends a long line of investigation going back to a specific space-time estimate for the linear Klein-Gordon equation in [173] and the fundamental paper of Strichartz [194] drawing the connection to the restriction theorem of Tomas and Stein.

COROLLARY 5.1. Suppose  $n \ge 2$  and (q, r) and  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{r})$  are wave admissible pairs with  $r, \tilde{r} < \infty^{-1}$ . If u is a (weak) solution to the problem

$$\Box u(t,x) = F(t,x) , \ (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(5.2.22a)

$$u(0,x) = u_0(x) , \quad \partial_t u(0,x) = u_1(x) ,$$
 (5.2.22b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>When  $r = \infty$  the estimate (5.2.23) is still true, provided replacing the Lebesgue space  $L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with the Besov space  $\dot{B}^0_{r,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and similarly for  $\tilde{r} = \infty$  (see [73])

for some data  $u_0$ ,  $u_1$  and F and some time T > 0, then

$$\|u\|_{L^{q}([0,T];L^{r}_{x})} + \|u\|_{C([0,T];\dot{H}^{\gamma})} + \|u_{t}\|_{C([0,T];\dot{H}^{\gamma-1})} \lesssim \|u_{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma}} + \|u_{1}\|_{\dot{H}^{\gamma-1}} + \|F\|_{L^{\bar{q}'}([0,T];L^{\bar{r}'}_{x})} , \quad (5.2.23)$$

provided the gap condition

$$\frac{1}{q} + \frac{n}{r} = -\gamma + \frac{n}{2} = \frac{1}{\tilde{q}'} + \frac{n}{\tilde{r}'} - 2 , \qquad (5.2.24)$$

holds. Conversely, if (5.2.23) holds for all  $u_0$ ,  $u_1$ , F and T, then (q,r) and  $(\tilde{q},\tilde{r})$  must be wave admissible and the gap condition must hold.

**Proof.** We start with showing the necessity of the various conditions on the parameters involved. The gap condition follows from dimensional analysis (scaling considerations), whereas the admissibility conditions follow from the Knapp counterexample for the cone and its adjoint. The inadmissibility of  $(q, r) = (2, \infty)$ , or  $(q, r) = (2, \infty)$  in the three-dimensional case was shown in [120]. At last the remaining conditions  $q \ge q'$ , and  $\tilde{q} \ge \tilde{q}'$  follow from a translation invariant argument, since in the limiting case  $T = \infty$  the homogeneous part of the estimate can be viewed as a time-translation invariant operator from  $L_t^{q'}\left([0,\infty); L_x^{r'}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)$  to  $L_t^q([0,\infty); L_x^r(\mathbb{R}^n))$ .

Now we suppose that q and r satisfy the assumptions of the corollary, and that u is a solution of (5.2.22). We use Duhamel's principle to write u as

$$u(t, \cdot) = U(t)(u_1) + U'(t)(u_0) + (GF)(t, \cdot) , \qquad (5.2.25)$$

where the operators U, and G are defined by functional calculus as

$$U(t) = \frac{\sin(t\sqrt{-\Delta})}{\sqrt{-\Delta}} , \qquad (5.2.26a)$$

$$GF = \int_0^t \frac{\sin\left((t-s)\sqrt{-\Delta}\right)}{\sqrt{-\Delta}} F(s,\cdot) \,\mathrm{d}s \;. \tag{5.2.26b}$$

Paley-Littlewood theory (see Section 11 of Chapter 1, in particular Proposition 1.6 and the following discussion) allows us to restrict our attention to the case of spatial Fourier transform of  $u_0$ ,  $u_1$  and F (and consequently u) localized in the annulus  $\{|\xi| \approx 2^j\}$ . By the gap condition the estimate is scale invariant, and so we may assume that j = 0. Combining these two reductions with (5.2.25) and (5.2.26) we see that (5.2.23) is equivalent to

$$\begin{aligned} \|U_{\pm}(t)u_1\|_{C(L^2_x)} &\lesssim \|u_1\|_{L^2} , \qquad \|G_{\pm}F\|_{C(L^2_x)} &\lesssim \|F\|_{L^{q'}_t L^{r'}_x} , \\ \|U_{\pm}(t)u_1\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} &\lesssim \|u_1\|_{L^2} , \qquad \|G_{\pm}F\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} &\lesssim \|F\|_{L^{q'}_t L^{r'}_x} , \end{aligned}$$

where the localized wave evolution operator  $U_{\pm}$ , and the operator  $G_{\pm}$  are defined as

$$\widehat{U_{\pm}(t)} = \chi_{[0,T]} \phi_0(\xi) e^{\pm it|\xi|} , \qquad G_{\pm}F = \int_{t>s} U_{\pm}(t) \left(U_{\pm}(s)\right)^* F(s,\cdot) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

where  $\phi_0$  is the partition function of the phase space localized in  $|\xi| \approx 1$ .

Our firs step is to consider the  $L_t^{\infty} L_x^2$  norms. All above estimates will follow from Theorem 5.1 with  $H = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $\sigma = \frac{n-1}{2}$ , once we show that  $U_{\pm}$  obeys the energy estimate (5.1.1) and the truncated decay estimate (5.1.2b). The former is immediate from Plancherel's Theorem, and the latter can be achieved using the stationary phase method on the kernel of  $U_{\pm}(t) (U_{\pm}(s))^*$  (see either [181], or [87] or [186]).

Continuity of  $U_{\pm}u_1$  will follow from Plancherel's Theorem, while for  $G_{\pm}F$  we can use the identity

$$(G_{\pm}F)(t+\varepsilon,\cdot) = e^{i\varepsilon\sqrt{-\Delta}} (G_{\pm}F)(t,\cdot) + (G_{\pm}\chi_{[t,t+\varepsilon]}F)(t,\cdot) ,$$

the continuity of the operator  $e^{i\varepsilon\sqrt{-\Delta}}$  on  $L^2$ , and the fact that  $\|\chi_{[t,t+\varepsilon]}F\|_{L^{q'}_tL^{r'}_x} \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .  $\Box$ 

Now we shall turn our attention to the free linear Schrödinger equation. In this case Theorem 5.1 gives the following corollary.

COROLLARY 5.2. Suppose  $n \ge 1$  and (q, r) and  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{r})$  are Schrödinger admissible pairs. If u is a (weak) solution to the problem

$$iu_t(t,x) - \Delta u(t,x) = F(t,x), \quad (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (5.2.27a)

$$u(0,x) = u_0(x)$$
, (5.2.27b)

for some data  $u_0$ , and F and some time  $0 < T < \infty$ , then

$$\|u\|_{L^{q}([0,T];L^{r}_{x})} + \|u\|_{C([0,T];L^{2})} \lesssim \|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}} + \|F\|_{L^{\tilde{q}'}([0,T];L^{\tilde{r}'}_{x})} \quad (5.2.28)$$

Conversely, if (5.2.28) holds for all  $u_0$ , F and T, then (q, r) and  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{r})$  must be Schrödinger admissible.

**Proof.** The proof is similar to the one of Corollary 5.1, but it is simpler, since no localization is involved. Conditions on q and r are necessary because of scaling invariance, whereas the negative result for  $(r, q) = (\infty, 2)$  in the two-dimensional case is proved in [140]. For sufficiency as in (5.2.25), we decompose u as

$$u(t, \cdot) = U(t)(u_0) + (GF)(t, \cdot) , \qquad (5.2.29)$$

where the operators U, and G are defined by functional calculus as

$$U(t) = \chi_{[0,T]}(t) e^{it\sqrt{-\Delta}}, \qquad (5.2.30a)$$

$$GF = \int_{t>s} U(t) (U(s))^* F(s, \cdot) \, \mathrm{d}s , \qquad (5.2.30b)$$

and we apply Theorem 5.1 with  $H = L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $\sigma = \frac{n}{2}$ . The energy estimate follows from Plancherel's Theorem, while the untruncated decay estimate can be obtained directly from the explicit representation of the solution

$$u(t,x) = e^{it\sqrt{-\Delta}} u_0(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{2it}} u_0(y) \, dy \,.$$

#### CHAPTER 6

# Strong endpoint Strichartz Estimates for the Schrödinger Equation with small Magnetic Potential

In this chapter we present some new results regarding the Schrödinger equation perturbed by a potential assumed to be small with respect some suitable norms. We present also a result involving the spectrum of  $\Delta_A$ . The author follows, as said before, his work (joint with V. Georgiev and A. Stefanov) [67].

## 1. Introduction and statement of results

Let  $A = (A_1(t, x), \dots, A_n(t, x)), x \in \mathbb{R}^n, n \ge 3$  be a magnetic potential, such that  $A_j(t, x), j = 1, \dots, n$ , are real valued functions, and let the magnetic Laplacian operator be

$$\Delta_A = \sum_j (\partial_j + iA_j)^2 = \Delta + 2iA\nabla + idiv(A) - (\sum_j A_j^2).$$

Our goal is to study the dispersive properties of the corresponding Schrödinger equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta_A u = F(t, x), & t \in \mathbb{R}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ u(0, x) = f(x). \end{cases}$$
(6.1.1)

In this chapter, we will be concerned with the Strichartz and smoothing estimates for (4.1.1), when the vector potential A is small in a certain sense. In fact, we aim at obtaining global scale invariant Strichartz and smoothing estimates, under appropriate scale invariant smallness assumptions on A.

In the "free" case A = 0, there exists vast literature on this subject. Let us introduce the mixed space-time norms

$$\|u\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(t,x)|^r dx\right)^{q/r} dt\right)^{1/q}.$$

We say that a pair of exponents (q, r) is Strichartz admissible, if  $2 \le q, r \le \infty$ , 2/q + n/r = n/2 and  $(q, r, n) \ne (2, \infty, 2)$ . Then, by result of Strichartz, Ginibre-Velo, and Keel-Tao,

$$\|e^{it\Delta}f\|_{L^{q}_{t}L^{r}_{x}} \le C\|f\|_{L^{2}}$$
(6.1.2)

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{is\Delta} F(s, \cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \le C \left\| F \right\|_{L^{\tilde{q}'}_{t} L^{\tilde{r}'}_{x}}$$
(6.1.3)

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{L_{t}^{q} L_{x}^{r}} \leq C \left\| F \right\|_{L_{t}^{\bar{q}'} L_{x}^{\bar{r}'}},$$
(6.1.4)

where  $(\tilde{q}, \tilde{r})$  is another Strichartz admissible pair and q' = q/(q-1). Note that for  $n \ge 3$  the set of admissible pairs (q, r) can be represented equivalently as  $(1/q, 1/r) \in AB$ , where AB is the segment with end points A(0, 1/2), B(1/2, 2n/(n-2)) and we can rewrite the estimate (6.1.3) as

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{is\Delta} F(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \leq C \left( \inf_{F=F_{1}+F_{2}} \|F_{1}\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + \|F_{2}\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2n/(n+2)}_{x}} \right).$$
(6.1.5)

On the other hand, the smoothing estimates were established by Kenig-Ponce-Vega in the seminal paper, [117], see also Ruiz-Vega [164]. These were later extended to more general second order Schrödinger equations in [118]. Some possible scale and rotation invariant smoothing estimates similar to (6.1.2), (6.1.3) and (6.1.4) can be written as (see Corollary 6.1 below)

$$\sup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( 2^{-m/2} 2^{k/2} \left\| e^{it\Delta} f_k \right\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \right) \le C \left\| f_k \right\|_{L^2},$$
(6.1.6)

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{is\Delta} F_{k}(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \leq C \left( \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|F_{k}\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \right),$$
(6.1.7)

$$\sup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( 2^{-m/2} 2^{k/2} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F_{k}(s, \cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \right) \leq$$

$$\leq C \left( \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|F_{k}\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \right),$$
(6.1.8)

where k is any integer,  $\phi_k := P_k \phi$  is the  $k^{th}$  Littlewood-Paley piece of  $\phi$  (see Section 2.1 below).

Motivated by these estimates, given any integer  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  introduce the spaces  $Y_k$ , defined by the norms<sup>1</sup>

$$\|\phi\|_{Y_k} = 2^{-k/2} \sum_m 2^{m/2} \|\phi_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}.$$

Now we can define the Banach spaces Y as a closure of the functions

Ш

$$\phi(t,x) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 0))$$

with respect to the norm

$$\|\phi\|_{Y} := \left(\sum_{k} \|\phi\|_{Y_{k}}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(6.1.9)

Its dual space Y' consists of tempered distributions  $S'(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^n),$  having finite norm

$$\|\phi\|_{Y'} := \left(\sum_k \|\phi\|_{Y'_k}^2\right)^{1/2},$$

where

$$\|\phi\|_{Y'_k} = 2^{k/2} \sup_m 2^{-m/2} \|\phi_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The expressions  $\phi \to \|\phi\|_{Y_k}$  are not faithfull norms, in the sense that may be zero, even for some  $\phi \neq 0$ . On the other hand, they satisfy all the other norm requirements and  $\phi \to (\sum_k \|\phi_k\|_{Y_k}^2)^{1/2}$  is a norm!

Then the smoothing estimates (6.1.6), (6.1.7) and (6.1.8) imply

$$\left\| e^{it\Delta} f \right\|_{Y'} \le C \left\| f \right\|_{L^2} , \quad \left\| \int_0^t e^{is\Delta} F(s, \cdot) ds \right\|_{L^2_x} \le C \left\| F \right\|_Y.$$
(6.1.10)

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{Y'} \le C \|F\|_{Y}.$$
(6.1.11)

Motivated by the Strichartz estimates and Besov versions of "local smoothing" norms, we introduce the spaces

$$X = L_t^1 L_x^2 + L_t^2 L_x^{2n/(n+2)} + Y$$

with norm

$$\|F\|_{X} = \inf_{F = F^{(1)} + F^{(2)} + F^{(3)}} \left\|F^{(1)}\right\|_{L^{1}_{t}L^{2}_{x}} + \left\|F^{(2)}\right\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2n/(n+2)}_{x}} + \left\|F^{(3)}\right\|_{Y}$$

The dual space to X space is X' and the norm in this space is defined in a similar way:

$$\|\phi\|_{X'} := \left(\sum_{k} \|\phi\|_{X'_{k}}^{2}\right)^{1/2}, \qquad (6.1.12)$$

where

$$\|\phi\|_{X'_k} = \sup_{(q,r)-Str.} \|\phi_k\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} + 2^{k/2} \sup_m 2^{-m/2} \|\phi_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x|\sim 2^m)}.$$

The main result of this chapter is the following:

THEOREM 6.1. If  $n \ge 3$ , then one can find a positive number  $\varepsilon > 0$  so that for any (vector) potential A = A(t, x) satisfying

$$\|A\|_{L^{\infty}L^{n}} + \|\nabla A\|_{L^{\infty}L^{n/2}} + \sup_{k} (\sum_{m} 2^{m} \|A_{< k}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{\infty}(|x| \sim 2^{m})}) \le \varepsilon,$$
(6.1.13)

1 /0

there exists C > 0, such that for any  $F(t, x) \in S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  we have the estimate

$$\left\| \int_{t>s} e^{i(t-s)\Delta_A} F(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{X'} \le C \|F\|_X.$$

In particular, the solutions to (4.1.1) satisfy the smoothing - Strichartz estimate

$$\|u\|_{X'} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2} + \|F\|_X.$$
(6.1.14)

REMARK 6.1. The estimate (6.1.14) implies various interesting inequalities. For example we have the classical Strichartz estimate

$$\sup_{(q,r)-Str.} \|u\|_{L^q L^r} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2} + \inf_{F=F_1+F_2} \|F_1\|_{L^1_t L^2_x} + \|F_2\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}$$

as well as the smoothing - Strichartz estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{Y'} &\lesssim \|f\|_{L^2} + \inf_{F=F_1+F_2} \|F_1\|_{L_t^1 L_x^2} + \|F_2\|_{L_t^2 L_x^{2n/(n+2)}}, \\ \sup_{(q,r)-Str.} \|u\|_{L^q L^r} &\lesssim \|f\|_{L^2} + \|F\|_Y. \end{aligned}$$

The main idea to prove this theorem is to apply appropriate scale invariant estimate for the free Schrödinger equation involving Strichartz and smoothing type norms.

Estimates of this type have been obtained earlier in [163] and [164] with Strichartz type norms of the form  $||F||_{L_x^{2n/(n+2)}L_t^2}$ . Recently, we found a similar estimate in the work [95] and this estimate has the form

$$\|D_x^{1/2} \int_0^t e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s,\cdot) ds\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{x'} L^2_t} \le C \|F\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}.$$
(6.1.15)

On one hand, this estimate can be used to derive the Strichartz estimate for the perturbed Schrödinger equation provided its (formally) "dual" version

$$\left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2n/(n-2)}_{x}} \le C \|D^{-1/2}_{x}F\|_{L^{1}_{x_{1}}L^{2}_{x'}L^{2}_{t}}.$$
(6.1.16)

is verified. The properties  $(L^{\infty})' \neq L^1$  and  $(L^1)' = L^{\infty}$  show that (6.1.16) implies (6.1.15), but not viceversa. However, we establish (6.1.16) and show that these estimates are stable under small magnetic perturbations satisfying (6.1.13).

#### 2. Preliminaries

**2.1. Fourier transform and Littlewood-Paley projections.** Define the Fourier transform and its inverse by

$$\hat{f}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} f(x)e^{-2\pi i x \cdot \xi} dx$$
$$f(x) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \hat{f}(\xi)e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d\xi.$$

Introduce a positive, decreasing, smooth away from zero function  $\chi : \mathbf{R}^1_+ \to \mathbf{R}^1_+$ , supported in  $\{\xi : 0 \leq \xi \leq 2\}$  and  $\chi(\xi) = 1$ , for all  $0 \leq \xi \leq 1$ . Define  $\varphi(\xi) = \chi(\xi) - \chi(2\xi)$ , which is positive and supported in the annulus  $\{1/2 \leq |\xi| \leq 2\}$ . We have that  $\varphi$  is smooth and  $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi(2^{-k}\xi) = 1$  for all  $\xi \neq 0$ . In higher dimensions, we slightly abuse the notations and denote a function with similar properties by the same name, i.e.  $\varphi(\xi) = \varphi(|\xi|), \chi(\xi) = \chi(|\xi|)$  etc. Note that for  $n > 1, \chi(\xi) : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}^1$  is a smooth function even at zero.

The  $k^{th}$  Littlewood-Paley projection (see also Section 11, Chapter 1 for more details) is defined as a multiplier type operator by  $\widehat{P_k f}(\xi) = \varphi(2^{-k}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)$ . Note that the kernel of  $P_k$  is integrable, smooth and real valued for every k. In particular, it is bounded on every  $L^p : 1 \le p \le \infty$  and it commutes with differential operators. Another helpful observation is that for the differential operator  $D_x^s$  defined via the multiplier  $|\xi|^s$ , one has

$$D_x^s P_k u = 2^{ks} \tilde{P}_k u,$$

where  $\tilde{P}_k$  is given by the multiplier  $\tilde{\varphi}(2^{-k}\xi)$ , where  $\tilde{\varphi}(\xi) = \varphi(\xi)|\xi|^s$ . We also consider  $P_{\leq k} := \sum_{l \leq k} P_l$ , which essentially restricts the Fourier transform to frequencies  $\leq 2^k$ .

2. PRELIMINARIES

Define also the function  $\psi(\xi) = \chi(\xi/4) - \chi(4\xi)$ . Note that  $\psi$  has similar support properties as  $\varphi$  and  $\psi(\xi)\varphi(\xi) = \varphi(\xi)$ . Thus, we may also define the operators  $Z_k$  by  $\widehat{Z_kf}(\xi) = \psi(2^{-k}\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)$ . By the construction,  $Z_kP_k = P_k$  and  $Z_k = P_{k-2} + \ldots + P_{k+1}$ .

Recall a version of the Calderón commutator estimate (see for example Lemma 2.1 in the work of Rodnianski and Tao, [**161**]), which reads

$$\|[P_k, f]g\|_{L^r} \le C2^{-k} \|\nabla f\|_{L^q} \|g\|_{L^p},$$

whenever  $1 \le r, p, q \le \infty$  and 1/r = 1/q + 1/p.

Also of interest will be the properties of products under the action of  $P_k$ . Starting with the relations

$$P_k(fg) = \sum_{\ell,m} P_k(f_\ell g_m),$$

$$P_k(f_\ell g_m) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \int_{\mathbf{R}^n} P_k(\xi) P_\ell(\xi - \eta) \hat{f}(\xi - \eta) P_m(\eta) \hat{g}(\eta) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} d\xi d\eta,$$

we exploit the property supp  $P_k(\xi) \subseteq \{2^{k-1} \le |\xi| \le 2^{k+1}\}$  and see that the sum can be restricted to the set

$$\{|\ell - m| \ge 2 + N_0, \ |\max(\ell, m) - k| \le 3\} \cup \{|\ell - m| \le 1 + N_0, \ k \le \max(\ell, m) + 3\},\$$

where  $N_0 \ge 1$  is an arbitrary number. This domain can be enlarged slightly using the inequality  $\max(\ell, m) \le \ell + 1 + N_0$  provided  $|\ell - m| \le 1 + N_0$ . So we can restrict the sum over the union of the following sets (the first two are disjoint for  $N_0 \ge 5$ , while the third one can overlap with them)

$$\{m \le k - N_0 + 1, \ |\ell - k| \le 3\}, \{\ell \le k - N_0 + 1, \ |m - k| \le 3\}$$

and

$$\{|\ell - m| \le 1 + N_0, \ \ell \ge k - N_0 - 4\}.$$

In conclusion, for any two (Schwartz) functions f, g we have the pointwise estimate

$$|P_k(fg)(x)| \leq \sum_{l \geq k-N_0-4} \sum_{|m-\ell| \leq 1+N_0} |P_k(f_l g_m)(x)| + |P_k(f_{\leq k-N_0+1} g_{k-3 \leq \cdot \leq k+3})(x)| + |P_k(f_{k-3 \leq \cdot \leq k+3} g_{\leq k-N_0+1})(x)|.$$

Taking for determinacy  $N_0 = 7$ , we get

$$|P_k(fg)(x)| \le |f_{\le k-6}(x)g_k(x)| + |[P_k, f_{\le k-6}]g_{k-3\le \cdot\le k+3}(x)| + |P_k(f_{k-3\le \cdot\le k+3} g_{\le k-6})(x)| + \sum_{l\ge k-11} \sum_{|m-\ell|\le 8} |P_k(f_lg_m)(x)|.$$

In particular, we need an appropriate (product like!) expression for

 $P_k(A \nabla u)$ . The main term is clearly when  $\nabla u$  is in high frequency mode, while  $\vec{A}$  is low frequency. More precisely, according to our considerations above,

$$P_k(A\nabla u) = A_{\leq k-6}\nabla u_k + E^k,$$

where  $E^k(x)$  satisfies the pointwise estimate

$$|E^{k}(x)| \leq |[P_{k}, A_{\leq k-6}]\nabla u_{k-3\leq \cdot k+3}(x)| +$$

$$\sum_{l\geq k-11} \sum_{|m-\ell|\leq 8} |P_{k}(A_{l} \cdot \nabla u_{m})(x)| + |P_{k}(A_{k-3\leq \cdot \leq k+3} \cdot \nabla u_{\leq k-6})(x)|$$
(6.2.17)

Note that in terms of  $L^p$  behavior and Littlewood-Paley theory, one treats these error terms as if they would appear in the form  $(\partial_x A)u$ .

**2.2. Besov space versions of the "local smoothing space".** The space *Y* was introduced as the closure of  $S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  with respect to the norm in (6.1.9), where

$$\|\phi\|_{Y_k} = 2^{k/2} \sum_m 2^{-m/2} \|P_k \phi\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}.$$
(6.2.18)

We can replace  $||F||_{L^2(|x|\sim 2^m)}$  by the comparable expression  $||\varphi(2^{-m}\cdot)F||_{L^2}$ . This will be done frequently (and without much discussions) in the sequel in order to make use of the Plancherel's theorem, which is of course valid only in the global  $L^2$  space. We mention also that the norm  $||\phi||_Y$  is scale invariant for rescale factors any diadic number.

We show that the "local smoothing space" defined as a closure of Schwartz functions  $\phi$  with respect to "local smoothing norms"

$$\sum_{m} 2^{m/2} \left\| D_x^{-1/2} \phi(t, x) \right\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}$$

can be embedded in Y.

LEMMA 6.1. There is a constant C = C(n), so that for every Schwartz function  $\phi$  we have

$$\|\phi\|_{Y} \le C \sum_{m} 2^{m/2} \left\| D_{x}^{-1/2} \phi(t, x) \right\|_{L^{2}_{t} L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})}.$$
(6.2.19)

**Proof.** Taking into account the definition of the space *Y*, it is sufficient to establish the estimate:

$$\|\phi\|_{Y_k} \le C \sum_m 2^{m/2} \left\| D_x^{-1/2} \phi_k(t, x) \right\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}$$

for any integer k. Using the scale invariance of the estimate we see that we lose no generality taking k = 0. Thus, we have to verify the estimate

$$\sum_{m} 2^{m/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot) P_0 \phi \right\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \le C \sum_{m} 2^{m/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot) D_x^{-1/2} \phi_0(t, x) \right\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}.$$

Since

$$P_0\phi = \sum_{|k| \le 2} P_0 D_x^{1/2} D_x^{-1/2} P_k \phi = \sum_{|k| \le 2} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{P}_0 \varphi(2^{-\ell} \cdot) D_x^{-1/2} P_k \phi$$

we can apply the triangle inequality, and reduce the proof to the following estimate

$$\sum_{m} 2^{m/2} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot) \widetilde{P}_0 \varphi(2^{-\ell} \cdot) D_x^{-1/2} P_k \phi \right\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \leq \\ \leq C \sum_{\ell} 2^{\ell/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-\ell} \cdot) D_x^{-1/2} \phi_k(t, x) \right\|_{L^2_t L^2_x},$$

where  $k \in \mathbb{Z}, |k| \leq 2$ . This estimate follows easily from

$$\left\|\varphi(2^{-m}\cdot)\widetilde{P}_{0}\varphi(2^{-\ell}\cdot)f\right\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \le C \left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}_{x}}, \ m \le \ell+1$$
(6.2.20)

$$\left\|\varphi(2^{-m}\cdot)\widetilde{P}_{0}\varphi(2^{-\ell}\cdot)f\right\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \le C2^{-m}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}_{x}}, \ m \ge \ell+2$$
(6.2.21)

and the obvious observation that

$$\sum_{m \le \ell+1} 2^{m/2} + \sum_{m \ge \ell+2} 2^{m/2} 2^{-m} \lesssim 2^{\ell/2}.$$

The estimate (6.2.20) is obvious, while the proof of (6.2.21) follows from

$$\varphi(2^{-m}\cdot)\widetilde{P}_0\varphi(2^{-\ell}\cdot)f = [\varphi(2^{-m}\cdot),\widetilde{P}_0]\varphi(2^{-\ell}\cdot)f, \ m \ge \ell + 2$$

and the Calderón estimate

$$\left\| [\varphi(2^{-m}\cdot), \widetilde{P}_0]g \right\|_{L^2_x} \le C 2^{-m} \|g\|_{L^2_x}$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

REMARK 6.1. Note that the argument in the proof of this lemma implies also the estimates

$$\|P(D)f_k\|_{Y} \lesssim \|f_k\|_{Y} = \|f\|_{Y_k}, \ \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(6.2.22)

for any pseudodiferential operator with symbol  $P(\xi) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

We have also the following estimate (dual to (6.2.19))

LEMMA 6.2. There is a constant C = C(n), so that for every Schwartz function  $\phi \in Y'$ , we have

$$\sup_{m} 2^{-m/2} \left\| D_x^{1/2} \phi(t, x) \right\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \le C_n \left\| \phi \right\|_{Y'}.$$
(6.2.23)

REMARK 6.2. Some generalizations of the previous two lemmas can be seen in Theorem 1.6 and Theorem 1.7 in [69].

### **3.** Estimates for the bilinear form Q(F,G)

The sesquilinear form

$$Q(F,G) = \int \int_{t>s} \langle e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s), G(t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ds dt$$

with Schwartz functions F, G, was used in [115] to derive Strichartz estimates (with endpoint) and this estimates can be expressed in terms of Q

$$|Q(F,G)| \le C \, \|F\|_{L_t^{q_1'} L_x^{r_1'}} \, \|G\|_{L_t^{q_2'} L_x^{r_2'}}, \tag{6.3.24}$$

for all Strichartz pairs  $(q_1, r_1), (q_2, r_2)$ .

We have the following estimate that can be obtained by applying Lemma 3 from the work of Ionescu-Kenig [95].

THEOREM 6.2. There exists a constant C = C(n) so that for any integer k, any  $F(t, x) \in S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ and  $G(t, x) \in S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ 

$$|Q(F_k, G_k)| \le C\left(\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|\varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)F_k\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}\right) \|G_k\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}.$$
(6.3.25)

We have also the following energy-smoothing estimate.

THEOREM 6.3. There exists a constant C = C(n) so that for any integer k, any  $F(t, x) \in S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ and  $G(t, x) \in S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ 

$$|Q(F_k, G_k)| \le C \left( \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|\varphi(2^{-m} \cdot) F_k\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \right) \|G_k\|_{L^1_t L^2_x}.$$
(6.3.26)

Before proving these theorems, we verify some of the smoothing estimates used in this chapter.

**3.1. Estimates in the local smoothing space.** For n = 1 we have the following smoothing estimates (see Kenig, Ponce, Vega [116, 117])

$$2^{k/2} \|e^{-it\Delta} f_k\|_{L^{\infty}_x L^2(\gamma)} \le C \|f_k\|_{L^2},$$
(6.3.27)

$$2^{k/2} \left\| \int_{s < t} e^{-i(t-s)\Delta} F_k(s) ds \right\|_{L^{\infty}_x L^2_t} \le C \|F_k\|_{L^1_x L^2_t},$$
(6.3.28)

as well as

$$2^{k/2} \left\| \int_{\gamma} e^{-it\Delta} F_k(t) dt \right\|_{L^2} \le C \|F_k\|_{L^1_x L^2(\gamma)}$$
(6.3.29)

for any interval  $\gamma \subseteq \mathbb{R}_t$ . Here C > 0 is a constant independent of  $f, F, \gamma$ .

For n > 1 we may assume

supp 
$$\hat{f}(\xi) \subseteq \{ |\xi'| \le \xi_1/10, \ \xi' = (\xi_2, \cdots, \xi_n) \}.$$
 (6.3.30)

Then we have the representation

$$(e^{-it\Delta}f)(x_1, x') =$$
 (6.3.31)

$$= c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} e^{it|\xi'|^2 + i(x'-y')\xi'} \left( e^{-it\Delta_1} f \right) (x_1, y') \, d\xi' dy'$$

where  $\Delta_1 = \partial_{x_1}^2$ .

This representation and the one-dimensional estimates (6.3.27), (6.3.28) and (6.3.29) lead to the following statement:

LEMMA 6.3. There exists a constant C depending only on the dimension, so that for any  $f \in S(\mathbb{R}^n), F \in S(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ , satisfying (6.3.30) and

$$\operatorname{supp}_{\xi} \ \widehat{F}(t,\xi) \subseteq \{ |\xi'| \le \xi_1/10, \ \xi' = (\xi_2, \cdots, \xi_n) \}$$
(6.3.32)

we have

$$2^{k/2} \| e^{-it\Delta} f_k \|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{x_1'} L^2_t(\gamma)} \le C \| f_k \|_{L^2_{x_1'} L^2_{x_1}}$$
(6.3.33)

$$2^{k/2} \left\| \int_{s < t} e^{-i(t-s)\Delta} F_k(s) ds \right\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1} L^2_{x',t}} \le C \|F_k\|_{L^1_{x_1} L^2_{x',t}},$$
(6.3.34)

and

$$2^{k/2} \left\| \int_{\gamma} e^{-it\Delta} F_k(t) dt \right\|_{L^2_{x_1} L^2_{x'}} \le C \|F_k\|_{L^1_{x_1} L^2_{x'} L^2_t(\gamma)}$$
(6.3.35)

for any interval  $\gamma \subseteq \mathbb{R}_t$ .

**Proof.** To prove (6.3.33) we use (6.3.31) and find

$$\left(\widehat{e^{-it\Delta}f}\right)(x_{1},\xi') =$$

$$= ce^{it|\xi'|^{2}} \left(e^{-it\Delta_{1}}\widehat{f}\right)(x_{1},\xi') = ce^{-it\Delta_{1}} \left(e^{it|\xi'|^{2}}\widehat{f}(\cdot,\xi')\right)(x_{1}).$$
(6.3.36)

Note that

$$P_k(\xi_1) \sim P_k(\xi)$$
 (6.3.37)

for  $\xi \in \text{supp}_{\xi}$   $\widehat{f}$  due to (6.3.30). From this observation, the one dimensional estimate (6.3.27) and the Plancherel identity imply (6.3.33), since

$$\|\hat{f}(x_1,\xi')\|_{L^2_{\xi'}L^\infty_{x_1}} \ge \|\hat{f}(x_1,\xi')\|_{L^\infty_{x_1}L^2_{\xi'}} = \|f(x_1,x')\|_{L^\infty_{x_1}L^2_{x'}}.$$

In a similar way we prove (6.3.34) and (6.3.35). This completes the proof of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

Applying Hölder inequality

$$\|g\|_{L^{1}_{x_{1}}} \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} \|g\|_{L^{2}_{x_{1}}(|x| \sim 2^{m})}, \ \sup_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-m/2} \|g\|_{L^{2}_{x_{1}}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \le \|g\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_{1}}},$$

we obtain

## COROLLARY 6.1. The smoothing estimates (6.1.6), (6.1.7), (6.1.8) are satisfied.

By Corollary 6.1 one gets

$$|Q(F_k, G_k)| \le C_n (\sum_m 2^{-k/2} 2^{m/2} ||F_k||_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}) \times (\sum_m 2^{-k/2} 2^{m/2} ||G_k||_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}).$$
(6.3.38)

After this prepartion, we turn to

**3.2.** Proof of Theorem 6.2: Bilinear smoothing-Strichartz estimate. The estimate (6.3.25) is scale invariant and for this we can take k = 0. We have the relation

$$Q(F,G) = \int \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \langle e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s), G(t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ds dt - \int \int_{t < s} \langle e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s), G(t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)} ds dt$$

For the form

$$Q_0(F,G) = \left\langle \int_{\mathbb{R}} ds \ e^{-is\Delta} F(s), \int_{\mathbb{R}} dt \ e^{-it\Delta} G(t) \right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

we can apply the Cauchy inequality and via (6.1.3) and (6.1.7) we get

$$|Q_0(F_0, G_0)| \le C \left( \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} \|\varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)F_0\|_{L^2_t L^2_x} \right) \|G_0\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}$$

Hence it remains to evaluate the form

$$Q^*(F,G) = \int \int_{t < s} \langle e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F(s), G(t) \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

and verify the inequality

$$|Q^*(F_0, G_0)| \le C\left(\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} \|\varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)F_0\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}\right) \|G_0\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}.$$
(6.3.39)

To prove (6.3.39) it is sufficient to consider F with

$$\operatorname{supp}_{\xi} \ \widehat{F}(t,\xi) \subseteq \{ |\xi'| \le \xi_1/10, \ \xi' = (\xi_2, \cdots, \xi_n) \}.$$
(6.3.40)

Also, note that

$$Q^*(F,G) = \int_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n} F(s,y) \overline{u(s,y)} \, ds dy,$$

where u is a solution to the free Schrödinger equation  $i\partial_t u + \Delta u = G$  having initial data identically 0.

With (6.3.40) in mind, applying Lemma 3 from Ionescu-Kenig [95], we get

$$\|D_{x_1}^{1/2}u\|_{L^{\infty}_{x_1}L^2_{x',t}} \lesssim \|G\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}.$$
(6.3.41)

Here and below we use the notations  $x = (x_1, x'), x' = (x_2, \dots, x_n)$ . So we have

$$|Q^*(F,G)| \le C \left( \|D_{x_1}^{-1/2}F\|_{L^1_{x_1}L^2_{x',t}} \right) \|G\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}_x}.$$
(6.3.42)

Thus, we need to establish the inequality

$$\|D_{x_1}^{-1/2}F_0\|_{L^1_{x_1}L^2_{x',t}} \lesssim \|F_0\|_{Y_0} = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} \|\varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)F_0\|_{L^2_t L^2_x}.$$

For the purpose it is sufficient to apply (6.2.22), the Hölder inequality

$$||g||_{L^1_{x_1}} \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} ||g||_{L^2_{x_1}}$$

and note that

$$D_{x_1}^{-1/2}F_0 = P(D)F_0,$$

for some  $P(\xi) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  due to our assumption (6.3.40). This completes the proof of the theorem.

**3.3. Proof of Theorem 6.3: bilinear energy – smoothing estimate.** The proof follows the same line of the proof of Theorem 6.2 with the following changement: in the place of Ionescu-Kenig inequality (6.3.41) we use

$$\sup_{t} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{i(t-s)\Delta} F_{k}(s,\cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{x}} \le C \left( \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|F_{k}\|_{L^{2}_{t}L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \right).$$
(6.3.43)

This estimate is trivial, since by the  $L^2$  energy conservation, the left-hand side of this inequality is equal to

$$\sup_{t} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} e^{-is\Delta} F_{k}(s, \cdot) ds \right\|_{L^{2}_{x}}$$

and applying the estimate (6.1.7), we can finish the proof as before.

#### 4. Proof of Theorem 6.1

We start by some reductions of the problem. First, note that (4.1.1) is in the form

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - i\Delta u + 2A\nabla u = \tilde{F}(t, x) \\ u(0, x) = f(x), \end{cases}$$
(6.4.44)

where  $\tilde{F} = F - div(A)u - i(\sum_{j} A_{j}^{2})u$ . We claim that is suffices to prove

$$\|u\|_{X'} \le C_n(\|f\|_{L^2} + \|\ddot{F}\|_X), \tag{6.4.45}$$

for the solutions of (6.4.44). Indeed, assuming the validity of (6.4.45) and since by our assumptions and Sobolev embedding  $\|\nabla A\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{n/2}_{x}} + \|A\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{n}_{x}} \leq C \|\nabla A\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{n/2}_{x}} \leq C\varepsilon$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{X'} &\leq C \, \|f\|_{L^2} + C \|\ddot{F}\|_X \leq \\ &\leq C \, \|f\|_{L^2} + C \, \|F\|_X + C(\|\nabla A\|_{L^{\infty}_t L^{n/2}_x} + \|A\|^2_{L^{\infty}_t L^n_x}) \, \|u\|_{L^2 L^{2n/(n-2)}} \\ &\leq C_n \, \|f\|_{L^2} + C_n \, \|F\|_X + C_n \varepsilon \, \|u\|_{L^2 L^{2n/(n-2)}} \leq \\ &\leq C_n \, \|f\|_{L^2} + C_n \, \|F\|_X + C_n \varepsilon \, \|u\|_{X'} \, . \end{aligned}$$

It follows that

$$||u||_{X'} \le C ||f||_{L^2} + C ||F||_X$$

as claimed, as long as  $\varepsilon : C_n \varepsilon < 1/2$ .

Thus, we concentrate on showing (6.4.45) for the solutions of (6.4.44), where we denote the right hand side by F again.

Next, we take a Littlewood-Paley projection of (6.4.44). We get

$$\partial_t u_k - i\Delta u_k = F_k - 2A_{\langle k-6}\nabla u_k - 2E^k := H_k$$

where  $E^k$  is the error term  $E^k = P_k(A\nabla u) - A_{\leq k-6}\nabla u_k$  given by (6.2.17).

We will show that the solution to  $\partial_t u_k - i\Delta u_k = H_k$  with initial data  $u_k(0, x) = f_k$ , satisfies the estimate

$$\|u_k\|_{X'} \le C \|f_k\|_{L^2} + C \|H_k\|_X.$$
(6.4.46)

First we will show how (6.4.46) implies Theorem 6.1 and then we proceed to show (6.4.46).

### **4.1.** (6.4.46) **implies Theorem 6.1.** Apply (6.4.46) to $u_k$ . We have

$$\|u_k\|_{X'} \leq C \|f_k\|_{L^2} + C(\|F_k\|_X + \|E^k\|_{L^2L^{2n/(n+2)}} + C\sum_{m} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|A_{< k-6} \nabla u_k\|_{L^2L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}).$$

$$(6.4.47)$$

We will need the following estimates:

$$\left(\sum_{k} \|E^{k}\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \le C_{n} \varepsilon \left(\sum_{k} \|u\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n-2)}}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \le C_{n} \varepsilon \|u\|_{X'}$$
(6.4.48)

$$\sum_{m} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|A_{< k-6} \nabla u_k\|_{L^2 L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \le C_n \varepsilon \|u_k\|_{X'_k}.$$
(6.4.49)

Let us show how based on (6.4.48) and (6.4.49), we finish the proof of Theorem 6.1. Plugging in these estimates in (6.4.47), using the definition (6.1.12) for X' and square summing in k yields

$$\|u\|_{X'} = \left(\sum_{k} \|u_{k}\|_{X'_{k}}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \le C_{n}(\|f\|_{L^{2}} + \|F\|_{X}) + C_{n}\varepsilon \|u\|_{X'}$$

whence with the choice of  $\varepsilon : C_n \varepsilon < 1/2$ ,

$$||u||_{X'} \le C_n(||f||_{L^2} + ||F||_X)$$

Thus, in this section, remains to show (6.4.48) and (6.4.49).

4.1.1. *Proof of* (6.4.49). Let  $\tilde{k}$  be integer with  $|k - \tilde{k}| \leq 3$ . We have

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \left\| A_{< k-6} \nabla u_{\widetilde{k}} \right\|_{L^{2} L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \left( \sum_{m} 2^{m} \left\| A_{< k-5} \right\|_{L^{\infty} L^{\infty}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \right) \sup_{m} 2^{-m/2} 2^{-k/2} \left\| \nabla u_{\widetilde{k}} \right\|_{L^{2} L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})} \le \\ &\le C_{n} \varepsilon \sup_{m} 2^{-m/2} 2^{-k/2} \left\| \nabla u_{\widetilde{k}} \right\|_{L^{2} L^{2}(|x| \sim 2^{m})}. \end{split}$$

This last expression is very similar to  $\|u_{\tilde{k}}\|_{X'}$ . We will show that it is controlled by it, which of course is enough to establish (6.4.49).

Fix an m. Then

$$2^{-m/2} 2^{-k/2} \left\| \nabla u_{\widetilde{k}} \right\|_{L^2 L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \lesssim 2^{-m/2} 2^{k/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot) Q_{\widetilde{k}} u_{\widetilde{k}} \right\|_{L^2 L^2}$$

where  $Q_k$  acts as a (vector) multiplier  $\psi(2^{-k}\xi)2^{-k}\xi$ . We have by the Calderón commutator estimate<sup>1</sup> and the Bernstein inequality

$$2^{-m/2}2^{k/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)Q_k u_k \right\|_{L^2 L^2} \le 2^{-m/2}2^{k/2} \left\| Q_k(\varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)u_k) \right\|_{L^2 L^2} + 2^{-m/2}2^{k/2} \left\| [Q_k, \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)]u_k \right\|_{L^2 L^2} \le 2^{-m/2}2^{k/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)u_k \right\|_{L^2 L^2} + 2^{-k/2} \left\| u_k \right\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n-3)}} \le 2^{-m/2}2^{k/2} \left\| \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)u_k \right\|_{L^2 L^2} + \left\| u_k \right\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n-2)}} \le C_n \left\| u_k \right\|_{X'}.$$

4.1.2. Proof of (6.4.48). We treat  $E^k$  on a term-by-term basis in (6.2.17). For the first term, by Calderón commutators,

$$(\sum_{k} \| [P_{k}, A_{< k-6}] \nabla u_{k} \|_{L^{2} L^{2n/(n+2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \lesssim$$

$$\lesssim (\sum_{k} \| \nabla A_{< k-6} \|_{L^{\infty} L^{n/2}}^{2} \| u_{k-3 \leq \cdot \leq k+3} \|_{L^{2} L^{2n/(n-2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \lesssim$$

$$\lesssim \sup_{k} \| \nabla A_{< k-6} \|_{L^{\infty} L^{n/2}} (\sum_{k} \| u_{k-3 \leq \cdot \leq k+3} \|_{L^{2} L^{2n/(n-2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \lesssim$$

$$\lesssim \| \nabla A \|_{L^{\infty} L^{n/2}} \| u \|_{X'}.$$

<sup>1</sup>We are using the particular form  $\left\| [Q_k, \varphi(2^{-m} \cdot)] u_k \right\|_{L^2 L^2} \lesssim 2^{-k} 2^{-m} \left\| (\nabla \varphi)(2^{-m} \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2n/3}} \|u_k\|_{L^{2n/(n-3)}} = 2^{-k} 2^{m/2} \|u_k\|_{L^{2n/(n-3)}}$ 

For the second term, we have by standard Littlewood-Paley theory

$$\begin{split} &(\sum_{k} \|P_{k}G\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \lesssim \|G\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}}, \\ &\|(\sum_{l} |g_{l}|^{2})^{1/2}\|_{L^{p}} \sim \|g\|_{L^{p}} \quad \text{ for all } \quad 1$$

whence with  $m,\ell\in\mathbb{Z}$  with  $|m-\ell|\leq 8$  we have

$$\begin{split} &(\sum_{k} \|P_{k} (\sum_{|\ell-m|\leq 8} A_{\ell} \cdot \nabla u_{m})\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \sim \\ &\sim \|\sum_{|\ell-m|\leq 8} A_{\ell} \cdot \nabla u_{m}\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \|(\sum_{\ell} 2^{2l} |A_{\ell}|^{2})^{1/2}\|_{L^{\infty}L^{n/2}} \|(\sum_{m} |\tilde{P}_{m}u|^{2})^{1/2}\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n-2)}} \sim \\ &\sim \|\nabla A\|_{L^{\infty}L^{n/2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n-2)}} \lesssim \varepsilon \|u\|_{X'} \,. \end{split}$$

For the third term in (6.2.17), observe that since for all  $1 \le p \le 2$ ,

$$\left(\sum_{k} \|G^{k}\|_{L^{p}}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \leq C_{n} \|\left(\sum_{k} |G^{k}|^{2}\right)^{1/2}\|_{L^{p}}$$

we can estimate as follows:

$$\begin{split} &(\sum_{k} \|P_{k}(A_{k-3\leq \cdot\leq k+3} \cdot \nabla u_{< k-5})\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim (\sum_{k} 2^{2k} \|A_{k-3\leq \cdot\leq k+3} \tilde{P}_{< k-5} u\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}}^{2})^{1/2} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \|(\sum_{k} 2^{2k} |A_{k-3\leq \cdot\leq k+3}|^{2} |\tilde{P}_{< k-5} u|^{2})^{1/2} \|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n+2)}} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \|(\sum_{k} 2^{2k} |A_{k-3\leq \cdot\leq k+3}|^{2})^{1/2} \|_{L^{\infty}L^{n/2}} \|\sup_{k} |\tilde{P}_{< k-5} u|\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n-2)}} \lesssim \\ &\lesssim \|\nabla A\|_{L^{\infty}L^{n/2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n-2)}} \lesssim \varepsilon \|u\|_{X'} \,. \end{split}$$

Here, we have used the pointwise estimate (see section 6.1, Chapter I, [186])  $\sup_k |\tilde{P}_{k-5}u|(x) \le CM(u)(x)$ , where M(u) is the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function and therefore

$$\|\sup_{k} |P_{$$

for all 1 .

**4.2. Proof of (6.4.46).** The nontrivial part of (6.4.46) is the case when  $u_k$  is the solution to  $\partial_t u_k - i\Delta u_k = H_k$  with zero initial data  $u_k(0, x) = 0$ . Then the fact that the norm of  $X_k$  has three components implies that the inequality

$$\|u_k\|_{X'} \le C \|H_k\|_X$$

is equivalent to the following nine inequalities

$$\|u_k\|_{L_t^2 L^{2n/(n-2)}} \le C \, \|H_k\|_{L_t^2 L^{2n/(n+2)}}, \tag{6.4.50}$$

$$\|u_k\|_{L^2L^{2n/(n-2)}} \le C \,\|H_k\|_{L^1L^2} \,, \tag{6.4.51}$$

$$\|u_k\|_{L^2L^{2n/(n-2)}} \le C \sum_m 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|H_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)},$$
(6.4.52)

$$\|u_k\|_{L^{\infty}L^2} \le C \,\|H_k\|_{L^2_*L^{2n/(n+2)}}\,,\tag{6.4.53}$$

$$\|u_k\|_{L^{\infty}L^2} \le C \,\|H_k\|_{L^1_*L^2} \,, \tag{6.4.54}$$

$$\|u_k\|_{L^{\infty}L^2} \le C \sum_m 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|H_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)},$$
(6.4.55)

$$2^{k/2} \sup_{m} 2^{-m/2} \|u_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \le C \|H_k\|_{L^2_t L^{2n/(n+2)}},$$
(6.4.56)

$$2^{k/2} \sup_{m} 2^{-m/2} \|u_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \le C \|H_k\|_{L^1_t L^2},$$
(6.4.57)

and

$$2^{k/2} \sup_{m} 2^{-m/2} \|u_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)} \le \le C \sum_{m} 2^{m/2} 2^{-k/2} \|H_k\|_{L^2_t L^2(|x| \sim 2^m)}.$$
(6.4.58)

The estimates (6.4.50), (6.4.51), (6.4.53) and (6.4.54) are Strichartz inequalities (see (6.1.4) for the general case).

The estimate (6.4.58) is smoothing - smoothing estimate established in Corollary 6.1 (actually they follow from the bilinear estimate (6.3.38)).

The estimates (6.4.52), (6.4.56) are smoothing - endpoint Strichartz inequalities following from the bilinear estimate of Theorem 6.2.

Finally, the estimates (6.4.55), (6.4.57) are smoothing - energy inequalities following from bilinear estimate of Theorem 6.3.

The first inequality is the usual Strichartz estimate, while the second one is equivalent to (6.3.25).

This completes the proof of the inequality (6.4.46) and of Theorem 6.1.

## **5.** On the Spectrum of $\Delta_A$

We conclude this chapter with an interesting theorem, regarding the spectrum of  $\Delta_A$ .

THEOREM 6.4. Let  $n \ge 3$  and  $A = A(x) : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}^n$  be a real-valued vector potential, such that the smallness conditions of Theorem 6.1 are satisfied. Let also  $V = V(x) : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}^1$ , with  $\|V\|_{L^{n/2}} << 1$ . Then the spectrum of  $-\Delta_A + V$  does not contain eigenvalues.

This is a standard corollary of the Strichartz estimates in higher dimensions. Note that the requirement  $n \ge 3$  is necessary, and in fact such result fails in dimensions one and two.

**Proof.** Assume that there is an eigenvalue  $\lambda$  with eigenvector f for  $-\Delta_A + V$ . Then  $u(t, \cdot) = e^{i\lambda t} f$  is a solution to the Schrödinger equation

$$u_t = i(-\Delta_A + V)u.$$

It follows from the Strichartz estimates of Theorem 6.1

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{L^{2}(0,T)L^{2n/(n-2)}} &\leq C(\|f\|_{L^{2}} + \|Vu\|_{L^{2}(0,T)L^{2n/(n+2)}}) \leq \\ &\leq C(\|f\|_{L^{2}} + \|V\|_{L^{n/2}} \|u\|_{L^{2}L^{2n/(n-2)}}) \leq \\ &C\|f\|_{L^{2}} + C\varepsilon \|u\|_{L^{2}(0,T)L^{2n/(n-2)}}. \end{aligned}$$

Clearly, if  $C\varepsilon < 1/2$ , we have that

$$||u||_{L^2(0,T)L^{2n/(n-2)}} \lesssim ||f|| L^2,$$

for every T > 0, which is a impossible, since  $\|u\|_{L^2(0,T)L^{2n/(n-2)}} \ge CT^{1/2} \|f\|_{L^{2n/(n-2)}}$ .

In dimension two, one may consider the Aharonov-Bohm type vector potentials (i.e. of the form  $A(r,\theta) = g(r)\psi(\theta)(\sin(\theta), -\cos(\theta))$ ), for which  $-\Delta_A + V$  is unitarily equivalent to  $-\Delta + V$ , [12]. For the Schrödinger operators  $-\Delta + V$  however, it is well-known that eigenvalues may exists for arbitrarily small (and smooth compactly) potentials V. This is due to B. Simon [176], see also [158, p.274, Theorem XIII.80]. Therefore, such result must fail in dimensions two.

Similar examples must be easier to construct in dimension one.

## **Bibliography**

- AGEMI, R. Blow-up of solutions to nonlinear wave equations in two space dimensions. *Manuscripta Math.* 73, 2 (1991), 153–162.
- [2] AGEMI, R., KUROKAWA, Y., AND TAKAMURA, H. Critical curve for p-q systems of nonlinear wave equations in three space dimensions. J. Differential Equations 167, 1 (2000), 87–133.
- [3] AGEMI, R., AND TAKAMURA, H. The lifespan of classical solutions to nonlinear wave equations in two space dimensions. Hokkaido Math. J. 21, 3 (1992), 517-542.
- [4] AGMON, S. Spectral properties of Schrödinger operator. Actes, Congrès Intern. Math. 2 (1970), 679–683. 58, 60
- [5] AGMON, S. Spectral Properties of Schrödinger Operators and Scattering Theory. Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei, 1975. Lezioni Fermiane. Classe di Scienze. 4, 46, 49, 50, 58, 60, 62, 65, 70
- [6] AGMON, S. A perturbation theory of resonances. Comm.Pure Appl.Math. 51, 11-12 (1998), 1255–1309. 52
- [7] AGMON, S., CRUZ-SAMPEDRO, J., AND HERBST, I. Generalized Fourier transform for Schrödinger operators with potentials of order zero. J. Funct. Anal. 167, 2 (1999), 345–369.
- [8] AGMON, S., AND HORMANDER, H. Asymptotic properties of solutions of differential equations with simple characteristics. J. Analyse Math. 30 (1976), 1–38. 77
- [9] AHLFORS, L. V. Complex analysis, third ed. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1978. An introduction to the theory of analytic functions of one complex variable, International Series in Pure and Applied Mathematics. 47, 64
- [10] ALSHOLM, P., AND SCHMIDT, G. Spectral and scattering theory for Schrödinger operators. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 40 (1970/1971), 281–311.
- [11] ASAKURA, F. Existence of a global solution to a semilinear wave equation with slowly decreasing initial data in three space dimensions. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations* 11, 13 (1986), 1459–1487.
- [12] BALINSKY, A. A., EVANS, W. D., AND LEWIS, R. T. On the number of negative eigenvalues of schrödinger operators with an aharonov-bohm magnetic field. *R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 457, 2041 (2001), 2481–2489. 125
- [13] BANICA, V. Dispersion and Strichartz inequalities for Schrödinger equations with singular coefficients. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 35, 4 (2003), 868–883 (electronic).
- [14] BARCELO, J. A., RUIZ, A., AND VEGA, L. Weighted estimates for the Helmholtz equation and some applications. J. Funct. Anal. 150, 2 (1997), 356–382. 65
- [15] BEALS, M., AND STRAUSS, W. L<sup>p</sup> estimates for the wave equation with a potential. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 18, 7-8 (1993), 1365–1397. 63
- [16] BECKNER, W. Inequalities in Fourier analysis. Ann. of Math. (2) 102, 1 (1975), 159-182.
- [17] BEN-ARTZI, M., AND DEVINATZ, A. Resolvent estimates for a sum of tensor products with applications to the spectral theory of differential operators. J. Analyse Math. 43 (1983/84), 215–250. 4, 46, 53
- [18] BEN-ARTZI, M., AND KLAINERMAN, S. Decay and regularity for the schrödinger equation. J. Analyse Math. 58 (1992), 25–37. 5
- [19] BENCI, V., AND VISCIGLIA, N. Solitary waves with non-vanishing angular momentum. Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 3, 1 (2003), 151-160.
- [20] BERGH, J., AND LÖFSTRÖM, J. Interpolation Spaces. An Introduction. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, No. 223. 36, 37
- [21] BERS, L., JOHN, F., AND SCHECHTER, M. Partial differential equations. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1979. With supplements by Lars Garding and A. N. Milgram, With a preface by A. S. Householder, Reprint of the 1964 original, Lectures in Applied Mathematics, 3A.

- [22] BLOOM, C. O., AND KAZARINOFF, N. D. Local energy decay for a class of nonstar-shaped bodies. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 55 (1974), 73–85.
- [23] BOUTET DE MONVEL, A., AND PURICE, R. Limiting absorption principle for schrödinger hamiltonians with magnetic fields. Comm. Part. Diff. Eq. 19, 1,2 (1994), 89–117. 78
- [24] BRENNER, P. On  $L_p L_{p'}$  estimates for the wave-equation. Math. Z. 145, 3 (1975), 251–254.
- [25] BRENNER, P.  $L_p L_{p'}$ -estimates for Fourier integral operators related to hyperbolic equations. *Math. Z. 152*, 3 (1977), 273–286.
- [26] BRENNER, P. On the existence of global smooth solutions of certain semilinear hyperbolic equations. Math. Z. 167, 2 (1979), 99–135.
- [27] BRENNER, P. On space-time means and strong global solutions of nonlinear hyperbolic equations. Math. Z. 201, 1 (1989), 45-55.
- [28] BRENNER, P., AND KUMLIN, P. On wave equations with supercritical nonlinearities. Arch. Math. (Basel) 74, 2 (2000), 129–147.
- [29] BRENNER, P., AND VON WAHL, W. Global classical solutions of nonlinear wave equations. Math. Z. 176, 1 (1981), 87-121.
- [30] BREZIS, H. Analyse fonctionnelle. Collection Mathématiques Appliquées pour la Maîtrise. [Collection of Applied Mathematics for the Master's Degree]. Masson, Paris, 1983. Théorie et applications. [Theory and applications].
- [31] BURQ, N. Décroissance de l'énergie locale de l'équation des ondes pour le problème extérieur et absence de résonance au voisinage du réel. *Acta Math. 180*, 1 (1998), 1–29.
- [32] BURQ, N., PLANCHON, F., STALKER, J. G., AND TAHVILDAR-ZADEH, A. S. Strichartz estimates for the wave and Schrödinger equations with the inverse-square potential. J. Funct. Anal. 203, 2 (2003), 519–549. 63
- [33] BURQ, N., PLANCHON, F., STALKER, J. G., AND TAHVILDAR-ZADEH, A. S. Strichartz estimates for the wave and Schrödinger equations with the inverse-square potential. J. Funct. Anal. 203, 2 (2003), 519–549.
- [34] CALDERÓN, A.-P., AND ZYGMUND, A. Singular integral operators and differential equations. Amer. J. Math. 79 (1957), 901–921. 40
- [35] CARDOSO, F., POPOV, G., AND VODEV, G. Distribution of resonances and local energy decay in the transmission problem. II. Math. Res. Lett. 6, 3-4 (1999), 377–396.
- [36] CAZENAVE, T., AND WEISSLER, F. B. The Cauchy problem for the critical nonlinear Schrödinger equation in H<sup>s</sup>. Nonlinear Anal. 14, 10 (1990), 807–836.
- [37] CAZENAVE, T., AND WEISSLER, F. B. More self-similar solutions of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation. NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 5, 3 (1998), 355–365.
- [38] CAZENAVE, T., AND WEISSLER, F. B. Scattering theory and self-similar solutions for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 31, 3 (2000), 625–650 (electronic).
- [39] CHADAM, J. M., AND GLASSEY, R. T. Global existence of solutions to the Cauchy problem for time-dependent Hartree equations. J. Mathematical Phys. 16 (1975), 1122–1130.
- [40] CHIHARA, H. Smoothing effect of dispersive pseudodifferential equations. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 27 (2002), 1953–2005. 5
- [41] CHRIST, M., AND KISELEV, A. Maximal functions associated to filtrations. J. Funct. Anal. 179, 2 (2001), 409-425.
- [42] CONSTANTIN, P., AND SAUT, J.-C. Local smoothing properties of schrödinger equations. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 38, 3 (1989), 791–810. 2, 77
- [43] COOPER, J., AND STRAUSS, W. A. Energy boundedness and decay of waves reflecting off a moving obstacle. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 25, 7 (1976), 671–690.
- [44] CUCCAGNA, S. On the wave equation with a potential. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 25, 7-8 (2001), 1549– 1565. 63
- [45] CUCCAGNA, S., AND SCHIRMER, P. On the wave equation with a magnetic potential. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 54, 2 (2001), 135-152. 78
- [46] DAN, W., AND SHIBATA, Y. On a local energy decay of solutions of a dissipative wave equation. Funkcial. Ekvac. 38, 3 (1995), 545–568.
- [47] D'ANCONA, P., AND FANELL, L. Decay estimates for the wave and dirac equations with a magnetic potential. To appear in Comm. Pure Appl. Math. (2005). 78

- [48] D'ANCONA, P., GEORGIEV, V., AND KUBO, H. Weighted decay estimates for the wave equation. J. Differential Equations 177, 1 (2001), 146–208. 80, 82, 92
- [49] D'ANCONA, P., AND PIERFELICE. On the wave equation with a large rough potential. Submitted.
- [50] D'ANCONA, P., PIERFELICE, V., AND VISCIGLIA, N. Some remarks on the schrödinger equation with a potential in  $l_t^r l_x^s$ . To appear in *Mathematische Annalen*.
- [51] DASSIOS, G. Local energy decay for scattering of elastic waves. J. Differential Equations 49, 1 (1983), 124-141.
- [52] DEL SANTO, D., GEORGIEV, V., AND MITIDIERI, E. Global existence of the solutions and formation of singularities for a class of hyperbolic systems. In *Geometrical optics and related topics (Cortona, 1996)*, vol. 32 of *Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl.* Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1997, pp. 117–140.
- [53] DI POMPONIO, S., AND GEORGIEV, V. Life-span of subcritical semilinear wave equation. Asymptot. Anal. 28, 2 (2001), 91–114.
- [54] DOI, S.-I. On the cauchy problem for schrödinger type equations and the regularity of solutions. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 34, 2 (1994), 319 – 328. 77
- [55] DOI, S.-I. Remarks on the cauchy problem for schrödinger type equations and the regularity of solutions. Comm. Partial Diff. Eq. 21, 1, 2 (1996), 163 – 178. 77
- [56] EGOROV, Y. V., KOMECH, A. I., AND SHUBIN, M. A. Elements of the modern theory of partial differential equations. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999. Translated from the 1988 Russian original by P. C. Sinha, Reprint of the original English edition from the series Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences [Partial differential equations. II, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., 31, Springer, Berlin, 1994; MR1364199 (96f:35001)]. 1
- [57] EVANS, L. C. Partial Differential Equations, vol. 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998. 48
- [58] FOSCHI, D. Generalized Harmse-Oberlin estimates and applications to semilinear wave equations. In preparation.
- [59] FOSCHI, D. Inhomogeneous strichartz estimates. Preprint, available at http://univaq.it/~foschi/ ricerca/inhomog.pdf.
- [60] FOSCHI, D. Maximizers for the strichartz inequality. Preprint, available at http://univaq.it/~foschi/ricerca/maximizer.pdf,.
- [61] FOSCHI, D. Some remarks on the l<sup>p</sup> l<sup>q</sup> boundedness of trigonometric sums and oscillatory integrals. Preprint, available at http://univag.it/~foschi/ricerca/trigsum.pdf.
- [62] GEORGIEV, V. Existence of global solutions to supercritical semilinear wave equations. Serdica Math. J. 22, 2 (1996), 125–164.
- [63] GEORGIEV, V. Semilinear hyperbolic equations, vol. 7 of MSJ Memoirs. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 2000. With a preface by Y. Shibata. 9, 37, 38, 80
- [64] GEORGIEV, V., HEIMING, C., AND KUBO, H. Supercritical semilinear wave equation with non-negative potential. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 26, 11-12 (2001), 2267–2303.
- [65] GEORGIEV, V., LINDBLAD, H., AND SOGGE, C. D. Weighted Strichartz estimates and global existence for semilinear wave equations. Amer. J. Math. 119, 6 (1997), 1291–1319.
- [66] GEORGIEV, V., AND LUCENTE, S. Decay for nonlinear Klein Gordon equations. NoDea (2004). 80
- [67] GEORGIEV, V., STEFANOV, A., AND TARULLI, M. Strong endpoint strichartz estimates for the Schrödinger equation with small magnetic potential. Submitted to IMRN (2005). 6, 111
- [68] GEORGIEV, V., TAKAMURA, H., AND ZHOU, Y. The lifespan of solutions to nonlinear systems of high dimensional wave equation.
- [69] GEORGIEV, V., AND TARULLI, M. Scale invariant smoothing estimates for the Scrödinger equation with small magnetic potential. To Appear in Asymptot. Anal. (2005). 6, 78, 117
- [70] GEORGIEV, V., AND VISCIGLIA, N. Decay estimates for the wave equation with potential. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 28, 7-8 (2003), 1325–1369. 60, 62, 63, 65, 68, 69, 75
- [71] GEORGIEV, V., AND VISCIGLIA, N. L<sup>∞</sup> − L<sup>2</sup> weighted estimate for the wave equation with potential. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. Rend. Lincei (9) Mat. Appl. 14, 2 (2003), 109–135.
- [72] GINIBRE, J., AND VELO, G. The global Cauchy problem for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. Math. Z. 189, 4 (1985), 487–505. 38, 74
- [73] GINIBRE, J., AND VELO, G. Scattering theory in the energy space for a class of nonlinear wave equations. Comm. Math. Phys. 123, 4 (1989), 535–573. 108

- [74] GINIBRE, J., AND VELO, G. Smoothing properties and retarded estimates for some dispersive evolution equations. Comm. Math. Phys. 144, 1 (1992), 163-188. 5
- [75] GINIBRE, J., AND VELO, G. Generalized strichartz inequalities for the wave equation. J. Funct. Anal. 133, 1 (1995), 50–68. 5, 38, 74
- [76] GLASSEY, R. T. Existence in the large for  $\Box u = F(u)$  in two space dimensions. *Math. Z.* 178, 2 (1981), 233–261.
- [77] GLASSEY, R. T. Finite-time blow-up for solutions of nonlinear wave equations. Math. Z. 177, 3 (1981), 323–340.
- [78] GRILLAKIS, M. G. Regularity and asymptotic behaviour of the wave equation with a critical nonlinearity. Ann. of Math. (2) 132, 3 (1990), 485–509.
- [79] GRILLAKIS, M. G. Regularity for the wave equation with a critical nonlinearity. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 45, 6 (1992), 749–774.
- [80] HARDY, G. H., AND LITTLEWOOD, J. E. Some properties of fractional integrals, i. Math. Z. 27 (1928), 565–606. 38
- [81] HARDY, G. H., AND LITTLEWOOD, J. E. On certain inequalities connected with the calculus of variations. J. London Math. Soc. 5 (1930), 34–39. 38
- [82] HEDBERG, L. I. On certain convolution inequalities. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 36 (1972), 505-510. 38
- [83] HEINZ, E., AND VON WAHL, W. Zu einem Satz von F. E. Browder über nichtlineare Wellengleichungen. Math. Z. 141 (1975), 33–45.
- [84] HITRIK, M. Existence of resonances in magnetic scattering. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics 148 (2002), 91–97. 70, 78
- [85] HÖRMANDER, L. Estimates for translation invariant operators in  $L^p$  spaces. Acta Math. 104 (1960), 93–140.
- [86] HÖRMANDER, L. The analysis of linear partial differential operators. II, vol. 257 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1983. Differential operators with constant coefficients. 49, 58, 60, 62, 70
- [87] HÖRMANDER, L. The analysis of linear partial differential operators. I, second ed., vol. 256 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990. Distribution theory and Fourier analysis. 46, 109
- [88] HÖRMANDER, L. The analysis of linear partial differential operators. III, vol. 274 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994. Pseudo-differential operators, Corrected reprint of the 1985 original.
- [89] HÖRMANDER, L. The analysis of linear partial differential operators. IV, vol. 275 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994. Fourier integral operators, Corrected reprint of the 1985 original.
- [90] HÖRMANDER, L. Lectures on nonlinear hyperbolic differential equations, vol. 26 of Mathématiques & Applications [Mathematics & Applications]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [91] IKEBE, T. Eigenfunction expansions associated with the Schrödinger operators and their applications to scattering theory. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 5 (1960), 1–34. 4
- [92] IKEBE, T., AND ISOZAKI, H. Completeness of modified wave operators for long-range potentials. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 15, 3 (1979), 679–718. 3
- [93] IKEBE, T., AND KATO, T. Uniqueness of the self-adjoint extension of singular elliptic differential operators. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 9 (1962), 77–92. 53
- [94] IKEBE, T., AND SAITO, Y. Limiting absorption method and absolute continuity for the Schrödinger operator. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 12 (1972), 513–542. 4, 46, 53
- [95] IONESCU, A ABD KENIG, C. Well posedness and local smoothing of solutions of schrödinger equations. Math. Res. Lett. 12, 2, 3 (2005). 114, 117, 120
- [96] ISOZAKI, H. On the generalized Fourier transforms associated with Schrödinger operators with long-range perturbations. J. Reine Angew. Math. 337 (1982), 18–67. 4
- [97] ISOZAKI, H. Differentiability of Generalized Fourier Transforms Associated with Schrödinger operators. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 25, 4 (1985), 789–806.
- [98] ISOZAKI, H., AND KITADA, H. Microlocal resolvent estimates for 2-body Schrödinger operators. J. Funct. Anal. 57, 3 (1984), 270–300.
- [99] ISOZAKI, H., AND KITADA, H. Erratum: "Microlocal resolvent estimates for 2-body Schrödinger operators". J. Funct. Anal. 62, 2 (1985), 336.

- [100] ISOZAKI, H., AND KITADA, H. A remark on the microlocal resolvent estimates for two body Schrödinger operators. *Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci.* 21, 5 (1985), 889–910.
- [101] J., S., AND ZWORSKI, M. Lower bound on the number of scattering poles, ii. Journal of Functional Analysis 123 (1994), 336–367. 70
- [102] JENSEN, A., AND KATO, T. Spectral properties of Schrödinger operators and time-decay of the wave functions. Duke Math. J. 46, 3 (1979), 583–611.
- [103] JOHN, F. Blow-up for quasilinear wave equations in three space dimensions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 34, 1 (1981), 29–51.
- [104] JOHN, F. Nonexistence of global solutions of  $\Box u = (\partial/\partial t)F(u_t)$  in two and three space dimensions. In Proceedings of the conference commemorating the 1st centennial of the Circolo Matematico di Palermo (Italian) (Palermo, 1984) (1985), no. 8, pp. 229–249.
- [105] JOHN, F. Nonlinear wave equations, formation of singularities, vol. 2 of University Lecture Series. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1990. Seventh Annual Pitcher Lectures delivered at Lehigh University, Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, April 1989. 2
- [106] JOHN, F. Partial differential equations, fourth ed., vol. 1 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [107] KAPITANSKI, L. Some generalizations of the Strichartz-Brenner inequality. Algebra i Analiz 1, 3 (1989), 127–159.
- [108] KAPITANSKI, L. Weak and yet weaker solutions of semilinear wave equations. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 19, 9-10 (1994), 1629–1676.
- [109] KAPITANSKIĬ, L. V. The Cauchy problem for the semilinear wave equation. I. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 163, Kraev. Zadachi Mat. Fiz. i Smezhn. Vopr. Teor. Funktsii 19 (1987), 76–104, 188. 5
- [110] KAPITANSKIĬ, L. V. The Cauchy problem for the semilinear wave equation. II. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 182, Kraev. Zadachi Mat. Fiz. i Smezh. Voprosy Teor. Funktsii. 21 (1990), 38–85, 171. 5
- [111] KAPITANSKIĬ, L. V. The Cauchy problem for the semilinear wave equation. III. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI) 181, Differentsialnaya Geom. Gruppy Li i Mekh. 11 (1990), 24–64, 186. 5
- [112] KATO, T. An L<sup>q,r</sup>-theory for nonlinear Schrödinger equations. In Spectral and scattering theory and applications, vol. 23 of Adv. Stud. Pure Math. Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 1994, pp. 223–238.
- [113] KATO, T. Perturbation theory for linear operators. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995. Reprint of the 1980 edition. 2, 4, 19, 45, 50
- [114] KATO, T., AND YAJIMA, K. Some examples of smooth operators and the associated smoothing effect. Rev. Math. Phys. 1 (1989), 481–496. 6
- [115] KEEL, M., AND TAO, T. Endpoint Strichartz Estimates. Amer. J. Math. 120, 5 (1998), 955–980. 5, 6, 74, 103, 117
- [116] KENIG, C., PONCE, G., AND VEGA, L. Oscillatory integrals and regularity of dispersive equations. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 40 (1991), 33-69. 5, 118
- [117] KENIG, C., PONCE, G., AND VEGA, L. Small solutions to nonlinear schrödinger equations. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 19 (1993), 489–545. 5, 73, 77, 80, 112, 118
- [118] KENIG, C., PONCE, G., AND VEGA, L. Smoothing effects and local existence theory for the generalized nonlinear schrödinger equations. *Invent. Math.* 134 (1998), 489–545. 5, 80, 112
- [119] KERLER, C. Perturbations of the Laplacian with variable coefficients in exterior domains and differentiability of the resolvent. Asymptot. Anal. 10, 3-4 (1999), 209–232. 4
- [120] KLAINERMAN, S., AND MACHEDON, M. Space-time estimates for null forms and the local existence theorem. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 46, 9 (1993), 1221–1268. 109
- [121] KUBO, H., AND OHTA, M. Critical blowup for systems of semilinear wave equations in low space dimensions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 240, 2 (1999), 340–360.
- [122] KUBOTA, K. Existence of a global solution to a semi-linear wave equation with initial data of noncompact support in low space dimensions. *Hokkaido Math. J.* 22, 2 (1993), 123–180.
- [123] KURODA, S. T. Scattering theory for differential operators. I. Operator theory. J. Math. Soc. Japan 25 (1973), 75–104.
   4, 52, 61
- [124] KURODA, S. T. Scattering theory for differential operators. II. Self-adjoint elliptic operators. J. Math. Soc. Japan 25 (1973), 222–234. 4, 52, 61

- [125] KURODA, S. T. Scattering theory for differential operators. III. Exterior problems. In Spectral theory and differential equations (Proc. Sympos., Dundee, 1974; dedicated to Konrad Jörgens). Springer, Berlin, 1975, pp. 227–241. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 448. 4, 52
- [126] LAX, P. D., MORAWETZ, C. S., AND PHILLIPS, R. S. Exponential decay of solutions of the wave equation in the exterior of a star-shaped obstacle. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 16 (1963), 477–486.
- [127] LAX, P. D., AND PHILLIPS, R. S. Scattering theory, second ed., vol. 26 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Academic Press Inc., Boston, MA, 1989. With appendices by Cathleen S. Morawetz and Georg Schmidt. 2, 3, 48
- [128] LEINFELDER, H., AND SIMADER, C. G. Schrödinger operators with singular magnetic vector potentials. Math. Z. 176, 1 (1981), 1–19. 61, 75
- [129] LIEB, E. H. Sharp constants in the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev and related inequalities. Ann. of Math. (2) 118, 2 (1983), 349–374. 38
- [130] LIEB, E. H., AND LOSS, M. Analysis, second ed., vol. 14 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001. 38
- [131] LINDBLAD, H. A sharp counterexample to the local existence of low-regularity solutions to nonlinear wave equations. Duke Math. J. 72, 2 (1993), 503–539. 5
- [132] LINDBLAD, H. Minimal regularity solutions of nonlinear wave equations. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. III (Berlin, 1998) (1998), pp. 39–48 (electronic). 5
- [133] LINDBLAD, H., AND SOGGE, C. D. On existence and scattering with minimal regularity for semilinear wave equations. J. Funct. Anal. 130, 2 (1995), 357–426. 5
- [134] LINDBLAD, H., AND SOGGE, C. D. Long-time existence for small amplitude semilinear wave equations. Amer. J. Math. 118, 5 (1996), 1047–1135.
- [135] LIONS, J. L., AND MAGENES, E. Problèmes aux limites non homogènes et applications. Vol. 2. Travaux et Recherches Mathématiques, No. 18. Dunod, Paris, 1968. 46
- [136] LÖFSTRÖM, J. Interpolation of weighted spaces of differentiable functions on R<sup>d</sup>. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 132 (1982), 189–214 (1983).
- [137] MELROSE, R. B. Singularities and energy decay in acoustical scattering. Duke Math. J. 46, 1 (1979), 43-59.
- [138] MILNOR, J. Singular points of complex hypersurfaces. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 61. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1968.
- [139] MIZOHATA, S. The theory of partial differential equations. Cambridge University Press, New York, 1973. Translated from the Japanese by Katsumi Miyahara. 1
- [140] MOCKENHAUPT, G., SEEGER, A., AND SOGGE, C. D. Local smoothing of Fourier integral operators and Carleson-Sjölin estimates. J. Amer. Math. Soc. 6, 1 (1993), 65–130. 110
- [141] MONTGOMERY-SMITH, S. J. Time decay for the bounded mean oscillation of solutions of the Schrödinger and wave equations. Duke Math. J. 91, 2 (1998), 393-408.
- [142] MORAWETZ, C. S., AND STRAUSS, W. A. On a nonlinear scattering operator. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 26 (1973), 47-54.
- [143] MUCKENHOUPT, B. Weighted norm inequalities for the Fourier transform. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 276, 2 (1983), 729-742.
- [144] MURATA, M. Rate of decay of local energy and wave operators for symmetric systems. J. Math. Soc. Japan 31, 3 (1979), 451–480.
- [145] MURATA, M. Asymptotic expansions in time for solutions of Schrödinger-type equations. J. Funct. Anal. 49, 1 (1982), 10–56. 4
- [146] NAKAMURA, Y. Local solvability and smoothing effects of nonlinear schrodinger equations with magnetic fields. Funkcial. Ekvac. 44, 1 (2001), 1–18. 78
- [147] PECHER, H. Nonlinear small data scattering for the wave and Klein-Gordon equation. Math. Z. 185, 2 (1984), 261– 270.
- [148] PERAL, J. C. L<sup>p</sup> estimates for the wave equation. J. Funct. Anal. 36, 1 (1980), 114-145.
- [149] PERTHAME, B., AND VEGA, L. Morrey-campanato estimates for helmholtz equations. J. Funct. Anal. 164, 2 (1999), 1340–355. 77
- [150] PETKOV, V. Scattering theory for hyperbolic operators, vol. 21 of Studies in Mathematics and its Applications. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1989. 2, 3

- [151] PETKOV, V. M., AND GEORGIEV, V. S. RAGE theorem for power bounded operators and decay of local energy for moving obstacles. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Théor. 51, 2 (1989), 155-185.
- [152] PLANCHON, F., STALKER, J. G., AND TAHVILDAR-ZADEH, A. S. L<sup>p</sup> estimates for the wave equation with the inversesquare potential. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 9, 2 (2003), 427–442. 63
- [153] PONCE, G., AND SIDERIS, T. C. Local regularity of nonlinear wave equations in three space dimensions. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 18, 1-2 (1993), 169–177.
- [154] POPOV, G., AND VODEV, G. Distribution of the resonances and local energy decay in the transmission problem. Asymptot. Anal. 19, 3-4 (1999), 253–265.
- [155] RAIKOV, G., AND WARZEL, S. Spectral asymptotic for magnetic schrödinger operators with rapidly decreasing electric potential. C. R. Acad. Paris, Ser.I 335 (2002), 683–688. 70, 78
- [156] RAUCH, J. I. The u<sup>5</sup> Klein-Gordon equation. II. Anomalous singularities for semilinear wave equations. In Nonlinear partial differential equations and their applications. Collège de France Seminar, Vol. I (Paris, 1978/1979), vol. 53 of Res. Notes in Math. Pitman, Boston, Mass., 1981, pp. 335–364.
- [157] REED, M., AND SIMON, B. Methods of modern mathematical physics. II. Fourier analysis, self-adjointness. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1975. 1, 9, 12, 14, 75
- [158] REED, M., AND SIMON, B. Methods of modern mathematical physics. IV. Analysis of operators. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1978. 1, 52, 125
- [159] REED, M., AND SIMON, B. Methods of modern mathematical physics. III. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1979. Scattering theory. 1, 61
- [160] REED, M., AND SIMON, B. Methods of modern mathematical physics. I, second ed. Academic Press Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1980. Functional analysis. 1, 9, 12, 13, 35
- [161] RODNIANSKI, I., AND TAO, T. Global regularity for the maxwell-klein-gordon equation with small critical sobolev norm in high dientions. Comm. Math. Phys., 3 (2005). 115
- [162] RUDIN, W. Functional analysis. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1973. McGraw-Hill Series in Higher Mathematics. 12, 26, 47
- [163] RUIZ, A., AND VEGA, L. On local regularity of schrödinger equations. Int. Math. Research Notes. 1 (1993), 13-27. 114
- [164] RUIZ, A., AND VEGA, L. Local regularity of solutions to wave with time-dependent potentials. Duke Math. J. 76, 3 (1994), 913-940. 112, 114
- [165] RUNST, T., AND SICKEL, W. Sobolev spaces of fractional order, Nemytskij operators, and nonlinear partial differential equations, vol. 3 of de Gruyter Series in Nonlinear Analysis and Applications. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1996.
- [166] SAITŌ, Y. The principle of limiting absorption for the nonselfadjoint Schrödinger operator in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  ( $N \neq 2$ ). Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 9 (1973/74), 397–428. 4, 52
- [167] SAITŌ, Y. The principle of limiting absorption for the non-selfadjoint Schrödinger operator in R<sup>2</sup>. Osaka J. Math. 11 (1974), 295–306. 4, 52
- [168] SAITŌ, Y. Spectral representations for Schödinger operators with long-range potentials. Springer, Berlin, 1979, pp. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 727. 55
- [169] SCHAEFFER, J. The equation  $u_{tt} \Delta u = |u|^p$  for the critical value of p. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 101, 1-2 (1985), 31–44.
- [170] SCHECHTER, M. Spectra of partial differential operators. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1971. North-Holland Series in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics, Vol. 14. 54
- [171] SEEGER, A., SOGGE, C. D., AND STEIN, E. M. Regularity properties of Fourier integral operators. Ann. of Math. (2) 134, 2 (1991), 231–251.
- [172] SEGAL, I. Non-linear semi-groups. Ann. of Math. (2) 78 (1963), 339-364.
- [173] SEGAL, I. Space-time decay for solutions of wave equations. Advances in Math. 22, 3 (1976), 305-311. 108
- [174] SHATAH, J., AND STRUWE, M. Geometric wave equations, vol. 2 of Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics. New York University Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York, 1998. 2, 4
- [175] SIDERIS, T. C. Nonexistence of global solutions to semilinear wave equations in high dimensions. J. Differential Equations 52, 3 (1984), 378–406.
- [176] SIMON, B. The bound states of weakly coupled schrödinger operators in one and two dimensions. Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 97 (1976), 279–288. 125

- [177] SMITH, H. F. Wave equations with low regularity coefficients. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. II (Berlin, 1998) (1998), pp. 723–730 (electronic).
- [178] SMITH, H. F., AND SOGGE, C. D. Global Strichartz estimates for nontrapping perturbations of the Laplacian. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 25, 11-12 (2000), 2171–2183.
- [179] SMITS, L. A remark on smoothing of magnetic schrodinger semigroups. Comm. Math. Phys. 123, 3 (1989), 527–528.
   78
- [180] SOBOLEV, S. L. On a theorem of functional analysis. Mat. Sb., N. Ser. 4 (46) (Russian), pp. 471–497, 1938; Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. (2) 34 (1963), 39–68. 38
- [181] SOGGE, C. D. Lectures on nonlinear wave equations. Monographs in Analysis, II. International Press, Boston, MA, 1995. 109
- [182] STAFFILANI, G., AND TATARU, D. Strichartz estimates for a schrödinger operator with nonsmooth coefficients. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 27, 7-8 (2002), 1337–1372.
- [183] STEFANOV, A. Strichartz estimates for the magnetic schrödinger equation. Preprint 2004. 78
- [184] STEFANOV, A. Strichartz estimates for the schrodinger equation with radial data. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 129, 5 (2001), 1395–1401.
- [185] STEIN, E. M. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970. 38, 40, 46, 85
- [186] STEIN, E. M. Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals, vol. 43 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993. With the assistance of Timothy S. Murphy, Monographs in Harmonic Analysis, III. 86, 109, 123
- [187] STERBENZ, J. Angular regularity and Strichartz estimates for the wave equation. Preprint, available at http://xxx.lanl.gov/format/math.AP/0402192.
- [188] STRAUSS, W. A. Nonlinear scattering theory at low energy. J. Funct. Anal. 41, 1 (1981), 110-133.
- [189] STRAUSS, W. A. Nonlinear scattering theory at low energy: sequel. J. Funct. Anal. 43, 3 (1981), 281–293.
- [190] STRAUSS, W. A. Nonlinear wave equations, vol. 73 of CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics. Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC, 1989.
- [191] STRAUSS, W. A., AND TSUTAYA, K. Existence and blow up of small amplitude nonlinear waves with a negative potential. *Discrete Contin. Dynam. Systems* 3, 2 (1997), 175–188.
- [192] STRICHARTZ, R. S. Convolutions with kernels having singularities on a sphere. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 148 (1970), 461–471. 5
- [193] STRICHARTZ, R. S. A priori estimates for the wave equation and some applications. J. Functional Analysis 5 (1970), 218–235. 4, 5
- [194] STRICHARTZ, R. S. Restrictions of Fourier transforms to quadratic surfaces and decay of solutions of wave equations. Duke Math. J. 44, 3 (1977), 705–714. 5, 108
- [195] STRICHARTZ, R. S. Asymptotic behavior of waves. J. Funct. Anal. 40, 3 (1981), 341-357. 4
- [196] STRUWE, M. Globally regular solutions to the u<sup>5</sup> Klein-Gordon equation. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 15, 3 (1988), 495–513 (1989).
- [197] TAMURA, H. On the decay of the local energy for wave equations with a moving obstacle. Nagoya Math. J. 71 (1978), 125–147.
- [198] TAMURA, H. The principle of limiting absorption and decay of local energy for the linearized equation of magnetogasdynamics. Nagoya Math. J. 89 (1983), 13-45. 4
- [199] TAO, T. Low regularity semi-linear wave equations. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 24, 3-4 (1999), 599-629. 5
- [200] TARULLI, M. Smoothing estimates for scalar field with electromagnetic perturbation. *EJDE*, 146 (2004(2004)), 1–14.
   6, 59, 78
- [201] TAYLOR, M. E. Pseudodifferential operators, vol. 34 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1981.
- [202] TRÈVES, F. Introduction to pseudodifferential and Fourier integral operators. Vol. 1. Plenum Press, New York, 1980. Pseudodifferential operators, The University Series in Mathematics.
- [203] TRÈVES, F. Introduction to pseudodifferential and Fourier integral operators. Vol. 2. Plenum Press, New York, 1980. Fourier integral operators, The University Series in Mathematics.

- [204] TRIEBEL, H. Interpolation theory, functional spaces, differential operators. VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften. 37
- [205] TSUTAYA, K. Global existence and the life span of solutions of semilinear wave equations with data of noncompact support in three space dimensions. *Funkcial. Ekvac.* 37, 1 (1994), 1–18.
- [206] TSUTSUMI, Y. Local energy decay of solutions to the free Schrödinger equation in exterior domains. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math. 31, 1 (1984), 97–108.
- [207] VEGA, L. Small perturbation for the free schrödinger equation. Recent Advances in Partial Diff. Eq., Res. in App. Math. John Wiley and Sons 55 (1994), 115–130. 5, 60, 73
- [208] VISCIGLIA, N. About the Strichartz estimate and the dispersive estimate. C. R. Acad. Bulgare Sci. 55, 5 (2002), 9–14.
- [209] VISCIGLIA, N. Dispersive estimate for the wave equation with short-range potential. Rend. Istit. Mat. Univ. Trieste 35, 1-2 (2003), 117–145 (2004).
- [210] VISCIGLIA, N. Existence globale pour une classe d'équations d'ondes perturbées. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 338, 1 (2004), 27–30.
- [211] VISCIGLIA, N. Semilinear wave equation with time dependent potential. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 27, 18 (2004), 2153-2170.
- [212] VODEV, G. On the distribution of scattering poles for perturbation of the laplacians. Annales de l'institut Fourier 42, 3 (1992), 625–635. 70
- [213] VODEV, G. On the uniform decay of the local energy. Serdica Math. J. 25, 3 (1999), 191-206.
- [214] VODEV, G. Local energy decay of solutions to the wave equation for nontrapping metrics. In Seminaire: Équations aux Dérivées Partielles, 2002–2003, Sémin. Équ. Dériv. Partielles. École Polytech., Palaiseau, 2003, pp. Exp. No. XIV, 6.
- [215] VODEV, G. Local energy decay of solutions to the wave equation for nontrapping metrics. Mat. Contemp. 26 (2004), 129–133.
- [216] VODEV, G. Local energy decay of solutions to the wave equation for nontrapping metrics. Ark. Mat. 42, 2 (2004), 379–397.
- [217] VODEV, G. Local energy decay of solutions to the wave equation for short-range potentials. Asymptot. Anal. 37, 2 (2004), 175-187.
- [218] VON WAHL, W. L<sup>p</sup>-decay rates for homogeneous wave-equations. Math. Z. 120 (1971), 93–106.
- [219] WECK, N., AND WITSCH, K. J. Complete low frequency analysis for the reduced wave equation with variable coefficients in three dimensions. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 17, 9-10 (1992), 1619–1663.
- [220] WECK, N., AND WITSCH, K. J. Erratum: "Complete low frequency analysis for the reduced wave equation with variable coefficients in three dimensions". Comm. Partial Differential Equations 18, 3-4 (1993), 729.
- [221] WEIDMANN, J. Linear operators in Hilbert spaces, vol. 68 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980. Translated from the German by Joseph Szücs. 19, 29, 35, 70
- [222] YAJIMA, K. Existence of solutions for Schrödinger evolution equations. Comm. Math. Phys. 110, 3 (1987), 415-426.
- [223] ZAPPACOSTA, S. Behavior and properties of nonlinear systems of wave equations and related algorithms, In Proceedings of the 29th International Summer School "Application of Mathematics in Engineering and Economics", Sozopol, Bulgaria (June 9 - 14, 2003) (Sofia, 2004), Heron Press.
- [224] ZAPPACOSTA, S. Resolvent estimates and applications to wave equations with potential. Asymptot. Anal. 38, 3-4 (2004), 221-239.
- [225] ZEIDLER, E. Applied Functional Analysis, vol. 108 of Applied Math.Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. 9, 14, 18
- [226] ZHONG, J. The  $L^p$ - $L^q$  estimates for the wave equation with a nonnegative potential. Comm. Partial Differential Equations 20, 1-2 (1995), 315–334.
- [227] ZHOU, Y. Cauchy problem for semilinear wave equations in four space dimensions with small initial data. J. Partial Differential Equations 8, 2 (1995), 135–144.